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Adverse Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Banque Bemo S.AL. (the “Bank™) and ifs
subsidiaries {the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated income statement, consotidated statement of comprehensive income,
consclidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a material accounting policy

information.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matters discussed in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion”
section of our repert, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly the
consclidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Adverse Opinion
- As disclosed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not apply the

requirements of [AS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“[AS 297} in the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, nor did the Group
consider its effects on forecasts and discount rates used in accounting estimates (noting that the
Lebanese Pound was defined as hyperinflaticnary from 2020 to 2024 respectively). Had the Group
applied the requirements of JAS 29, many elements and disclosures in the accompanying consclidated
financial statements, including the comparative financial information for the vear ended 3! December
2023, would have been materially different. The effects on the consolidated financial statements arising
from this departure have not beeu determined. Our opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
also modified for the same reasons.

2-  As disclosed in Nete 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had used the official published
exchange rates for the translation of its monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
and all transactions in foreign currencies during 2021, 2022 and 2023, instead of using the rates at which
the future cash flows could have been settled/coliected as required by IAS 21 — The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, when several exchange rates are available. This caused us to qualify our opinion
an the consclidated financial statements relating to those years, as other exchange rates through legal
exchange mechanisms were available, depending on the source and nature of the transaction or balance, and
which should have been used by the Group to comply with the requirements of 1AS 21. As disclosed in
MNote 1 to the consolidated financial statements, from January 2024, the official published exchange rate
was set at LL 89,500 to the US Dollar which converged with the rates of the legal exchange mechanism for
the exchange of foreign currencies not subject to de-facto capital controls throughout the period and up to
date. With respect to foreign currencies subject to de-facto capital controls, we were unable to conclude
whether this exchange rate is that at which the future cash flows could have been settled/collected if those
cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. [n addition, the Group recorded the impact of the change
n exchange rates used, under “Net gain on foreign exchange” in the income statement for the year ended 31
December 2024, amounting to LBP [,320 billion (note 31). Had we been able to conclude on the
appropriate exchange rate to be used on foreign currencies subject to de-facto capital controls, matters
might have come to our attention indicating that adjustments might be necessary to the financial statements.
Also, had the Group been able to apply the requirements of [AS 21 and use the raie at which the future cash
flows could have been settled/collected during 2021, 2022 and 2023, many accounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, including comparative financial information, would have been materially
different. The effects on the consolidated financial statements from the departure of 1AS 21 have not been

determined.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued)
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

Basis for Adverse OQpinion (continued)

3-

Cash and deposits with central banks which are carried in the consclidated statement of financial
position, net of expected credit losses, at LBP.133,114 billion (2023: LBP.22,213 billion), include
balances held with Central Bank of Lebanon of LBP.132,309 (2023: LBP.21,994).

Deposits with banks and financial institutions which are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position, net of expected credit losses, at LBP.4,014 billion (2023; LBP.706 billion) include
deposits with local banks amounting to LBP.161 billion (2023: LBP.124 billion).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at LBP.440 billion (2023: LBP.82 billion) include Lebanese treasury bills, Lebanese
government debt securities and shares and corporate bonds concentrated in Lebanon amounting to
LBP.214 million, LBP.1,221 miliion, LBP.439 billion respectively (2023: LBP.235 million, LBP.96
million, LBP.80 Wllion).

Investment securities, which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position, net of
expected credit losses, at LBP. 12,630 billion (2023: LBP.2,987 billion) include investment securities
at amortized cost amounting to LBP.12,069 billion (2023: LBP.2,774 billion) and financial assets al
fair value through other comprehensive income amounting to LBP.561 billion (2023: LBP.213
billion). Investment securities at amortized cost amounting to LBP.12,069 billion (2023: LBP.2,774
billion), include Lebanese government debt securities and certificates of deposit issued by tie Central
Bank of Lebanon amounting tc LBP.1,806 billion and LBP.10,162 billion respectively (2023:
LBP.470 billion and LBP.2,277 billion respectively). Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income amounting to LBP.561 billion (2023: LBP.213 billicn) include equity
securities amaunting to LBP.472 billion domiciled in Lebanon (2023: LBP.80 billion).

As disclosed in Note 1. the consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments required by
[FRS 9 — Financial Instruments to the carrying amounts of the above assets and to many related
accounts and disclosures that would result from reseclution of the uncertainties described in Note 1.

Furthermore, the Group is engaging in several transactions involving medification of centractual cash
flows, renegotiations, exchanges and extinguishinent of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
Group is not applying the requirements of [FRS 9 and assessing whether these transactions should be
accounted for as modifications resulting in derecoguition or no derecognition, nor is the Group
calculating and accounting for the impact of such modifications, which constitutes a departure from
the requirements of IFRS 9. The effects of this departure on the carrying amount of these financial
instruments and related income statement accounts have not been determined.

Also, as disclosed in Note 42, management did not produce the information about the fair value of
these assets and other financial instruments concentrated in Lebapon and these consolidated financial
statements consequently do not include the fair value disclosures required by IFRS 13 — Fair Value

Measurement.

Had such adjustments and disclosures been determined and made, many elements and related
disclosures in the accompanying conseolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 would have been materially different. The effects of the resoluticn of
these uncertainties on the consclidated financial statements and disclosures have not been determined.

Qur opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was also modified for the same reasons as
explained above.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued)
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

Basis for Adverse Opinion {continued)

4-  Loeans and advances to customers and related parties which are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial pesition at LBP.3,026 billion (2023: LBP.871 billion) represent loans and advances where
the credit risk is predominantly concentrated in Lebanon and is affected as a result of the monetary and
econemic crisis that the country 1s facing since the last quarter of 2019. Loans and advances have not
been stated net of an allowance for expected credit losses which takes into account the full impact of
the economic crisis and all circumstances and available information at the reporting date, which
constitutes a departure from IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the [nternational Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). Our opinion for the vear ended 31 December 2023 was also modified in
respect of this matter.

5-  Asdisclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not apply the requirements
of IAS 16 — Property, plant and equipment ("1AS 167) in the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, nor did the Group consider its effects on forecasis and
discount rates used in accounting estimates. Had the Group applied the requirements of [AS 16, many
elements and disclosures in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including the
comparative financial information for the vear ended 31 December 2023, would have been materially
different. The effects on the censolidated financial statements arising from this departure have net been
determined when applying by management law 330 which was enacted on 4 December 2024 and its
application decisions which were issued by the Ministry of Finance in Lebanon on 12 March 2025 and
decision No.715/1 dated 01 August 2025 regarding banks in Lebanon.

6- The events and conditions and practices that would not qualify as normal course of business 1n a non-
crisis environment described in Note 1 and the matters described in the paragraphs 1. 2 and 4 above
affect the financial position, liquidity, solvency and profitability of the Group, and expose the Group to
increased litigation and regulatory risks. Significant uncertainty exists in relation to the outcome of the
litigations, claims and investigations raised against the Group and the negative impact that they may
have on the Group’s offshore liquidity, foreign assets and foreign currency exposure as disclosed in
Notes 1, 46A and 49. These events and conditions may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Qur opinion for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
maodified for same reasons.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors " Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our repert. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Jnrernational Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Internationcl
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to cur
audit of the consclidated f{inancial statements in Lebanon, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the [ESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment. were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2(24. Except for the matters
described in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion™ section of our report, we have determined that there are no
other key audit matters to communicate in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued)
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of censolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting uniess management either intends to Jiquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issug an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with [SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisicns of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with [SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepiicism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion. The risi
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting trom
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal ceontrol relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

¢ Evaiuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
[f we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in cur auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consclidated firancial statements or, 1f such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify cur opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors™ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overail presentation, structure and content of the consclidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial staterments represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audiz opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued)
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with govermnance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identity during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, acticns taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors” report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

-

{ |
D’g-l{\‘:;fldn Gholam é Z

25 September 2025 'l.
Beirut, Lebanon



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 3| December 2024

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or {oss
Loans and advances to customers and related parties
Investments securities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-FINANCIAL POSITION
RISK:

Guarantees and standby letters of credit

Forward exchange contracts

FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS AND ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

LIABILITIES

Depaosits and borrowings {rom banks and financial institutions
Customers and related parties accounts at amortized cost
Other term borrowings

Lease liabulity

Other lizbilities

Provisions

Subordinated bonds

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT

Share capital

Treasury shares

Preferred shares

Sharehaolders’ cash contribution fo capital

Reserves

Accumulated Losses

Revaluation reserve

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation reserve

(L.oss) profit for the year

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

{*) Restated for the effects of the matters disclesed in note 52

The attached notes | to 52 form part of these financial statements.

Notes

Ry

N2 OGT O L

11

13
14

37

38

15
16
17

18
19

20

21
21
22
23
24

24

25

Restated *

2024 2023

LBPOOO LBPOGH
133,113,725,239 22.213.150.847
4,013,853,927 706.144 462
440,483,967 81.801.435
3,025,632,518 870,643.691
12,630,072,187 2.987.490.266
30,349,450 2.585.121
2,970,942 ,836 1,713,371.330
885,362 1,369,021
15,059,431 702,704
370,061,698 104,163,441
156,61 1,066,615 28,681.424.318
655,608,837 155.228.973
2,068,326,809 436.309.176
4,156,735,040 63.881,298
30,910,813,156 5,114.893.5373
115,080,509,141 20.355,899 879
237,951,641 120.105.912
11,607,391 4.239.030
2,303,786,657 222,441 341
1,378,693,089 260.341.277

149,923,361,075

26.077,921.212

3,132,500,000

543.526,178

153,055,861,075

26.621.447,390

77,810,000 77.810,000
(2,857,660) (2.857.660}
52,641,854 52.641,854
70,267,271 70.267.271
88,354,387 57.837.568
(43,716,418) (76.262.502)
2,985,587,486 1.644.850,143
531,893,948 186.847.161
(4,692,020) 58,732
(227,391,382) 4,448,274
3,527,897,466 2.045.640.841
27,308,074 14.336.087

3,555,205,540

2.059.976.928

156,611,066,615

28.681.424318

6



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Interest income
Tax on interest

Interest income (net of tax)
[nterest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Net interest and other gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or {oss

Profit on exchange (net)

Other operating income (net}

Total operating income

Provision for expected credit losses. (net)

Net operating income

Staff costs

Adrministrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Other income {net)

(Loss) profit before income tax
Income lax expense

(Loss) profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

[tems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of investment securities
Revaluation, (net)

Net other comprehensive income — Profit

Total comprehensive income — Profit

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The attached notes 1 to 52 form part of these financial statemenis.

Notes
26
26

27

28
29

30
31
32

33

4
35
12-13

36

25
24

2024
LBP0OO
746,514,801
(36,881,702)

705,633,099
(755,968,249)

(46,335,150}
767,540,327
(26,237,515)

741,302,812

21,676,938
1,200,255,908
172,734,246

2,089,634,754

(1,560,333,893)
529,300,861
(403,545,136)
{444,517,250)
(61,503,004}
(8,416,379)
284,051,129
(633,930,730)
(104,629,869)
(153,489,759

{(258,119,628)

345,046,787
1,340,737,343

2023
LBPOOO
325,964,386
(9.835.046)

316.129.340
(220.946.204)

95,183,136
264.441.163
(10,587.871)

253,853,292

21,633.366
384,461,785
41.790.672

796.922.251

(433.403.049)
363.519.202
(201.997.851)
(90.629.813)
(2.445.569)
(1,917.891)
1,202,871
(295.788.253)
67,730.949
(61.646.919)

6,084,030

187,133,478
1,627,936,07%

1,685,784,130

1,427,664,502

1.815,069.557

1,821.153.587

1,257,705,998
169,958,504

1.331.317.266
489,630.321

1,427,664,502

1.821.153,587




BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Far the year ended 31 December 2024

Total
Sharehotders’ Change in fuir Foreign attribuiable
cash Legal value af cRIrency (Loss) ta the equity MNon-
Share  Treasury  Preferred  contribution and other  Accunuiloted  Revaluation  invesiment  translotion profit for holders of  controlling
Capited shures shares to capital raserve losses reserve securities reserve the year the Bank interests Total
LBPOGH LBPGOG LBPOOO LBPGOQ LBPGGO LBPOGO LBPGOG LBPGOG LBPOOG LBPOOD LBPOGY LBPGOY LBPOOG
Balance at | January 2024 77,810,000 (2,857,660 52,641,854 70267271 87,837,568  (76,262,502) 1,644,850,143 186,847,161 58,732 4,448,274 2,045,040,841 14,336,087  2,059.976,928
Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - (227.391,382)  (227,391.382) (30,728.246)  (258.109,628)
Other comprehensive sncome - - - - - - - 345,046,787 - - 345,046,787 - 345,046,787

Total comprehensive income - - - - - - 345,046,787
Treasury shares (hote 213 - -

- (227391,382) 117,655,405 (30,728,240) 86,927,159
Transter to retained eamnings - -

- - - 4,448,274 - - - (4,448374) - - -
Apprepriation of 2023 results - - - - 816,819 - - - - - 516,819 - 516,819
Other movements - - - 28,097.810 - - (4,750,752) - 23,347,058 43,700,233 67,047,291
Application of Law 330 (Net) {note 24)
- - . - - - 1,34(4737,343 - - «1,340,737,343 - 1,340,737,343
Balance at 31 December 2024 77,810,000 (2.857,660) 52,641.854 70,267,271 88,354,387  (43,716.418) 2,985,587.486 531,893,948  (4,692,020) (227,391,382) 3,527.897466 27308074  3,555,205.540
Balance at | January 2023 71810000 (3,570,832) 32,641.854 70267271 87701209 5,284,501 16,914,064 (286,317} - (80.,844,545) 219,917,205 4390492 224 .3067.697
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 4,448 274 4448274 1,635,756 5.084.030
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - 187,133,478 - - 187,133,478 - 187.133,478
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - - 187133478 - 4,448.274 191,381,752 1.635,756 193217 308
Disposal in treasury shares {(note 21) - 713,172 - - - - - - - - 713,172 - 713.172
Transfer to retained eamings - - - - - (86,844 543) - - - 86,844 345 - - -
Appropriation of 2021 resulis - - - - 136,359 (880,677) - - - - (744.318) - {744 318}
Other movements - - - - - 6,178,219 - - 58,732 - 6,236,951 8,309,839 14,546,790
Application of Law 330 (Restatenent) {note 24) - - - - - - 1.627.930.079 - - - 1.627,936,079 - 1,627.936.079

Balance at 31 December 2023 77810000 (2,857,660) 320641834 702677271 87837568 (76202.502) 1.044.850.143  186.847,161 58,732 4448274  2,045,640.841 14,336,087  2.059.976.928

Reserves: Allocation to reserves from the result of year 2021, is booked in year 2023,

The attached notes | to 52 form part of these financial statements.




BANQUE BEMO S.A L.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation right of use, {net)
Interest expense — Finance lease Hability
Provisicns for contingencies
Write back of provision for contingencies
Write brack of foreign currency position
Provision for expected credit losses. (net)
Non-controlling interests
Provision for employees” end-of- service indemnities
Assets disposed of in satisfaction of loans
Unrealized gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Gain from sale of property, Plant and equipment
Increased value by expert compared Lo cost of assets acquired
in satisfaction of loans
Loss from sale of assets acquired In satisfaction of loans
Increase in deposits with central banks, banks and financial instriutions
{ncrease in trading assets at fair value through profit or loss
Decrease in loans and advances to customers and related parties
Increase in other assets
[ncrease/ decrease in non-interest earning compulsory reserve
[ncrease in due to banks and financial institutions
(Decrease)/ increase in other borrowings
{Decrease) increase in customers’ and related parties’ deposits at amortised cost
Increase in other liabilities
Foreign currency translation movement, (Net)
Settlement of employees’ end-ot-services indemnity
Taxes paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Net cash from investing activities

Investment securities

Acquisition of property. plant and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of agsets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Acquisition of intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Sale of treasury shares (net)

Settlement of lease liability

Subordinated bonds

Net cash generated from (used in} financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year

The attached notes I to 52 form part of these financial statements.

2024 2623

Notes LBPOOG LBPOOG
(104,629,869} 67,730,949
61,503,094 2,443.569
8,503,042 441,422
1,311,550 395,664
372,500 -

- (9060.000)

(231,654) -
1,560,333,893 433.403.049
{30,728,246) 1,635,755
37,868,045 32968231
373,662,500 -
(20,333,587) {21.660,723)
(1,012,800) (22.495)
(252,135,820} -
119,479,736 -
(24,119,931,502)  (7.691.382,526)
(338,348,945) (54.063,215)
1,084,009,190 1,171.633.992
(269,754,803) (80.712,1106)
(21,498,068) 18.983.920
25,795,919,583 4.632.625.328
(158,192,555) 47,177,936
(5,312,573,728) 17.768.798.066
2,094,979,246 176,435,912
132,556,457,172 1.736.114 484
{4,085,758) (1.033,363)
(13,634,130) (357.914)
133,047308,086  18.260.635.923

(27,360,863,286)

(5.103.341,851}

(142,599,798} (5.401,291)
17,900,000 -
254,182,764 )
(16,257,577) (454.925)
(27,247,637,897)  (5.109.198.067)

(12,631,732)
18,526,178

713,172
{2.035.933)

5,894,446

(1.322,781)

105,805,564,635
15,259,105,15%

13,150.115,075
2,108,990.084

40 121,064,669,794

15,259.105,159

9



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Banque Bemo SAL (the “Bank™) is a Lebanese joint-stock company listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and
registered in the Commercial Registry under number 17837 and on the list of banks published by the Central
Bank of Lebanon under number 93. The Bank’s headquarters are located in Beirut,

Banque Bemo S.A.L. is owned by Sharikat Al [stismarat Al Oropia Lil Shareq Al Aousat (Holding) SAL to the
extent of 61.06%.

The Bank, together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), provides a wide range of commercial,
corporate and private banking activities, through its headquarters and branches in Lebanoen and its presence in

Europe and Middle East.

The Bank’s Board of Directors resolved i their meeting held on 28 February 2022 the cessation of activities of
Limassol — Cyprus branch and to close it permanently pursuant to the decision of the Central Council of the
Central Bank of Lebanon number 172 m.m/3 dated 11 March 2022. Cyprus branch became a separate entity as
at 31/12/2022 and is fully owned by Banque Bemo SAL.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on 25 September 2025 by the Board of
Directors.

The consolidated subsidiaries consist of the following as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Country of
Ohwnership incorporation Business activity
2024 2023
Bemo Securitization S.A.L. 39.57% 39,57% Lebanon Securitization & Structured Finance
Depasitory & Custody Company S.A.L. 51.62% 31.62% Lebanon Depository and Custody of securities
Bemo Investment Firm S.A L. 39.57% 39.57% Dubag Inx estment
Bemo Cyprus 100.60% 100.00% Cyprus Corporate

1.1, Macroeconomic Environment

The Group’s operations are mostly in Lebanon that has been witnessing, since 17 October 2019, severe events
that have set off an interconnected fiscal, monetary and economic crisis, as well as deep recession that have
reached unprecedented levels. Sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all major
rating agencies and reached the level of default when, on 7 March 2020, the Lebanese Republic announced that
it will withhold payment on the bonds due on 9 March 2020, which was followed by another announcement on
23 March 2020 for the discontinuation of payments on all of its US Dollar-denominated Eurobonds.

Throughout this sequence of events, the ability of the Lebanese government and the banking sector in Lebanon
to borrow funds from international markets was significantly affected. Banks have imposed de-facto capital
controls, restricted transfers of foreign currencies outside Lebancn, significantly reduced credit lines to
companies and withdrawals of cash to private depositors, all of which added to the disruption of the country’s
economic activity, as the economic model of Lebanon relies mainly on imports and consumption. Businesses
downsized, cloesed or bankrupted, and unemployment and poverty rose fast and have reached unprecedented
levets.

The difficulty in accessing foreign cwrencies ted to the emergence of a parallel market to the peg whereby the
price to access foreign currencies increased constantly, deviating significantly from the peg of LBP 1,507.5 to
the US Dollar. This has resulted in an uncoctrolled rise in prices and the incessant de facto depreciation of the
Lebapese Pound, impacting intensely the purchasing power of Lebanese citizens, driving a currency crisis, high
inflation and rise in the consumer price index. In February 2023, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the
official published exchange rate from LBP 1,507.5 to LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar. In January 2024, the Central
Bank of Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LBP 15,000 to LBP 89,500 to the US

Doilar.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.1 Macroeconomic Environment (continued)

As a result of the de-facto capital controls, the multitude of exchange rates, the hyperinflation, and the potential
repercussions of government reform measures on (1) the banks operating in Lebanon, and (ii} the Lebanese
people’s net worth, their lecal businesses and their local bank accounts, the Lebanese market saw the need to
differentiate between onshore assets and offshore assets, foreign currency bank accounts that are subject to de-
facto capital controls and those that are not subject to capital controls, onshore liabilities and offshore liabilities.
Hence the new terms in the Lebanese market, such as “local Dollars” to designate local US Daollars bank
accounts that are subject to de-facto capital controls, and “fresh funds/accounts™ to designate foreign currency
cash and foreign currency bank accounts which are free from capital controls (as they are sourced from foreign
currency cash and/or from incoming transfers from abroad).

Lebanese Government's Financial Recovery Plan
A financial recovery plan was ratified by the Cabinet on 20 May 2022. The document was passed by the Cabinet

in 1ts final session hours before losing decision-making powers, following the election of @ new parliament on
15 May 2022.

Lebanon's government foresees cancelling "a large part” of the Central Bank’s foreign currency obligations to
commercial banks and dissolving non-viable banks by November, according to the Plan.

The latter includes several measures that are prerequisites to unlock funds from a preliminary deal with the
[nternational Monetary Fund agreed in April, that could help pull the country out of a three-year financial

meltdown.

The endorsed plan foresees a full audit of the Central Bank's forex financial standing by July 2024. Then, the
government "will cancel, at the cutset, a large part of the Central Bank's foreign currency obiigations to banks in
order to reduce the deficit in BdL's capital,” the document said. The largest !4 commercial banks, representing
§3% of total assets, would also be audited. Viable banks would be recapitalised with “sigmificant contributions”

from banks’ shareholders and large depaositors,

The plan made no mention of a sovereign fund to manage state-owned assets but pledges to limit recourse 0
public assets, which had been a demand of Lebanon's commercial banks. The plan said it would protect small
depositors "to the maximum extent possible" in each viable bank but did not lay out a minimum amount to be
protected — unlike draft plans. Non-viable banks, however, would be dissclved by the end of November 2022, it
added. As of today, laws for the reinstatement of financial stability, for the resolution of banks and for capital
controls are yet to be issued. The timeline for their issuance is affected by the presidential vacuum {up until
January 2025) and political deadlock facing Lebanon. It also said the government would unify the officiat
exchange rate, ending a system in which the government offered various exchange rates for different operations.

International Monetary Fund (IMF)

The Lebanese authorities and the IMF team have reached a staff-level agreement (SLA} on comprehensive
economic policies that could be supported by a 46-month Extended Fund Armrangement (EFF) with requested
access of SDR 2,173.9 million {equivalent to about USD 3 billion). This agreement is subject to approval by
IMF Management and the Executive Board, after the timely implementation of all prior actions and
confimmation of international partners’ financial support.

Armed conflict

From end of September 2024, Lebancn was subjected to armed attacks, which have escalated, resulting in a
significant number of displaced and massive destruction to local establishments and infrastructure. The armed
conflict, and its spillovers, have added strain to Lebanon's crisis-ridden economy and have had negative knock-
on effects on the ability to conduct business in the country, and the income and revenues of the private and
public sector, and individuals. A temperary ceasefire for 60 days was announced on 27 November 2024,
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31 December 2024

I CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.1. Macroeconomic Environment (continued)

Recent Political Developments

The recent politicai developments (Ceasefire agreement, fall of Syrian regime, presidential elections, PM
designation, Cabinet announcement, etc) opened the country to new horizons that could be highly promising,
of course if the opportunity is appropriately grasped on behalf of Lebanese decisions malkers. This month saw
the formation of a cabinet of qualified experts, with a number of promising figures in the announced lineup.

Forefgn engagement

There has been a tremendous flow of high-level foreign personalities visiting Lebanon over the past three
weeks. Lebanon is on the verge of getting international aid and assistance from the US, Europe and Arab GCC
countries. Foreign and Arab investors are relocating Lebanon on their radars and a number of them have
afready announced their readiness to invest in the country.

Market reaction
Such a political breakthrough has already translated inte rallying financial markets, Massive conversions from

foreign currencies to Lebanese Pounds took place on the FX market, leading to the BDL reinforcing its FX
reserves by USS 300 miilion cver the past month and to aimost repletush so far all the reserves it lost during the
All-out war to reach US$ 10.4 billion at end-January 2025. Lebanese are demanding Lebanese Pounds either to
take advantage of the relatively high rates of interest on LI deposits or to potentially make gains on an eventual
currency appreciation. There has been a 200% surge in the Lebanese Eurobond prices over the past four months,
from 6 cents on September 27% 2024 to 9 cents on November 27" 2024 (Ceasefire date) and to 18 cents on
February 28th 2025. The flurry in bond prices came amid bets that recent domestic political breakthroughs
would pave the way for the implementation of long-overdue reforms, signing a final deal with the IMF, debt
restructuring and constructive negotiations with bondholders. A 30% surge in the Lebanese equity market price
index was recorded since the ceasefire; Turmovers yet remain tiny, with an average market trading value of US$
2.3 million per day over the past two months.

The persisting economic crisis in Lebanon, the unavailability of financing, the umposition of de-facto capital
controls together with current instability and the effects of the subsequent to pericd end armed conflict,
negatively affect the Bank’s financial performance and financial position. Material uncertainties relating to these
matters persist, which may adversely impact the Group’s financial performance in future periods. The Group is
closely monitoring the development of these matters in order to address the risks 1t is facing on a timely basis.
Based on the current facts and circumstances, Management is satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue in business for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on

the going concern basis.

Budget Law 2024

Lebanon's parliament passed, on the 26 January 2024, an amended budget for the year 2024. The budget,
amended over the course of months from a version that had been submitted to parliament by the Council of
Ministers, anticipated higher state revenues eamed through VAT and customs fees.

Budget Law 2023

The Council of Ministers ratified in September the budget proposal for 2025 and transferred it to Parliament for
approval. Government revenues were set at LBP 210.1 billion (USD 4,557 million) noting a year-on-year
increase of 33.0% against the vear prior. Govermment expenditures were set to increase by 38.7% in 2025
against figures from 2024 to reach LBP 427.7 billion (USD 4,752.2 million) in the former. In turn, the proposed
budget for 20235 notes a budgetary deficit of LBP 17,567 billion (USD 1952 million). In parallel, the
government’s primary surplus was set to decrease by 5.0% year-on-year reaching a forecasted LBP 13,968
billion (USD 155.2 million) in 2025, down from LBP 14,698 biilion (USD 181.5 million) in 2024,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1

1.2.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory Environment

During 2020 and up to the date of authorisation of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the Ceniral
Bank of Lebanon has issued several circulars to address the situations, mainly;

Basic Circular 150 issued on 9 April 2020 and exempting banks from placing mandatory reserves with the
Central Bank of Lebanon in relation to funds transferred from abroad or cash deposits in foreign cwrrency
recelved after 9 April 2020, subject to preserving and guaranteeing the liberty of the depositors in
determining the use of these funds and benefiting from ail kinds of banking services (transfers abroad,
international credit card limits, foreign currency cash withdrawals. . ),

Basic Circular 151 issued on 21 April 2020 and concerning depositors who wish to withdraw amounts of
cash from their foreign currencies accounts as per a specific rate up to limits set by the Bank. The
exchange rate specified by the Central Bank of Lebanon in its transactions with banks will remain
applicable to all other operations in US Dollar. At maturity as at 31 December 2023, the circular was not
renewed.

Intermediate Circular 552 issued on 22 April 2020 (amending Basic Circular 23} and requesting banks to
grant loans against the settlement of facilities and instalments due during the months of March, April, May
and June for clients who are not able to pay their dues due to the current economic situation, as assessed
by the Bank. The new loans are to be granted up to 5 years starting 30 June 2020 and on condition, among
others, that these are granted to repay the above months’ settlements or, if the client is an establishment or
corporation, to pay the staff or the production and operational fees, with no commissions or fees and zerp
interest rate. The Central Bank of Lebanon will grant the banks loans with zero interest rate against the

said loans.

Intermediate Circular 567 issued on 26 August 2020 (amending Basic Circular 23, 44 and 78), which
partly altered the directives for the determination of expected credit losses and regulatory capital
calculation and ratios, previously set in its Intermediate Circular 543 issued on 3 February 2020. Loss rate
applied for the calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign bonds
in foreign currencies was increased from 9.45% to 45%, (later on increased again to 75% by Intermediate
Circular 649), while loss rates applied for the calculation of regulatory expected credit losses on exposures
to Lebanese sovereign bonds in local currency, exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign
currencies and exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in local cwirency remained the same (0%, 1.89%

and 0% respectively).

~  Allowing banks to constitute the expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese sovereign and the
Central Bank of Lebanon, progressively over a period of five years, noting that the Central Bank of
Lebanon’s Central Council may accept to extend the term to 10 years for banks that manage to
complete the 20% cash contribution to capital requirement. Intermediate circuiar 649 issued on 24
November 2022 replaced the aforementioned five years and ten years deadline by the fixed dates of 31
December 2026 and 31 December 2029 respectively.

- Allowing banks not to automatically downgrade loan classification or staging for borrowers that were
negatively affected by the COVID-[9 pandemic, showing past due and unpaid for the period from |
February 2020 to 31 December 2020. These borrowers must be identified as either still operating on a
going concern basis or net. In case the borrower is still operating as a going concern, the Bank may
reschedule the loan. In exceptional cases when the borrower ceases to operate as a going concem
following the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank must immediately downgrade the ioan
classification and staging to Stage 3 (default).

- Requesting from barks to finalise the assessment of the future financial position of their customers by
31 December 2020, and to estimate expected credit losses based on this assessment and recognise the
financial impact in the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

- Prohibiting banks from distributing dividends on common shares for the years 20i9 and 2020 (Years
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were subsequently added by way of Intermediate Circulars 616, 639, 676
and 726 respectively).
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1.2.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory Environment {continued)

Requesting from banks to increase their own funds (equity) by an amount equal to 20% of their
common equity Tier 1 capital as of 31 December 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital
instruments that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital, except retained eamings and gain
from revaluation of fixed assets. The Central Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council may exceptionally
approve for a bank te complete 50% of the 20% required capital increase through the transfer of real
estate properties from the shareholders to the concerned bank. However, these real estate properties
must be liquidated in a period of 5 years following the operation.

Changing the treatrient of revaluation of fixed assets reserve for regulatory capital calculation, to
become aflowed for inclusion as Corarmon Equity Tier 1 (previcusly 50% of this reserve was allowed
for inclusion as Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation gain.
On 20 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 659 capped the inclusion of revaluation of fixed assets at
50% under certain conditions while allowing the use of the prevailing Sayrafa rate at the end of each
reporting period over 5 years. Besides, it widened the scope of revaluation to include participations
and long-term loans to affiliated banks and financial institutions. Intermediate Circular 685 issued on
28 December 2023 increased the contribution of this revaluation to Common Equity Tier | from 50%
to 75%.

Banks must comply with the minimum capital adequacy ratios and are forbidden from distributing
profits if these ratios drop below 7% for common equity Tier 1, 10% for Tier | and 12% for total
capital. Banks must maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of Commaon Equity
Tier 1. After allowing banks to draw down the buffer fully during 2020 and 2021, a partial drawn up
to 1.75% in 2022, latest regulatory changes introduced on 2 February 2024 via Intermediate Circular
689 allowed a full draw down of the 2.5% buffer during years 2023 and 2024. Central Bank of
Lebanon will issue future instructions for reconstitution of capital.

Preparing and presenting to the Central Bank of Lebanon a comprehensive plan for rectifying non-
compliances with regulatory capital requirements and other regulations imposed by the Central Banlk
of Lebanon, taking into consideration all required provisions by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon (BCCL), as well as other losses or provisions that the Bank expects to incur from all kinds of
exposures to risks, and specifying the period of time needed to address the non-compliances.
Exceptionally for the years 2020 and 2021, Allowances for Expected Credit Losses on Stage 1 and 2
exposures, excluding those relating to Lebanese sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebanon, may be
included under regulatory Commeon Equity Tier 1. This treatrmert will be amortised over a period of 3
years (2022-2024 by 25% yearly).

e Basic Circular 154 issued on 27 August 2020 and aiming mainly ai restoring the operations of banks in
Lebanon to their normal levels as at before October 2019, and rectifying any non-compliance with
regulatory ratios and banking regulations. The circular mainly intreduced the following measures:

Requesting banks to present a fair assessment of the value of their assets and iiabilities for the purpose
of putting in place the comprehensive plan referred to in Intermediate Circular 567 {refer to above), in
order to be able, within a period limited in time, to comply with the regulatory and banking
requirements, mainly those related to liquidity and solvency, and in order to restore the operations of
the Bank to their normal levels as at before QOctober 2019,

Requesting banks to incite each customer who has transferred abroad, between [ July 2017 and the
date of the circular, more than UUSD 500,000 or their equivalent in other foreiga currencies, to deposit
in a 5-year term “special account” an amount equal to 15% to 30% (depending on the type of
customer) of the transferred amount. Banks shall use this type of deposits to facilitate foreign
operations that stimulate the national economy. This is alse applicable for the banks® importing
customers, based on opened letters of credits during any of the years 2017, 2018 and 2019, equivalent
to 15% of the value of documentary credits.
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1

1.2.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory Environment (continued)

- Requesting from banks to maintain a current account with a foreign correspondent bank offshore, free
of any obligations (liquidity abroad). Such accounts shall be at no time less than 3% of the Bank’s
total foreign currency deposits as at 31 July 2020, by 28 February 2021. The requirement was later
amended through [ntermediate Circular 645 to consider foreign currency deposits as at 30 September
20022 as the basis for the computation instead of 31 July 2020, thus lowering hiquidity reguired levels
as customers’ deposits decreased over the period. The requirement was later amended through
intermediate circular 746, dated 21 November 2024, to consider foreign currencies deposits as at 31
July 2024 mnstead of 31 July 2020. Banks are granted a time limit ending 3 December 2025 to adjust
their situation accordingly.

- Requesting from banks, after taking consideration of their fair assessment of their financial position,
to present a plan during the first quarter of 2021, to address recapitalisation needs, if any, to the
Central Bank of Lebaron’s Central Council, for its approval. Banks shall take the necessary legal and
regulatory measures in order to facilitate the consensual possibility for their depositors to transfer their
deposits to shares or bonds. Bank shares will be exclusively listed in Beirut. Banks can pay interest on
the bonds that exceed current levels.

[ntermediate Circular 568 issued on 26 August 2020 (amending Basic Circular &1} and allowing the

payments of retail ioans denominated in US Dollar in Lebanese Pounds based on the official exchange rate

of LBP [,507.5 to the US Dollar subject to the following conditions:

- The client should be a Lebanese resident.

- The client should not have a bank account denomninated in US Doliar.

- The housing loans granted to the client should not exceed USD 800,000 while the aggregate amount
of retai! loans should not exceed USD 100,000 per client.

- On 20 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 656 revoked the aforementioned provision effective |

February 2023.

Intermediate Circular 575 issued on 5 November 2020 states that banks should book one third of the
capital gains arising from the revaluation of fixed assets held in settlement of debt under Tier 2 capital
based on the fellowing binding conditions:
- The Central Bank of Lebanon’s Central Council investigating and approving at the expense of the
concemed bank the validity of the revaluation process.
- Raising the capital before 31 December 2021, as follows:
¢ Add a maximum of cne third of the revatuation gains under Tier 2 capital.
* Increase Common Equity Tier 1 capital in cash by an amount at least equivalent to the
amount of the revaluation gains booked under Tier 2 capital.

Basic Circular 157 issued on 10 May 2021 and setting the framework of exceptional measures for foreign-
currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebancn must process customers’ FX operations (buy and
sell} related to their personal or commerciat needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”. Transactions with
customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LBP, as well as operations
from/to foreign currencies external accounts against LBP. Banks are required to properly document each
transaction and should not collect commission margins between buy and sell operations exceeding [%.

Basic Circular 158 issued on 8§ June 2021 and defining the mechanism for the gradual settlement of foreign
cwirency deposits up to an amount equivalent to USD 50,000. To benefit from the provisions of the said
circular, certain eligibility criteria must be met.
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1.2.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory Environment (continued)

Eligible funds will be transferred to a subaccount over which banking secrecy will be lifted vis-a-vis BdL
and BCC before being gradually withdrawn and remitted to the customer on a monthly basis. Customers’
monthly entitlements are (i} an amount of USD 400 in cash or equivalent (transfer abroad, credited to a
payment card with international usage, etc.) {amended later on to US$ 300 for all BDL 158-based
contracts signed with the customers after 1 July 2023 following the issuance of BDL intermediate circular
674 on 5 July 2023) and (ii) an amount in LBP equivalent to USD 400 and converted at a rate USD/LBP
12,000 (before amendment USD/LBP at 15,000 on 20 January 2023), noting that 50% of the amount will
be paid in cash and 50% will be credited to a payment card. The portion in LBP was later on removed with
the issuance of BDL Intermediate Circular 674. On 17 November 2023, BdL issued Intermediate Circujar
682 adding an eligibility criteria to benefit from Basic Circular 158; On & June 2024, Intermediate Circular
697 expanded the scope of beneficiaries to include minors. Besides, beneficianes of BDL Basic Circular
158 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular 166 as long they don’t benefit from both circulass
concurrently in the same “yearly cycle” (ist of July in any given year -30th of June in the following year).
Customers who have transferred their funds after the crisis to another local Bank can benefit from the
provisions of said circular if (i) transferred funds are retwrned o the originating bank, and if (13) the
customer hadn’t benefited from the circular neither from the originating Bank, nor the destination Bank,

The financing of the aforementioned process will be secured equally through (i) BdL reduction of
compulsory reserves requirements from 5% to 14% as per BdL Intermediate Circular 586 and (ui) the
Bank’s offshore liquidity. To that end, the Bank can use its foreign liquidity subject computed as per BdL
Basic Circular 134 requirements on the condition that it reconstitutes it by 31 December 2022, extended to
31 December 2023 by Intermediate Circular 626 issued on 21 June 2022,

Basic Circular 159 issued on 17 August 202)] preventing banks from processing foreign currency funds
received from customers whether in the form of cash or through offshore transfers at a value other than its
face value, with the exception of fransactions pertaining to the settlement of loans {(which was
subsequently removed by Intermediate Circular 671 issued on 20 June 2023). It also prevented banks {rom
purchasing foreign currencies at parallel rate with the exception of the purchase foreign currencies duly
recorded on the electronic platform and resulting from offshore meoming transfers with the purpose of (i)
enhancing liquidity, (i1) engaging in medium or long term investments, (iil) settling intemational
commitments. Finally, the circular prevented banks from purchasing bankers’ checks and other bank
accounts in foreign currencies, whether directly or indirectly.

Intermediate Circular 600 (amending Basic Circular 73) issued on 3 November 2021 requires banks to
record existing and future provisions for expected credit losses in the same currency as the related assets
and off-balance sheet exposures. Banks are also required to set in place necessary measures 10 manage
their FX position resulting from provisions recerded in foreign currencies.

Intermediate Circular 601 issued on § December 2021 is an amendment to the provisions of Basic Circular
151. The circular stipulates that the Platform Rate to be applied for withdrawal cash from foreign
currencies accounts is LBP 8,000 USDY/LBP up to a maximum limit of USD 3,000 per month. On 20
January 2023, Intermediate Circular 657 amended the rate to be 15,000 instead of §,000 while reducing the
limit from USD 3,000 per month to USD 1,600 per month. On 5 July 2023, Intermediate Circular 673
removed the maximum conversion amount of USD 1,600 per month per custorner. However, BDL
maintained its commitment to buy from the Bank a maximwm amount of USD 1,600 per month per
customer. At maturity as at 31 December 2023, the circular was not renewed.

Basic Circular 161 issued on 16 December 202[ whereby the Central Bank of Lebanon will be providing
banks with US Dollar up to the limits set for each bank, at the Sayrafa rate. In return, banks will provide the
total amount to their customers at the same Sayrafa rate against LBP at limits set by the bank.

[ntermediate Circuler 616 issued on 3 March 2022 prohibiting banks from distributing dividends to
ordinary shareholders from results of financial years 2019, 2020 and 2021 {years 2022 and 2023 were
added through Intermediate Circular 659 and 676 respectively).
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1.2,

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory Environment {continued)

Basic Circular 162 issued on 28 March 2022 requesting from banks to secure a level of liquidity sufficient to
allow public sector employees to withdraw their monthly salaries and other compensations without setting

any type of limits,

Basic Circular 163 issued on 27 May 2022 defining the framework for the monitoring of the accounts of
public officials, the performance of due diligence on their cperations and the reporting to the Special
Investigation Committee on the basis of founded suspicion.

Intermediate Circular 637 issued on 27 July 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 65 and 78) requires banks
selling real estate properties or participations acquired in accordance with the provisions of Article 153 or
154 of the CMC, only against fresh USD or its equivalent in LBP based on Sayrafa rate.

Basic Circular 164 issued on 12 October 2022 and requestig banks to report to the Banking Control
Commission on the cost of their monthly operating expenses that should be paid with fresh money, the
resources for settling these expenses and how to ensure those resources,

Intermediate Circular 648 issued on | November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 14 and 67) reduced by
50% the interest rates served on foreign currencies placements with BdL and on Certificates of Deposits
issued by BdL while continuing paying 50% of coupen payment in the instrument’s currency and 50% in
LBP at official rate (LBP 1,507.5 to the US Dollar until 31 January 2023 and LBF (5,000 to the US Dollar
afterwards). This circular was later amended on 2 February 2024 by Intermediate Circular 686 increasing the
interest rate reduction on foreign currencies placements with BdL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by
BdL from 50% to 75% while limiting the coupon payment to be in FCY only. The Intermediate Circular 701
issued on 27 June 2024 specified that interests paid in USD by BDL on the banks’ term deposits in US
dollars and on Certificates of deposits in US Dollars owned by banks will be placed in the non-“cash money”
current account opened at BDL for the concemed bank. Those provisions are applicable until 3| December

2024.

Intermediate Circular 649 issued on 24 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 44 and 143) introduced a
forbearance treatment in capital ratios computation by allowing the exclusion from Common Equity Tier [ of
a portion of Josses incuared from FX purchases from BdL against LBP banknotes (66% and 33% respectively

n 2022 and 2023).

intermediate Circular 664 issued on 28 March 2023 (amending Basic Circular §1) requires banks to comply
with article 863 of the Civil Procedure Law, which does not allow blocking partially or in full the wages and
retirement pensions of employees, workers and servants and the salaries of civil servants, for the settlement
of retail loans in foreign currencies except according to the ceilings set in the mentioned article. Banks were
requested to reschedule retail loans provided in foreign currencies so that the related monthly settlements
don’t exceed the ceilings of article 863 nor 35 % of the family income. On 3 November 2023, the
{ntermediate Circular 680 was issued and requested from banks to also comply with article 865 (in addition
to article 863) of the Civil Procedure Law and article 860 of the same law on the prehibition of seizing the
retirement pensions of civil servants.

Basic Circular 165 issued on 19 April 2023 and requesting banks to open new accounts at BDL in LBP and
in USS specifically and exclusively for the “Cash Money™ {i.e. money transferred from abroad and/or
received as banknotes in foreign currencies after 17 November 2019 in addition to the money deposited or
which will be deposited as banknotes in new accounts in LBP and which respect the conditions set in BDL
basic circular 15¢ for “fresh meney™). These new accounts will be used for the settlerment, compensation &
transfer operations through BDL National Payment System {(BDL-NPS).

Intermediate Circular 667 issued on 13 April 2023 (amending Basic Circular 69) enhancing the framework of
“Electronic Banking and Financial Operations™ by introducing mainly new detailed rules applicable to E-
signature, E-KYC and data protection, along with the retated authorization processes from regulatory bodies.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Regulatory Environment (continued)

[ntermediate Circular 683 issued on 17 November 2023 amending the provisions BDL Basic Cicular 32
which defines the framework of Foreign Exchange (“FX”) operations in Banks operating in Lebancn and
various FX positions computation. This circular came on the wake of several amendments applied in 2023
(Intermediate Circular 659, Intermediate Circular 675 and Intermediate Circular §77) aiming at converging to
the TAS 21: The effects of changes in Foreign Exchange rates differentiating monetary from non-monetary
items and the corresponding impact on the Bank’s FX position. Based an the new definition, the Bank is
authorized to hold a Special Long FX position to hedge its core equity against FX risk. This special long FX
position is to be deducted from the FX open position to reach the FX Trading Position. Besides, the circular
reintroduced the 1% maximum limit (if the Bank holds concurrently a long open position and a net long
trading position) on net trading position and 40% limit on Global position, while cancelling all previously
authorized structural/fixed positions and any forbearance limit. The circular states that excesses over set
timits at end-December 23 should be liquidated gradually by 31 December 2024 if long and by 31 December

2025 if short.

Intermediate Circular 659 issued on 20 January 2023 (amending Basic Circulars 32 and 44) states that banks
should liquidate their short open FX positions, as at 31 December 2022, gradually, on a period of 5 vears. In
addition, for the capital ratios computation, it capped the inclusion of revaluation of fixed assets at 50% in
Common Equity Tier | under certain conditions while allowing the use of the prevailing Sayrafa rate at the
end of each reporting period over 5 years.

Intermediate Circular 661 issued on 31 January 2023 (amending Basic Circulars 23, 132 and 159) states that
the exchange rate for repayment was increased to L 15,000 to the US Dollar.

[ntermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in Common Equity Tier 1
of balance of Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments as well as 75% of net changes from FVTOCI
instruments. Besides, it allowed a full draw down of the 2.3% capital conservation buffer during vears 2023

and 2024.

Intermediate Circular 690 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in the regulatory equity of
positive balance (gains) of Foreign Cumency Translation Reserve noting that this equity is used for the
computation of various regulatory ratics other than capital adequacy ratios (FX position, limit of placement
with FI, Code of money credit (“CMC™) 153 limit.

Intermediate Circular 692 issued on 15 February 2024 amending the provisions of BDL Basic Circular 83
which defines the framewark of the system for fighting Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing. The
circular requested banks & financizl mstitutions to establish within the AML/CFT Unit, an Anti-bribery &

Corruption Unit.

Basic Circular 166 issued on 2 February 2024 defining a new mechanism for the repayment of restricted
funds in FCY and de-facto replacing Basic Circular 151, which authorized limited withdrawals in LBP from
foreign currencies accounts at pre-defined exchange rates and has not been renewed. Beneficiaries from said
circular -~ who cannot be old or current beneficiaries from Basic Circular 158 - would be able to withdraw on
a monthly basis USD1350 in cash up to a cumulative amount of USD 4,350 until June 2026. 50% of said
amount will be financed from the Bank’s own liquidity and 30% from the Bank’s restricted funds with BDL.
Certain exclusions parameters apply to potential customers wishing to benefit from the circular (Customers
who did not return offshore transfers as per basic circular 154, traders of checks, customers who converted
LBP deposits into foreign currencies for at least USD 300,000 post-crisis with the exception of those who
converted their end of service indemnity, customers who setiled their FCY loans for an amount equivalent to
USD 300,000 from LBP proceeds, beneficiaries of sayrafa transactions above or equal to USD 75,000,
corporate clients, etc.). On 27 June 2024, Intermediate Circular 698 expanded the scope of beneficiaries to
include minors. Besides, beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 166 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular
i 58 as long they don’t benefit from both circulars concurrently in the same “yearly cycle” (1st of July in any
given year -30th of June in the following year).
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Regulatory Environment (continued)

BDL intertnediate Circular 686 issued on 2 February 2024 increasing the interest rate reduction on foreign
currencies placements with BDL and on Certificates of Deposits issued by BDL from 50% to 75% while
lirniting the coupon payment to be in FCY only, on 27 June 2024 BDL issued intermediate Circular 701
mentioned that the above interest will be paid in the current restricted account.

Basic Circular 167 issued on 2 February 2024 defining the published rate on BDL’s electronic platform as the
EFX translation rate for the Bank’s FCY monetary items as well for the non-monetary assets measured at fair
value and assets measured as per equity method in line with IAS 21. This measure applies starting January
2024 reported financials.

BDL intermediate Circular 692 jssued on 15 February 2024 amending the Basic Circular 83 requires banks to
establish, under the AML departiment, at Jeast two units. The first unit is responsible for overseeing the head
office and the bank's branches. The second unit is dedicated to combating corruption and anti-bribery.

BDL Intermediate Circular 696, issued on June 6, 2024, amends Basic Circular 143 by cancelling Paragraph
2 of article 5, which stipulates those gains stemming from transactions (swapping/buying/seiling) with BDL,
must be amortized by banks and financial institutions over the tenor of the concerned securities, rather than
booking them as one-off profits.

BDL intermediate Circular 697 issued on 27 June 2024 introduce several amendments to the Basic Circular
158: which stated that eligible account holders that are currently benefitting from the provisions of basic
circular 158 cannot benefit from the provisions of basic circular 166 on any individual or joint accounts from
any bank during the yearly cycle beginning July 1 and ending by June end of each year. The intermediate
circujar also stated that if one of the concerned parties in the joint account benefits from the provisions of
circular {58, the other party will not be able to benefit from the provisions of basic circular 166 related to the
same joint account yet can benefit from the provisions of circular 166 In any of his other accounts it he is
currently not benefiting from the provisions of circular 158 during the current yearly cycle. The circular
consented banks to use their 3% external liquidity to satisfy the provisions of the circular yet required banks
to reconstitute the 3% threshold by end of year 2025 should it fall below the minimum required level. Finally,
the provisions of intenmediate circular 697 will come into effect starting July 1, 2024, with a renewable or
amended | year term and will remain active until all the eligible amount that is transferred to the special
subaccount is consumed.

BDL intermediate Circular 698 issued on 27 June 2024 amending the Basic Circular 166 where it relaxed the
eligibility criteria for basic circular 166 directed to banks concerning the gradual payment of foreign currency
deposits ($150 monthly withdrawal). In details, intermediate circular 698 allowed minors to benefit from the
provisions of basic circular 166, whilst alse including heirs of eligible account holders and those who have
finished benefitting from BDL circular 158 in the eligibility criteria of the circular, The intermediate circular
remains effective until June 1, 2025 subject to modification or renewal.

BDL intermediate Circular 707 issued on 20 September 2024 amending the Basic Circular 154 requiring
banks to constifute an external account (net of any liabilities) at their correspondent banks equivalent to at
least 3% of the size of foreign currency customer deposits as at July 31, 2024 instead of September 30, 2022
as per the provisions of the previous circular 154, The banks that are in violation of the regulations are
granted an extension until 31/12/2025 to regularize their situation. In addition, the circular allowed banks to
include in the calculation of the aforementioned liquidity threshold the market value of Lebanese Eurobonds
held at Midclear or at a depository outside Lebanon and booked at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
(FVTPL} or Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) as well as the market value of
investment grade securities beoked at FVTPL. Finally, the intermediate circular 707 requestad that funds that
were transferred outside the country since July 1, 2017 and subsequently repatriated to Lebanon under the
provisions of BDL circular 154 be deposited in a special savings account for a period of eight vears instead of
the previously required five years.
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1.2. Regulatory Environment {continued)

» BDL intermediate Circular 708 issued on 20 September 2024 amending the Basic Circular 43,44 in which it
consented banks to book under common equity tier 1 capital 75% of the capital gains on their real estate
postfolios acquired in settlement of debt under article 154 of the Code of Money and Credit for the
calculation of solvency ratios conditional upon:

- The verification of the Centra] Council of BDL .
- The completion of the real estate revaluation exercise prior to 31 December, 2025.

The circular stipulates that the revaluation value should be conducted in fresh dollars and booked in Lebanese
Pounds at the exchange rate specified by BDL’s electronic platform as of the date of the settlement of the
applicable tax payment on the revaluation surplus.

The interrnediate circular amended as well the first section of article 8 of appendix 1 under basic decision number
6939 (Basic Circular 44)pertaining to the calculation of solvency ratios permitting banks to book under reserves
associated with accumulated other comprehensive income revaluation gains arising from the revaluation of banks’
real estate portfolios and fixed assets that are booked under commoen equity tier 1 capital including those surpluses
generated by the revaluation of real estate assets acquired in settlement of debt.

¢  BDL intermediate Circular 709 and 710 issued on 25 September 2024 amending the Basic Circular 158,166.
In details, and given the exceptional circumstances Lebanon is going through, the intermediate circulars
permitted eligible depositors benefitting from the provisions of basic cireulars 158 and 166 to withdraw two
additional monthly payments in addition to the allowed monthly payment during the month of QOctober 2024
with the annual withdrawai ceilings adjusted accordingly. Finally, the hquidity needed for banks to cover the
two extra payments for depositors benefitting from the provisions of basic circular 138 will be provided by
reserve requirements in foreign currency placed by banks at the Central Bank.

» BDL intermediate Circular 71! issued on 10 October 2024 amending the Basic Circular 166 in which it
removed one of the eligibility conditions for Basic Circular 166 that stipulates that depositors who converted
after October 31, 2019 Lebanese-pound deposits to US dollars in excess of $300,000, except for the
conversion of end-of-service indemnities to US dollars and kept all other conditions.

s BDL intermediate Circular 712 issued on 10 October 2024 amending the basic Circular 147. In details, the
circular stipulates that in the event a bank had issued a banker’s check to one of its clients, it has to accept,
upon the request of the client and on his own responsibility, to redeposit the ¢heck in the client’s account if it
wasn’t used by the client conditional upon the absence of pending legal constraints or litigation between the
client and the bank regarding the concerned check or the bank account in question. The circular added that
the bank will have to reopen a bank account for the concerned client to deposit the aforementioned check if
his account was closed. Furthermore, the circular noted that the client will be given the privilege to benefit
from the provisions of BDL basic circulars 158, 166 or any other future BDL circulars if the client is eligible
once the check is redeposited 1o his bank account,

» BDL intermediate Circular 713 and 714 issued on 31 Getober 2024 amending the Basic Circular 158,166.
In details, and given the exceptional circumstances Lebanon is going through, the intermediate circulars
permitted eligible depositors benefitting from the provisions of basic circulars 138 and 166 to withdraw one
additional menthly payment in addition to the allowed monthly payment during the month of November
2024 with the annual withdrawal ceilings adjusted accordingly. Finally, the liquidity needed for banks to
cover the extra payments for depositors benefitting from the provisions of basic circular 158 will be provided
by reserve requirements in foreign currency placed by banks at the Central Bank,

¢ BCCL memo 1/2024 issued on 4 June 2024 reguiring banks to record the amount of the uncollected bankers’
checks on their balance sheet under the item private sector creditors-other accounts payables, or under the
itern public sector creditors-other accounts payable.
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1.3 Particular situation of the Group

Exchange Rates

Several exchange rates had emerged since the last quarter of 2019 that varied significantly among each other
and from the official published exchange rate. The official exchange rate was changed from LBP 1,507.5 to
LBP 15,000 to the UUS Dollar in February 2023 and then to LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar in January 2024.
Sayrafa Rates (refer to below) and parallel market rates remained highly volatile and divergent from the official
published exchange rates since the last quarter of 2019 up to the last change in the officiat published exchange
rate in January 2024, as a result of which they became convergent.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency and transactions in foreign currency, regardless of whether
they are cnshore or offshore, were reflected in these financial statements at the official published exchange rates

as follows:

2024 2023
Year-end Rate Average Rate Year-end Rate Average Rate
LBP LBP LBP LBP
US Dollar 89,500 83,292 15,000 13,876
Euro 93,465 78,685 16,695 15,049

The exchange rates above consist of the official exchange rates published by the Central Bank of Lebanon on a
monthly basis. However, several ecxchange rates have emerged since the last quarter of 2019 that vary
significantly among each other and from the official one: the parallel exchange markets and the Sayrafa rate that

are highly volatije.

Sayrafa Platform

On 10 May 2021, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Basic Circular 157 setting the framework of exceptional
measures for foreign-currency operations. Hence, banks operating in Lebanon must process customers’ FX
operations (buy and seil) related to their personal or commercial needs on the electronic platform “Sayrafa”.
Transactions with customers encompass purchase and sale of foreign currencies banknotes against LBP, as weil
as operations from/to foreign currencies external accounts against LBP. Sayrafa corresponds to a floating system
and the Sayrafa average rate and volume of foreign cwrrency operations are published on the website of the
Central Bank of Lebanon. Foreign currency operations were executed on the Sayrafa platform at the following

exchange rates:

Average Rate for Average Rate for

Rate as at 31 the year ended 31 Rate as at 31 the year ended 31

December 2024 December 2024 December 2023 December 2023

LBP LBP LBP LBP
US Dollar 89,500 83,202 89,500 78,116

The platform rate is not available for the purchase and sale of and “local” foreign currency bank accounts which
are subject to de-facto capital controls.

In February 2023, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LBP [,507.5
to LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar. Sayrafa Rates and paralle]l market rates remained highly volatife and divergent
from the new official published exchange rate (LBP 42,000 and LBP 58,200 respectively at | February 2023).

[ January 2024, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LBP 15,000 to
LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar.
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31 December 2024
The Group uses the official published exchange rate to translate all monetary balances and transactions in foreign
currencies, regardless of their source or nature. With respect to onshore monetary assets and liabilities, subject
to de-facto capital controls, this does not always represent a reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in
Lebanese Lira that would have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such
liabilities at the date of the financial statements.

31 December 2023
Because of the gap between the several exchange rates available, the number of variables and assumptions

affecting the possible future resolution of the uncertamnties is very high, increasing the subjectivity and
complexity of the judgment, and Management was unable to determine the rate at which the future cash flows
represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled depending on its source and nature, if those
cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. Accordingly, the Group uses the official published exchange
rate to transiate all balances and transactions in foreign currencies, regardless of their source or nature which
does not represent a reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that would have to be
generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities at the date of the transaction
or at the date of the consolidated financial statements.

Excepted Credit Losses
As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances on assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon are recorded m these

financial statements according to the Group’s policy, which is by far above the regulatory limits as per the
Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate circular 567. Due to the high levels of uncertainty and to the lack of
observable indicators and of visibility on the government’s plans with respect to banks’ exposure to the Central
Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign, Management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner expected
credit losses on these exposures. Accordingly, these financial statements do not include adjustments of the
carrying amount of these assets to their recoverable amounts based on International Financial Reporting
Standards and an expected credit loss model.

The impact is expected to be pervasive and will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements once the
debt restructuring has been defined conclusively by the government and all uncertainties and constraints are
resolved, and once the mechanism for allocating iosses by asset class and currency is clear and conclusive.
Maximurm exposures to the credit risk of the Central Bank of Lebanon and the Lebanese government and the
recognised loss allowances, as well as their staging, are detailed in Note 45 to these consolidated financial

statements.

As a result of the negative economic cenditions and the deepening of the recession, the credit quality of the
private loans portfolio concentrated in Lebanon has significantly deteriorated since the last quarter of 2019. The
deterioration was {urther aggravated by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the significant high inflation
in Lebanon. Since the start of the Lebanese crisis, the Bank has been implementing a de-risking strategy by
considerably reducing its assets size, specifically its portfolio of private loans concentrated in Lebanon. It has
also set up a centralised and specialised remedial function to proactively review and manage the quality of ifs
various portfolios. The private loans portfolic of Lebanese entities has significantly contracted since the onset of
the Lebanese crisis as it decreased from USD 394,149,253 at 31 December 2019 to USD 33,805,950 as at 31
December 2024. With all other variables held constant, Management believes that the significant devaluation of
the Lebanese Pound (and de-facto local US Deollar) and the triple digit inflation, reduced the risks of default
compared to 31 December 2019. However, given the high level of uncertainties facing the Lebanese economy
and the expected type of instruments underlying future cash flows on settlement of these private loans, loss
allowances have been estimated based on the best available information at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions combined with expert judgment. Maximum exposures
to the credit risk of the Group’s portfolio of private loans and the recognised loss allowances, as well as their
staging, are detailed in Note 45 to these consclidated financial statements.
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The consolidated financial position of the Group, as reported in these cansolidated financial statements, does not
reflect the adjustments that would be required by IFRS as a result of the future government reform program, the
deep recession, the currency crisis and the hyperinflation. Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the lack of
observable indicators, the uncertainty on the exchange rate, and the lack of visibility on the govemment’s plans
with respect to: (a) the high exposures of banks with the Central Bank of Lebanon, (b) the Lebanese sovereign
securities, and {¢) the cwrency exchange mechanisms and currency exchange rates that will be applied,
Management is unable to estinate in a reasonable manner the impact of these matters on its consolidated
financial position. Management anticipates that the above matters will have a materially adverse impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial position and iis consolidated equity.

Litigations and Claims

Until the above uncertainties are resolved, the Group is continuing its operations as performed since 17 October
2019 and in accordance with the laws and regulations. De-facto capital controis and inability to transfer foreign
currencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon are exposing the Group to litigations that are dealt with on a
case by case basis when they occur. The Group has been subject to increased litigations as a result of these
restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese banks in relation to withdrawal of funds and transfers abread, as well
as in relation to the repayment by customers of local foreign currency loans in Lebanese Pounds. Management is
carefully considering the impact of these litigations and claims. There are still uncertainties related to the
consequences of these restrictive measures based on the current available information and the prevailing laws
and local banking practices. Management believes that a legislative solution is urgently needed, through the
enactment of laws that are appropriate for the adjudication of the unconventional legal disputes arising under the
current exceptional circumstances. Due to recent developments and the increasing trend in judgments ruled
favour of the plaintiffs and customers during 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, Management considers that they may
affect negatively the offshore liquidity of the Group, its foreign assets and its foreign currency exposure. The
amount cannot be determined presently.

Taxes, social security contributions and related provisions

Due to the availability of several exchange rates in the Lebanese market, the determination of taxes, social
security contributions and related provisions in relation to transactions or activities in foreign currencies are
highly sensitive to the exchange rates applied. As a result of the unprecedented events and circumstances, there
is high level of judgment involved in deciding on the exchange rates used and any change in these exchange
rates, would result in a different determination of taxes, social security contributions and related provisicns.

Law 330 dated 4 December 2024

Law 330 enacted on 4 December 2024 (amending Article 45 of Income Tax Law 144 and its amendments),
authorized taxpayers to conduct a nontaxable exceptional revaluation of fixed assets and inventory, and an
exceptional adjustment on the negative or positive foreign exchange difference resulting from receivable and
payable balances and from financial accounts in foreign currency. On [2 March 2025, the Ministry of Finance
issued the decisions 338, 339 and 340 related to the application of Law 330. On | August 2025, the Ministry of
Finance issued decision 715/] related to the application of Law 330.

Measures by the Bank

Meanwhile, the Bank is exerting extended efforts to (a} strengthen its capitalisation, (b} enhance the quality of
its private loans portfolio, deleveraging it as appropriate and downsizing its balance sheet, (¢) build up its
offshore liquidity and reduce its commitfments and contingencies to correspondent banks and financial

institutions outside Lebanon, and (d¢) manage operating profitability.
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Measures by the Bank (continued)

On | October 2020, the Bank received a letter from the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon, referring to Basic Circular
154 and Intermediate Circular 567, and requesting the Bank to submit a roadmap that sets out the following:
¢  The Bank’s overall strategy for the years 2020-2024.
+ The Bank’s assessment of its portfolic of private loans and expected credit losses as at 31 December
2020, as well as total realised and expected losses for the year 2020.
¢ The amount of expected credit losses that have not been translated yet to foreign currencies.
¢ The capital needs to comply with the minimum required capital and the measures and sources that will
be relied upon to cover the shortfall, when existing.
¢ The Bank’s strategy with respect to its investments in foreign banks and branches.
+  The mechanism to rectify any non-compliance with regulatory requirements.
¢ The measures that will be taken to rectify non-compliances with articles 154 and 153 of the Code of
Money and Credit, if any.
+ The measures that will be taken to attract foreign liquidity or “fresh funds™ and to cover liquidity
onshore and offshore commitments.

The roadmap was submitted to the Central Bank of Lebanon on 25 February 2021, including a number of
assumptions that remain highly susceptible to material change depending on the evolution of the financial,
monetary and operating conditions in Lebanon. Hence, a definitive reasonable and credible roadmayp can only be
achieved once the many material uncertainties still governing the outlook in Lebanon are resolved and the
amount of recapitalisation needs is accurately determinable.

Once the above uncertainties are resolved, a pro-forma balance sheet of the Bank will be prepared which will
include the effects of the revaluation of the assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, the effects of the
hyperinflation, the effects of the restructuring of the government debt securities, the effects of the restructuring
of the Central Bank of Lebanon balance-sheet and the effects on its private loan portfolio.

The Bank’s key strategic objectives during this chailenging period focused on the consolidation and de-risking
of the domestic franchise and operations, and the ring-fencing of foreign entities and branches from Lebanon’s
spill-over effects.

In practise, Management has adopted a new strategic direction focusing on six main pillars to face the current

financial and economic environment. These pillars are:

| Asset quality: reduce the risk profile of the Group through the management of the Group’s portfolio of
assets by (1) sustaining the loan deleveraging policy, (2) maintaining higher loss allowances coverage, (3)
closely monitoring the lending portfolios while taking early remedial actions on problematic files, and (4)
smoothly reducing sovereign debt exposure, especially in foreign currency.

2. Quality of earnings: efforts to attract low cost and stable funding while maintaining relationships with good
profile obligors with consistent and recurring returns and ancillary revenues. End result is for foreign
entities to continue to provide the Group with diversified income generation capacity. Continucus
rationalisation of operating expenses targeting a lean organisational structure, improving operational
efficiency and reducing cost structure to adapt to the changing operating environment and the level of
revenue streams of the Group.

3. Liguidity and ALM: create a liquidity buffer in anticipation of turbulences.

4. Solvency: maintain sufficient capital buffers over the minimum regulatory capital adequacy levels
(calculated in accordance with the rules established by the Centra}] Bank of Lebanon}.

5. Operational and other non-financial risks: management of operational, compliance, legal, conduct, cyber,
strategic and third-party risks while constantly updating business centinuity plans to adapt to disruptions in
business activities due to new occurring risks and changes.

6. Governance: strict adherence to the internal and regulatory Governance principles, with a particular focus
on the control and risk-based oversight role of the Beard of Directors to adapt to the particular requirements
of the current challenging environment while mobilising the Baok’s executive, control, and oversight
committees for the continued effectiveness of the control framework. Maintaining abidance by CSR
principles to ensure sustainability of the Group, taking into account the economic, social and environmental
parameters of our gperations in Lebanon and abroad.
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Measures by the Bank (continued)

The Group has so far implemented a series of measures in relation to these key strategic objectives and pillars,
mcluding:

» In accordance with Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 567, banks are required to increase
their own funds (equity) by an amount equal to 20% of their Common Equity Tier | capital as of 31
December 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital instruments. The amount of increase
required for the Bank is USD 12,935,000. On 21 April 2021, the Bank submitted to the regulators the
measures taken in this respect which entail:

- Injection of cash contribution from shareholders.

+ The Bank submitted to the regulators a calculation for meeting the regulatory requirement of 3%
liquidity ratio with foreign banks in accordance with Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Circufar 154.

¢ Re-establishing normal banking services with the active promotion of the “Extemal Account™ platform.

+ Improving operational efficiency and strengthening governance by,

o Implementing a cost optimisation plan.

¢ Significantly reducing its net positions in foreign currencies from a short position to a long position in
view of managing risks from fluctuation of exchange rates and the significant devaluation of the LBP,
on its income statement and equity. The reduction of the net open position was achieved through
purchases of local foreign currencies from customers during 2024 and 2023 resulting in booked losses
in other comprehensive income of LBP 3,140 billion in 2024 (2023 booked losses of LBP 13 billion).

All of these measures have helped strengthen the Group’s financial position, including intermational liquidity
anrd solvency metrics. However, as at 31 December 2024, consolidated capital adequacy ratios stood at 0.46%,
0.54% and 1.67% for CET1, Tier ! and Total CAR respectively, below the minimum regulatory levels of 4.5%,
6.0% and 8.0% applicable in 2024 (since banks are allowed to draw down on the 2.5% capital conservation
buffer during 2023 and 2024). Negative impact is anticipated from the application of the new official exchange
rate of LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar effective 31 January 2024, upon translation of FCY-denominated risk-

weighted assets.

The Bank is unable to predict the response of the Central Bank of Lebanon on its submitted roadmap, as well as
the level of its adherence with the banking regulations and its planned actions, nor it is able to predict the
measures that might be taken by the regulator in that regard. Once the Bank receives official feedback from the
Central Bank of Lebanon, Management will be able to assess its impact on the financial statements of the

Group.

The Bank is also uncertain whether the measures set out in its roadmap above would be sufficient to cover all its
commitments as they become due and restore the activities of the Bank to normal pre-crisis levels. Such
sufficiency and a reasonable and credible plan can only be achieved once the uncertainties from the prevailing
crisis, the multitude of exchange rates, hyperinflation, as weli as the impiementation of a clear national fiscal
and economic recovery plan are resolved.

The Lebanese crisis which was set off during the last quarter of 2019 has imposed severe limitations on the
ability to conduct Commercial Banking activities or transactions under the normal course of business in
Lebanon. Market embedded factors, such as de-facto capital controls, inability to secure foreign liquidity and
the existence of several values for the US Dollar, resulted into several practices and transactions that would not
qualify as nermal course of business in a non-crisis environment, and for which there are no directly observable
prices or a govermning legal/regulatory framework. Such practices and transactions expose the Banlk to increased
litigation and regulatory risks, and negatively impact the financial position of the Bank, its regulatory ratios and
covenants due the adverse effects of the uncertainties. There 1s a significant uncertainty in relation to the extent
and period over which this situation will continue and the impact that conducting operations under a crisis
environment in the foreseeable future will further have on the Group’s financial position, future cash lows,
results of operations, regulatory ratios and covenants. The Group’s realisation value of assets and sufficiency
and settlement value of [iabilities are premised on future events, the outcome of which are inherently uncertain.
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pA MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for: 2) the revaluation
of land and buildings acquired prior to 1999 are measured at their revalued amounts based on market prices
prevailing during 1999 as permitted by local regulations, to compensate for the inflationary effects prevailing in
the earlier years, and b) the measurement at fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Pounds (LBP) which is the Bank’s functional
currency and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

148 29 — Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, all conditions have been met for the Group’s financial statements io
incorpecrate the inflation adjustment provided under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies”. IFRS requires that financial statements of any entity whose functional currency is the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy be restated into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period.
Paragraph 4 of IAS 29 states that it is preferable for all entities that report in the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy to apply the standard at the same date. In order to achieve uniformity as to the identification of an
economic environment of this kind, IAS 29 provides certain guidelines: a cumulative three-year inflation rate
exceeding 100% is a strong indicator of hyperinflation, but also qualitative factors, such as analysing the
behaviour of population, prices, interest rates and wages should also be considered.

The Lebanese Central Administration of Statistics reported 3-year and 12-month cumulative rates of inflation of
666% and 18%, respectively, as of December 2024 (2023: 2,005% and 192%). Qualitative indicators, following
the deteriorating economic condition and currency controls, also support the conclusion that Lebanon is a
hyperinflationary economy for accounting purpeses for perieds ending on or after 31 December 2020,

The effects of the application of IAS 29 are summarised below:

(a) Financial statements must be adjusted to consider the changes in the currency’s general purchasing power,
so that they are expressed in the current unit of measure at the end of the reporting period.
(b} In summary, the restatement method under IAS 29 is as fellows:

1. Monetary items are not restated in as much as they are already expressed in terms of the measuring unit
cutrent at the closing date of the reporting period. In an inflationary period, keeping monetary assets
generates loss of purchasing power and keeping monetary liabilities generates an increase in
purchasing power. The net monetary gain or loss shall be included as income for the period for which it
is reported.

ii. Non-monetary items carried at the current value of the end date of the reporting period shall not be
restated to be presented in the balance sheet, but the restatement process must be completed in order to
determine into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period the income derived from
such non-monetary items.

iii. Non-monetary items carried at historical cost or at the current value of a date prior to the end of the
reparting period are restated using coefficients that reflect the variation recorded in the general level of
prices from the date of acquisition or revaluation to the closing date of the reporting period, then
comparing the restated amounts of such assets with the relevant recoverable values. Depreciation
charges of property, plant and equipment and amortisation charges of intangible assets recognised in
profit or loss for the period, as well as any other consumption of non-monetary assets will be
determined based on the new restated amounts.

iv. Income and expenses are restated from the date when they were recorded, except for those profit or
loss items that reflect or include in their determination the consumption of assets carried at the
purchasing power of the currency as of a date prior to the recording of the consumption, which are
restated based on the date when the asset to which the item is related originated; and except those profit
or loss items originated from comparing two measurements expressed in the purchasing power of
currency as of different dates, for which it is necessary to identify the compared amounts, restate them
separately and compare them again, but with the restated amounts.

26



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
148 29 — Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (continued)

v. At the beginning of the first year of application of the restatement methed of financial statements in
terms of the current measuring unit, the pricr year comparatives are restated in terms of the measuring
unit current at the end of the current reporting period. The equity components, except for reserved
earnings and undistributed retained earnings, shall also be restated, and the amount of undistributed
retained eamings shall be determined by the difference between net assets restated at the date of
transition and the other components of opening equity expressed as indicated above, once all remaining
equity components are restated.

vi. Income and expenses ara restated from the date when they were recorded, except for those profit or loss
itemns that reflect or include in their determination the consumption of assets carried at the purchasing
power of the currency as of a date prior to the recording of the consumption, which are restated based
on the date when the asset to which the item is related originated; and except those profit or loss items
originated from comparing two measurements expressed in the purchasing power of currency as of
different dates, for which it is necessary to identify the compared amounts, restate them separately, and
compare them again, but with the restated amounts.

vil. At the beginning of the first year of application of the restatement method of financial statements in
terms of the current measuring unit, the prior-year comparatives are restated in terms of the measuring
unit current at the end of the current reporting period. The equity components, except for reserved
earnings znd undistributed retained earmings, shall also be restated, and the amount of undistributed
retained earnings shall be determined by the difference between net assets restated at the date of
transition and the other components of opening equity expressed as indicated above, once all remaiing
equity components are restated.

As of the date of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management is temporarily unable to
apply the above-mentioned standard, nor is it able to quantify the effect that the application of AS 29 would
have on the presented consolidated financial statements due to the following considerations: the significant
divergence in exchange rates, the iack of consensus cn the general price index and the lack of views of
relevant regulators, including tax authorities. However, management estimates such effects to be significant.
This situation rmust be taken into account when interpreting the information reported by the Group jn the
accompanying consolidated financial staternents including its consclidated statement of [inancial position,
consolidated income statement, conselidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow

statement.

The Group is currently assessing the date at which it will apply [AS 29. The application of IAS 29 is very
complex and requires the Group te develop aew accounting software and processes, internal controls and
governance framework. Based on the Group’s preliminary assessment, the absence of an official legal payment
and settlement mechanism that would reflect in 2 reasonable manner, the expected cash flows for assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies, and the absence of an accurate reflection of price changes impede the useful
information that would have been otherwise produced from the application of 1AS 29. Accordingly, the Group
has postponed the application of IAS 29 and incurring costs for developing accounting processes and a
governance framework until the Group is comfortable that such application would provide the users with more

relevant information.

Statement of Compliance
The consclidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internaticnal Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the regulations of the
Central Bank of Lebanon and the Banking Control Commission (“BCC”).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Presentation of Financial Statements

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding
recovery or settlement withun one year after the statement of financial position date {(current) and more than one
year after the statement of financial position date (non-current} is presented in these Notes.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the consolidated statement of financial
position. They are offset and the net amount is reported only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis — or to realise the assets and settle the
liability simultanecusly — in all of the following circumstances: a) the normal course of business, b} the event of
default, and ¢) the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and/or its counterparties. Only gross
settlement mechanisms with features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk and that
process receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle would be, in effect, equivalent to net
settlement. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements; therefore the related assets and
liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position. Income and expense will not be
offset in the consolidated income statement unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or
interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

2.2, Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Banque BEMO S.A.L. and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024, Details of the principal subsidiaries are given in Note 1.

Contro! is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the mvestee. Specifically, the Group

controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

» Power over the investes (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

~ Exposure, or rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with the investee.

» The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. However, under individual

circumstances, the Group may still exercise control with less than 50% shareholding or may not be able to

exercise control even with ownership over 50% of an entity’s shares. When assessing whether it has power over

an investee and therefore controls the variability of its remumns, the Group considers all relevant facts and

circumnstances, including:

> The purpose and design of the investee.

»~ The relevant activities and how decisions about those activities are made, and whether the Group can direct
those activities.

»  Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights.

r  Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to vanable retums from its involvement with the investee, and
has the power to affect the variability of such returns.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to cne or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of Consolidation {(continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. I the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of controi.

Where the Group loses control of a subsidiary but retains an interest in it, then such interest is measured at fair
value at the date that control is lost with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or in accordance with the Group’s accounting
pelicy for financial mstruments depending on the level of influence retained. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. As such, amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to consolidated income statement.

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned by the

Group. The Group has eiected to measure the non-controlling interests in acquirees at the proportionate share of
each acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Interests in the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to the Group are
reported in consolidated equity as non-controlling interests.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of
the Parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests

having a deficit balance.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders of the Group.
For purchases from non-centrolling interests, the difference between any coasideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

2.3. New and Amended Standards and Interpretations
The Group applied for the first time certain amendments to the standards which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The nature and impact of each amendment is described below:

Amendments to [FRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

In September 2022, the [ASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments did not

have a material impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirernents
for classifying [fabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify;
+  What 1s meant by a right to defer settlement.
+ That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
+ That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right,
+ That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the
terms of a tiability not impact its classification.
In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan

agreement is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on
compliance with foture covenants within twelve months. The amendments did not have a material impact on

the Group.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3. New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Supplier Finance Arrapgements - Amendments to I4AS 7 and [FRS 7

In May 2023, the [ASB issued amendments to JAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and I[FRS 7 Financial
Instruments:

Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk.

Other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2024, but do not have an impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

2.4. Standards Issued but not yet Effective

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2024, with the Group not opting for early adoption. These have therefore not been applied in
preparing these consclidated financial statements. The most significant of these new standards, amendments and
interpretations are as follows:

Lack of exchangeability — Amendments fo [AS 21

In August 2023, the Board issued Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to 1AS 21). The amendment to [AS
21 specifies how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a
spot exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking, When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a
currency is not exchangeable into another currency, it discloses information that enables users of its financial
statements to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is
expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows. The amendments will
be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after | January 2025. Early adoption is permitted but
will need to be disclosed. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s financial statements.

TFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

fn April 2024, the 1ASB issued [FRS 18, which replaces IAS | Presentation of Financial Statements. [FRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals
and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss intc one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations, whereof the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income
and expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based
on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial staterments {PT'S) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from “profit
or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss” and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from
dividends and interest. In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other standards.

IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective for repaorting periods beginning on or after |
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. [FRS 18 will apply retrospectively. The
Group is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the primary financial statements
and notes to the financial statements.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5. Summary of Material Accounting Policies

Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controiling
interest in the acquiree at the proporticnate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs
incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group makes an acquisition meeting the definition of a business under IFRS 3, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated income
statement. [t is then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as eguity 1s not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
[FRS 9 Financial [nstruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in accordance with [IFRS 9.

Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of I[FRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting
date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill 1s initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-centrolling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the precedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more {requently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) or group of CGUs, which are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are
assigned to those units. Each unit to which the geodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Greup
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, and is not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based con the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained,




BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
2.5. Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control
over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method,
the investment in an associate js initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted
to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill
refating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor
separately tested for impairment.

The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates. Any change in
other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s other comprehensive inceme.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The financial statements of associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment
loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value,
then recognises the loss in the conselidated income statement.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in ather comprehensive income is transferred to consolidated
income staternent where appropriate. Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) which is also the Group’s functional

cumency.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5. Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

(i} Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign cwrencies are initially recorded at the official published exchange rate ruling at the date

of the transaction (as disclosed in Note 1),

Monetary assets and liabitities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange (as disclosed in Note 1) ai the date of the statement of financial position. All differences are taken
to “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated income statement, except for monetary items that are designated
as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognised in OCI until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the income statement. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCL

Non-rmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Nor-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item {i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or the income statement are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or the income statement, respectively).

(if) Group Companies

On consoclidation, the assets and liabilities of overseas branches are translated into the Banl’s presentation
currency at the rate of exchange as at the reporting date (as disclosed in Note 1), and their income statements are
translated at the monthiy average exchange rates for the year (as disclosed in Note 1). Exchange differences
arising on translation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised m OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to the consolidated income

statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operations and translated at the exchange rate on the reporting date (as disclosed in Note 1).

Financial instruments — initial recognition

(i Date of recognition
All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the settlement date. This includes “regular way
trades™ purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

(i) Inttial measurement of financial instruments

Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, plus or minus, in the case of a financial
instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of the financial instrument. In the case of a financial instrument is measured at fair value, with the
change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss, the transaction costs are recognised as revenue or expense
when the instrument i5 initially recognised.

When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recogniticn differs from the transaction price, the Group
accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

{ifi) Day I profit or loss

When the transaction price differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a valuation
technique using only observable inputs in market transactions, the Group immediately recognises the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 17 profit or loss) in the consolidated income statement. {n
cases where fair value is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference
between the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognised in the consolidated income
statement when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Ll
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5. Summary of Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial assets — classification and measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of two criteria:

(i) The business model within which financial assets are measured; and

(i1) Their contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash flows represent “solely payments of
principal and nterest” (SPPI}).

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held within a
business model whose objeciive is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and their contractual cash flows represent SPPL

All other financial assets are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial recognition of an equity investmnent that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive imcome. This election js made on an

investment-by-investment basis.

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at fair value through
profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
(sometimes referred to as an “accounting mismatch’™) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group is required to disclose such
financial assets separately from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Business maodel
The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets

to achieve its business objective. Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the
way business is managed and the information provided to management.

The Group's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher Jevel of
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:
- How the perfonmance of the business mode! and the financial assets held within that business model are
gvaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel
- The risks that affect the performance of the business moedel {(and the financial assets held within that
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed
- How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on
the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)
- The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspecis of the Group’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking "worst case’ or 'stress
case’ scenarics into account,

The Group’s business model can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when sales of
financial assets occur. However, if more than an infrequent number of sales are made out of a portfolic, the
Group needs 1o assess whether and how such saies are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash
flows. If the ohjective of the Group’s business model for managing those financial assets changes, the Group is
required to reclassify financial assets.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets — ciassification and measurement {continued)

The SPPJ test
As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to

identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation
of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the

interest rate 1s set.

In contrast, contractual teyms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or velatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount cutstanding. In such cases, the financial
asset is required to be measured at fair value though profit and loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Balances with Ceniral Bank, due from Banks and financial institutions, loans and advances to customers and to

related parties at amortized cost and Financial assefs at amortized cost.

These financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investrent. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also inciuded in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR,
less expected credit losses. Amortised cost is caloulated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation is included in “Interest and
similar income” in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the
consolidated Income statement in “Net impairment loss on financial assets”. Gains and losses arising from the
derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost are reflected under “Net gain (loss) on
derecognition of financial assets at amortised cost” in the consolidated income statement,

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive fncome

Debt Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

These financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of mvestment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income statement in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECL calculation for debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive incoms is explained below. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income statement.

Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably some of its investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are not held for trading. Such
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These financial assets are initially measured af fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised i other comprehensive income
and accumulated under equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the consolidated income

statement on disposal of the investments.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial Assets — Classification and Measurement {continued)

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Compreltensive Income (continued)

Equity [nstruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (continued)

Dividends on these investmenis are recognised under “non-interest revenue from financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income” in the consolidated income statement when the Group's right to receive
payment of dividend is established in accordance with [FRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”, unless
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject {0 an impairment assessment.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in “financial assets at
amortised cost” and “fingncial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” above, debt
instruments designated at fair value through profit or less upon initial recognition, and equity instrumnents at fair
value through profit or loss, Management only designates a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss
upon Initial recognition when the designation eliminates, significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or recognising gains and losses on them on a different basis.

Debt [nstruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss and Loans and Advances at Fair Value

These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the instrument are recognised as revenue or expense when the
instrument is inifially recognised. Changes in fair value and interest income are recorded under “net trading
(loss) gain” in the consolidated income statement. Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of debt
instruments and other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also reflected under “net trading
(loss) gain™ in the consolidated income statement, showing separately those related to financial assets designated
at fair value upon Initial recognition from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Investments in equity instruments are classified at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group designates
at initial recognition an investment that 1s not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income. These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value.
Changes in fair value and dividend income are recorded under “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated
income statement. Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss are also reflected under “net trading (loss) gain™ in the consclidated income statement.

Financial Liabilities (other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) — Classification
and Measurement

Liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value through
profit or loss, particular transaction casts. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.

The Group classifies ali financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or less (including derivatives).

- Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies.
Contingant consideration recognised in a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial Assets — Classification and Measurement (continued)
Finaneial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)
Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

The Group may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value

through profit or loss when:

- Doing so results in more relevant information because it either eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an accounting mismatch”) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or fiabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases; or

- A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the Group's Key Management
Personnel; or

- A group of financial liabilities contains one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly
modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis
when a similar instrument is first considered that separation of the embedded derivatives is prohibited.

Financial ltabilities at fair value through profit and loss are recorded in the consolidated statement of firancial
position at fajr value. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement with the exception of
movements in fair value of liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss due to changes in the
Group’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive inceme, unless such
recognition would create an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income statement. Changes n fair value
attributable to changes in credit risk do not get recycled to the consclidated income statement.

Interest incurred on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is accrued in interest
expense using the EIR, taking into account any discount/premium and qualifying transaction costs being an
integral part of nstrument.

Debt Issycd and Other Borrowed Funds

Financial instruments issued by the Group, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are
classified under “debt issued and other borrowed funds” where the substance of the contractual arrangement
results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to
satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed

number of own equity shares.

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subseguently measured at ammortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premivm
on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective Interest rate method.

A compound financial instrument which contains both a lability and an equity component is separated at the
issue date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument 1s allocated to the debt component on the date of issue
based on its fair value (which is generally determined based on the quoted market prices for similar debt
instruments). The equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the
instrument as a whole the amount separateiy determined for the debt component. The value of any derivative
features (such as a cali option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component
i5 included in the debt component.

Due to Central Banks, Due to Banks and Financial Institutions, Due to Banks under Repurchase Agreements
and Customers’ and Related Parties' Deposits

After initial measurement, due to central banks, banks and financial institutions, bonds under repurchase
agreements, and customers’ and related parties’ deposits are measured at amortised cost less amounts repaid
using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate methed. Customers’ deposits
which are linked to the performance of indices or comimodities are subsequently measured at fair value through

profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Derivatives Recorded at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

a) Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the
contract (also known as the “underlying™).

b} It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required
for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market
factors.

¢} It is settled at a future date.

The Group enters into derivafive transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps,
futures, credit derivatives, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest
rates, foreign cuirencies and equities.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is negative. The notional amount and fair value of such derivatives are disclosed separately in the
notes. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated
income statement, unless hedge accounting is applied, which is discussed in under “hedge accounting policy”

below.

Embedded Derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract
with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to 2 stand-alone
derjvative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract to be medified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price,
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in
the case of a non-financial vanable, it is not specific to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a
financial instrument, but is contractually transferable independently of that instrument, or has a different
counterparty from that instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
(a} The hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9.
(b} The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the
econeomic characteristics and risks of the host.
(€) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative,
(d) The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Financial Guarantees, Letters of Credit and Undrawn Loan Commitments

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at
the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortjsation recognised in the consolidated income
staternent, and an ECL provision. The premium received is recognised in the income statement in “net fees and
commission income™ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn lean commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
comreitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to
financizl guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn toan commitments are not
recorded in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments, together with the
corresponding ECLs, are disclosed in these notes.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Reclassification of Financial Assets
The Group reclassifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing those financial assets

changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and are determined by the Group’s Senior
Management as a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Group’s operations and
demoenstrable to external parties.

[f financial assets are reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date,
which is the first day of the first reporting period fotlowing the change in business model that results in the
reclassification of financial assets. Any previcusly recognised gains, losses or interest are not restated.

If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous carrying amount and fair
value is recognised in the income statement. If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at amortised
cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying amount,

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assels

(i) Derecognition Due to Substantial Modification of Terms and Condifions
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash
flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

- TFees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent

reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset.
- Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is
usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in
forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the

modification takes place (see below).

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For fleating-rate financial assets, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross
carying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified

financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impanment losses. [n other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continuned)
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities {continued)
Financial Assets (continued)

(i) Derecognition Other than for Substantial Modification
A financial asset {or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Group also
derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for
derecognition. The Group has wansferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:

» The Group has transterred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or

> The Group retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash

flows in fuil without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement-

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows of a financial asset (the “original asset™), but assumes a coniractual obligation to pay those cash flows to
one or more entities (the “eventual recipients™), when all of the following three conditions are met:

» The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent
amounts from the original asset, excluding shori-term advances with the right to fult recovery of the
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates.

~ The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients.

» The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material
delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or
cash equivzlents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of
required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer only gualifies for derecognition if:
»  The Group has transferred substantially alf the risks and rewards of the asset; or
» The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but

has transferred control of the asset.

The Group considers contral to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without
imposing additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement, in which case the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Group could be required

to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the wansferred asset, the
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Group would be required to pay upen repurchase. In the
case of a written put option orn an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

40



BANQUE BEMO S.AL.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued}

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing Hability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original lability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying
value of the original financial lability and the consideration paid is recogaised in the consolidated income
statement, as “other operating income” or “other operating expenses”.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecogniticn, then the amortised cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. The comresponding consideration received (cash collateral provided) is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to return it, including
accrued interest as a liability within “due to banks under repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s
economic substances as a lozn to the Group. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as
interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR. When the counterparty has the right
to sell or re-pledge the securities, the Group reclassifies those securities 1n its statement of financial position to
“financial assets given as collateral”.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The consideration paid (cash collateral provided), including
accrued interest is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position within “leoans to banks and
financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a
loan by the Group. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “net interest income™
and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR. If securities purchased under agreement to resel] are
subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to retumn the securities is recorded as a short sale within
“financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” and measured at fair value with any gains or losses
included in “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of Financial Assets

(i) Overview of the ECL Principles

The Group records allowance for expected credit losses based on a forward-looking approach for all loans and
other financial assets not held at fair value through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as “financial instruments”. Equity instruments are not subject
to impairment under IFRS 9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected
credit loss), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of lifetime
ECLs which represents the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within the |2 months after the reporting date.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

(ii) Measurement of ECLs
The Group measures ECLs based on three probability-weighted sceparios to measure the expected cash
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR as follows:

» Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive).

» Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

~ Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive.

~ Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amount that the
Group expects to recover.

They key inputs into the measurements of ECL are:

~ PD: the Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelthood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

~ EAD: the Expuosure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract ar otherwise, and expected drawdowns on comsmitted facilities.

~ LGD: the Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. If is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would
expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of
the EAD.

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. Forward-locking
information 1s incorporated in ECL measurements.

The Group measures ECLs using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:

» Stage 1 — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit
loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For these instruments
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, probability of default corresponding to remaining term
to maturity is used.

~ Stage 2 — When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered
to be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.

~ Stage 3 — Financial insiroments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses, similar to Stage 2.

{tii) Forborne and Modified Loans

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or otherwise enforcing collection of collateral.
The Group considers a loan forbome when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the
borrower’s present or expected financial difficoulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the
borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or
significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment
arrangements and the agreement of new lean conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any
impairment 1s measured using the original EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Group’s
policy to monitor forborne leans to help ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur.
Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued}

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing Hability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original lability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying
value of the original financial lability and the consideration paid is recogaised in the consolidated income
statement, as “other operating income” or “other operating expenses”.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecogniticn, then the amortised cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. The comresponding consideration received (cash collateral provided) is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to return it, including
accrued interest as a liability within “due to banks under repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s
economic substances as a lozn to the Group. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as
interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR. When the counterparty has the right
to sell or re-pledge the securities, the Group reclassifies those securities 1n its statement of financial position to
“financial assets given as collateral”.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The consideration paid (cash collateral provided), including
accrued interest is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position within “leoans to banks and
financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a
loan by the Group. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “net interest income™
and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the EIR. If securities purchased under agreement to resel] are
subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to retumn the securities is recorded as a short sale within
“financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” and measured at fair value with any gains or losses
included in “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of Financial Assets

(i) Overview of the ECL Principles

The Group records allowance for expected credit losses based on a forward-looking approach for all loans and
other financial assets not held at fair value through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as “financial instruments”. Equity instruments are not subject
to impairment under IFRS 9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected
credit loss), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of lifetime
ECLs which represents the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within the |2 months after the reporting date.
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25 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

(ii} Measurement of ECLs
The Group measures ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR as follows:

» Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalis
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to recelve).

» Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

» Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive.
»~ Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amount that the

Group expects to recover.

They key inputs into the measurements of ECL are:

» PD: the Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed peried, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

~ EAD: the Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into azccount
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

» LGD: the Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would
expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. Tt is usually expressed as a percentage of

the EAD.

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. Forward-looking
information is incorporated in ECL measurements.

The Group measures ECLs using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origmation:

-~ Stage | — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instriment, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit
loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For these instruments
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, probability of default corresponding to remaining term
to maturity is used.

» Stage 2 — When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered
to be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.

-~ Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses, similar to Stage 2.

(iii) Forborne and Modified Loans

The Group scmetimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or otherwise enforcing collection of collateral.
The Group considers a loan forbome when such concessions or medifications are provided as a result of the
borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the
borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or
significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment
arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any
impairment is measured using the criginal EIR as calculated before the medification of terms. [t is the Group’s
policy to monitor forbome loans to help ensure that future payments centinue to be likely to occur.
Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of Firancial Assets (continued)
{iii) Forborne and Modified Loans (continued)

If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclesed and managed as an impaired Stage 3
forbome asset until it 1s collected or written off.

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Group also reassesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Group also considers whether the assets should be classified as
Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forbome, it will remain forborne for a minimum 12-month
probaticn period. In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forbome category, the customer has to meet
all of the following criteria:

- At least a I2-month probation period has passed.

- Three consecutive payments under the new repayment schedule have been made.

- The borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Group.

- All the terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restructuring have been met.

[f modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognised, as explained above.

(iv) Credit-impaired Financial Assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial
assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income, and finance lease receivables are credit-
impaired (referved to as “Stage 3 financial assets”). A financial asset is “credit-impaired™ when one or more
events that have detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable information:

- Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer.

- A breach of contract such as a default or past due event.

- The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Greoup on terms that the Group would not consider

otherwise.
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation.
- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

{v) Write-offs

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Group has stopped pursuing the
recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first
treated as an addition to the aliowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subseguent
recoveries are credited to “net impairment loss on firancial assets”.

(vi) Debt Instruments af Fair Value through Other Compreftensive Income

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets
in the staternent of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that
would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in QCI as an accumulated impainment
amount, with a correspending charge to the income statement. The accumulated loss recognised i OCI 15
recycled to the income statement upon derecognition of the assets.

{vig) Coflateral Repossessed

The Group occasionally acquires properties in settlement of loans and advances. Upon initial recognition, those
assets are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities. Subsequently, these properties are
measured at the Jower of carrying value or net realisable value.

Upon sale of repossessed asseis, any gain or loss realised is recognised in the consclidated income statement
under “other operating income™ or “other operating expenses”. Gaing resulting from the sale of repossessed
assets are transferred to “reserves appropriated for capital increase” in the following financial year.
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Fair Value Measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives and non-financial assets, namely land and
building and building improvements, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial

mstruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in these notes.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

»  In the principal market for the asset or hability; or
. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liabslity,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes intc account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to anather market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of

unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as [ollows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whele:
+ Level | — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
* Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
e Level 3 — Valuation techriques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have cccurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each

reporting period.

Management determnines the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair value
measurement. At each reporting date, Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities
which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis,
Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest vajuation by agreeing the information in the valuation
computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

For the purpese of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.

44



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Hedge Accounting

As part of its risk management, the Group has identified a series of risk categories with corresponding hedging
strategies using derivative instruments, as sét out in Note 19,

When a hedging relationship meets the specified hedge accounting criteria set out n IFRS 9, the Group applies
one of the three types of hedge accounting: fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in
a foreign operation.

At the inception, the Group formally documents how the hedging relationship meets the hedge accounting
criteria. It also records the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging ipstrument,
including the nature of the risk, the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the
method that will be used to assess the effectiveness.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if: {a) the hedging relaticnship consists only of
eligible hedging instruments and eligible hedged items; (b) at the inception of the hedging reiationship, there is
formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the Group’s risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge; and {c} the hedging relationship meets all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements:

» There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

» The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship.

- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
itern that the entity actually hedges and the gquantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses
to hedge that quantity of hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between
the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that
could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected ta be highly effective on a
prospective basis in order to qualify for hedge accounting. The effectiveness test can be performed qualitatively
or quantitatively. A formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument is expected to be highly
effective in offsefting the designated risk in the hedged item, both at inception and semi-annually on an ongoing
basis. Hedge ineffectiveness is recegnised in the consolidated income statement in “net trading (loss) gain”.

The Group applies the [BOR reform Phase | reliefs to hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform
during the pericd before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
(RFR). The reliefs apply during the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”"). A hedging relationship is affected if interest rate benchmark reform gives rise
to uncertainties about the timing and or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the

hedging instrument.

The reliefs require that for the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction is highly probable, it is
assumed that the IBOR on which the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result of [BOR reform.
IBOR reform Phase 1 requires that for hedging relationships affected by IBOR reform, the Group must assume
that for the purpose of assessing expected future hedge effectiveness, the interest rate is not altered as a result of
IBOR reform. The reliefs cease to apply once certain conditicns are met. These include when the uncertainty
arising from IBOR reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and amount of the benchmark-based
cash flows of the hedged item, if the hedging relationship is discontinued or once amounts in the cash flow
hedge reserve have been released.

[BOR reform Phase 2 provides temporary reliefs that allow the Bank’s hedging relationships to continue upon
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an RFR. The reliefs require the Group to amend the
hedge designations and hedge documentation.
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Hedge Accounting (continued)

(i) Fair Value Hedyges

For qualifying fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the consolidated
income statement under “net trading (loss) gain”. Hedging gain or loss on the hedged item adjusts the carrying
amount af the hedged item and is recognised in the consolidated income statement also under “net trading {loss)
gain”. If the hedged item is an equity instrument for which the Group has elected to present changes in fair value
in other comprehensive income, those amounts remain in other comprehensive income.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when the hedge no Jonger meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, or the Group decides to voluntarily discontinue the hedging relationship, the
hedge relationship is discontinued prospectively. If the relationship does not meet the hedge effectiveness
criteria, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from the last date on which compliance with hedge
effectiveness was demonstrated. If the hedge accounting relationship is terminated for an item recorded at
amortised cost, the accumulated fair value hedge adjustment to the camrying amount of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge by recalculating the EIR. If the hedged item is
derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income

statermnent.

(i} Cash Flow Hedges
For qualifying cash flow hedge, a separate component of equity associated with the hedged item (cash flow

hedge reserve) is adjusted to the lower of the following (in absolute amounts):

a)  The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging mstrument from inception of the hedge.
by  The cumulative change in fair value (present value) of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge {the portion
that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve described above) shall be recognised In other
comprehensive income. Any remaining gain or loss on the hedging instrument is hedge ineffectiveness that shall
be recognised in the consolidated income statement. The amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow
hedge reserve and associated with the hedged item is treated as follows:

a) If a hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the Group removes that amount from the cash flow hedge reserve and includes it
directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or the liability without affecting other
comprehensive income.

b) For cash flow hedges other than those covered by a), that amount is reclassified from the cash flow
hedge reserve to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during
which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. However, if that amount s a loss and
the Group expects that all or a portion of that loss will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it
immediately reclassifies the amount that is not expected to be recovered into profit or less as a
reclassification adjustment.

When a hedging Instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive mcome at
that time remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the hedged forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately
transferred to the consolhidated income statement.
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{1ii) Hedge of Net Investments

Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, mcluding a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as
part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. On disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or
losses recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve i1s wansferred to the consolidated income

statement as a reclassification adjustment.

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract

conveys the right to contro! the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a Lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use

assets representing the right to use the underlying assets,

) Right-of-use Assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets are presented within “property, equiptment and right-of-use assets” on the consolidated
financial statements and are subject to impairment in lme with the Group’s policy, as descrived under
“impairment of non-financial assets”.

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets is presented within “depreciation of property, and equipment and
right-of-use assets” in the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date 1f the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities 1s increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included under “other fabilities”. Moreover, the interest charge on lease
liabilities is presented within “interest and similar expenses” in consolidated financial statements.
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Leases (continued)

(1ii) Shori-term Leases and Leases of Low-value Assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of {2 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Other rental
expenses (including non-lease components paid to landlords) are presented within other operating expenses.

Group as a Lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an

asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in pegotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the Jeased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are samned.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises balances with original maturities of a
period of three months or less including cash and balances with central banks, deposits with banks and financial
institutions, deposits due ta banks and financial institutions, and repurchase and reverse repurchased agreements.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment except for land and buildings, is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day

servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Land and buildings are stated at
their revalued amounts based on market prices prevailing less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impainnent in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment if the
recognition criteria are metf. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise, when a mejor inspection is performed, its cost is recognised m the carrying amount of
the equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs
are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria
for a provision are met.

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation pericd or method, as
appropriate and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Depreciation 15 calculated using straight line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their
residual value over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

+  Buildings 40 years

«  Installations and leasehold improvements 3-5 years

«  Motor vehicles 53— 10 years

+  Computer equipment 3—-5-8.33 years

+  Office equipment and furniture 3 -8.33 —12.5 years

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation reserve in equity.
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss,
the increase 1s recognized in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the incorne statement, except to
the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment is derccognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expecied
from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in “Net gain from disposal of property and
equipment” in the year the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively if applicable.

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised only when its cost can be measnred reliably, and it is probable that the

expected future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Group.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite of indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortized over the useful economic life. The amortisation pericd and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impainment annually, either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal procseds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite economic life.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives as fellows.

: Computer software 5 years

Assets obtained in settlement of debt, assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Assets obtalned in settlement of debt and assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrving amount
and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly atiributable to the disposal of an
asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense. Non-current assets and disposal groups
are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principaily through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and
the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition, Management has comumnitted
to the sale, and the sale is expected to have been completed within one year from the date of classification.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortized once classified as held for
sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of

financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is ¢lassified as held for
sale, and: a) represents a consolidated major line of business or geographical area of operations; b) is part of a
single cocrdinated plan to dispose of a consolidated major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
¢} is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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Assets obtained in settlement of debt, assets held for sale and discontinued operations (continued)

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation reserve in equity.
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss,
the increase is recognized in profit and loss. As per law 330 and decision 715/1, the positive difference in value
between the expert and cost is booked in a separate account, when the asset is sold this difference is subject to

ncome tax.

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of
the previous year, income and expenses {rom discontinued operations are reported separately from income and
expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the loss of control. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported
separately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. Where the carying amount of an asset or cash-geperating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset
is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount 1s estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior ysars. Such reversal 1s recognised in the consolidated
income statement, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a

revaluation increase.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detalled budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and
forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to
project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued with the
revaluation taken to OCL For such properties, the impairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any
previous revaluation.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU {or group of
CGUs) to which the goadwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwil} cannot be reversed in future pericds.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Provision for termination indemnity

End of service indemnity subscriptions paid and due to the National Social Security Fund are calculated on the
basis of 8.5% of the staff salaries. The {inal termination indemnities due to employees after completing 20 years
of service or at the retirement age or if the employee leaves permanently the employment, are calculated based
on the last salary times the number of years of service; the Company is liable to pay to the Natiopal Social
Security Fund the difference between the subscriptions paid at the rate of 8% and the total indemnity due to

employees.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of the time value
of money is material, the Group determines the level of provision by discounting the expected cash flows at a
pre-tax rate reflecting the current rates specific to the liability. The expense relating to any provision is
presented in the consolidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it Is invelved n varipus litigation, arbitration and regulatory
investigations and proceedings both in Lebanon and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the
Group's business.

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and
considers such outflows to be probable, the Group records a provision against the case. Where the probability of
outflow is considered 10 be remote or probable, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is
disclosed. However, when the Group 15 of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis
would prejudice their outcome, then the Group does not include detailed, case-specific disclosures in its
financial statements.

Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the Group takes into
account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar

incidents.

Taxes
Taxes are provided for in accordance with regulations and laws that are effective in the country where the Group

operates.

(i) Current Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates

and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and pot in the
statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax retums with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where

appropriate.
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2.5 Sammary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxes (continued)

(1i) Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

«  Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the cary forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

*  Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the itial
recogrition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

¢ In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
assoclates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each statement of financial
position date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the

deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income are also
recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation

authority,

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment
is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

A
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25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Treasury Shares

Own equity instruments of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (Treasury shares) are
deducted from equity and accounted for at cost. Consideration paid or received on the purchase sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments is recognised directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own

equity instruments.

When the Group holds own equity instruments on behalf of its clients, those holdings are not included m the
Group’s consolidated staterment of financial position.

Contracts on own shares that require physical settlement of a fixed number of own shares for a fixed consideration
are classified as equity and added to or deducted from equity. Contracts on own shares that require net cash
settlement or provide a choice of settlement are classified as trading instruments and changes in the fair value are
reported n the consolidated income statement.

Assets under Management and Assets Held in Custedy and under Administration

The Group provides custody and administration services that result in the holding or investing of assets on behalf
of its clients. Assets held in trust, under management or under custedy or under administration, are not treated as
assets of the Group and, accordingly, are recorded s off-balance sheet items.

Customers’ accepiances
Customers’ acceptances represent term documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalt of

its clients against commitments by those clients (acceptances). The commitments resulting from these acceptances
are stated as a liability in the statement of financial position for the same amount.

Revenue recognition
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

(i) Interest and similar income and expense

The effective interest rate (EIR)

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement applying the EIR method for all financial
instruments measured at amortised cost, financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss and
interest-bearing financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial iiability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost
of a financial liability. When calculating the EIR for financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit impaired, an entity shall take inte account all the confractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses. For
purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate is calculated
using estimated future cash flows and expectad credit losses.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties fo the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest income and interest expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or a financial liability is calculated on Initial recognition of the
financial asset or financial liability. In determining interest income and expense, the EIR is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset (unless the asset is credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of a financial
liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate
instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for fair
value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premwms or discounts, unless the financial
instrument is measured at fair value, with the change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. In these
cases, the fees are recognised as revenue or expense when the instrument is initially recognised.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continuied)

{i) Interest and similar income and expense (continued)

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired after initial recognition, interest income is determined by
applying EIR to the net amortized cost of the instrument. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-
impaired, the Group reverts back to calculating interest income on a gross basis. Furthermore, for financial
assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest is determined by applying a credit-adjusted EIR
to the amortized cost of the instrument. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even
if the credit risk of the asset improves.

FPresentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the consolidated income statement
includes:
- Interest on financial assets at amortised cost.
- Interest on debt instruments measured at fair valoe through other comprehensive income.
- The effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow
hedges of vanability in interest cash flows in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest

income/expense.

Interest expense presented in the consolidated income statement includes:

- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

- The effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow
hedges of varlability in interest cash flows in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest
income/expense.

Interest income and expense on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are presented
under “net trading (loss) gain” in the consolidated income statement.

(ii} Fee and commission income
The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee

income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee Income Earned from Services That dre Provided over a Certain Period of Time
Fees earned for the provision of services gver a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees,

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
(together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is
unlikely that a loan be drawn down, the lcan commitment fees are recognised as revenues on expiry.

Fee Income Providing Transaction Services

Fee arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognised
on completion of the underlying transaction. Fee or components of fee that are linked to a certain performance

are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

(ifi) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

{iv) Net trading (loss) gain

Net income from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss comprises gains and losses related to
trading assets and liabilities, non-trading derivatives held for risk management purposes that do not form part of
qualifying hedging relationships, financial assets and financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss and, also non-trading assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss. The line
ttern includes fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.
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2.6 Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires Management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the camrying amount of assets or
fiabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting pelicies, Management has made the following judgments,

apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the
financial statemnents:

Going Concern
Notwithstanding the events and conditions disclosed in Note |, these financial staternents have been prepared

based on the going concem assumption. The Board of Directors believe that they are taking all the measures
available to maintain the viability of the Group and continue its operations in the current business and economic

environment.

Impairment of Goodwill
Management’s judgment is required in estimating the future cash flows of the CGUs. These values are sensitive

to cash flows projected for the periods for which detailed forecasts are available, and to assuriptions regarding
the term sustainable pattern of cash flows thereafter. While the acceptable range within which underlying
assumptions can be applied is governed by the requirement for resulting forecasts to be compared with actual
performance and verifiable economic data in future years, the cash flow forecasts necessarily and appropriately
reflect Management’s view of future business prospects.

Business Model
In determining whether its business mode! for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows, the Group considers:
- Management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice.
- How management evaluates the performance of the portfolio.
- Whether Management’s strategy focuses on eaming contractual interest revenues.
- The degree of frequency of any expected asset sales.

- The reascn for any asset sales, and
- Whether assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity.

Contractual Cash Flows of Financial Assets

The Group exercises judgment in determining whether the contractnal terms of financijal assets it originates or
acquires give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding, and so may qualify for amortised cost measurement. In making the assessment, the Group
considers all contractual terms, including any prepayment terms or provisions to extend the maturity of the
agsets, terms that change the amount and timing of cash flows and whether the contractual terms contain

leverage.

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgment is required te determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and leve! of future taxable profits, together with

future tax planning strategies.

Hedge Accounting
The Group's hedge accounting policies include an element of judgment and estimation. Estimates of future

interest rates and the generai economic environment will influence the availability and timing of suitable hedged
items, with an tmpact on the effectiveness of the hedge relationships. Details of the Group’s hedge accounting
policies and the sensitivities most relevant to risks are disclosed in these notes.
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2.6 Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates (continued)
Judgments (continued)
Hedge Accounting (continued)

The Group applies temporary reliefs which enable its hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly risk-free
interest rate. For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction is highly probable, the reliefs require
to be assumed that the IBOR on which the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result of IBOR

reform.

Determining the Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reascnably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgment i evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise or not the option te renew or terminate the
lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a
significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to
exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. a change in business strategy).

The Group included the renewa] period as part of the lease term for ieases of head offices and branches due to
the significance of these assets to its operations. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are
included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment tc the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from aclive markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation technigues that include
the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but where observable market data is not available, estimation is required to establish fair values. The
Jjudgments and estimates include considerations of fiquidity and model inputs such as credit risk (both own and
counterparty) funding value adjustments, correlation and volatility.

Impairment Losses on Financial Instruments
The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgment, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of
factors, changes in which can resuit in different levels of allowances. The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs
of moedels with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs. Camponents of the
ECL models that are considered accounting judgments and estimates include:
- The Group’s internal credit rating model.
- The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
- The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis.
- Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs.
- Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs and their impact
on ECL calculation.
- Selection of forward-fooking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability of occurrence, to derive
the ECL models.
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2.6 Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates (continued)

Estimates and Assumptions (continued)

As per internal policy, the Group regularly reviews its models in the context of actual loss experience and
adjusts when necessary.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of
dispesal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at amm’s length, for
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use
calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do
not inclade restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that
will enhance the asset’s perforrnance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the
discount rate used for the DCF model, as well as the expected [uture cash inflows and the growth rate used for
extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite
useful Jives recognised by the Group.

Leases — Estimating the Incremental Borrowing Rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The [BR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar secunty, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar econemic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
“would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs {such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

3 SEGMENT REPORTING

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allecation and performance assessment. Segments are evaluated based on information relating to
net operating income and financial position. Income taxes and operating expenses are managed on a group basis
and are nct allocated to operating segments.

Interest income is reported net, since Management monitors net interest income as a performance measure and
not the gross income and expense amounts. Net interest income 1s allocated to the business segment based on
the assumption that all positions are funded or invested via a central funding unit. An internal Funds Transfer
Pricing (FTP) mechanism was implemented between operating segments. Transfer prices between operating
segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

The assets and liabilities that are reported in the segments are net from inter-segments’ assets and liabilities
since they constitute the basis of Management’s measures of the segments’ assets and liabilities and the basis of

the allocation of resources between segments.




BANQUE BEMO S.A L.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

A} Business Segments

The Group operates in four main business segments which are Corporate and Commercial Banking, Retail and
Personal Banking, Treasury and Capital Markets, and Group Functions and Head Office.

Corporate and Commercial Banking

Retail and Personal Banking

Treasury and Capital Markets

Group Functions and Head Office

Provides diverse products and services to the corporate and
commerclal customers including loans, deposits, trads finance, as
well as all regular Corporate and Commercial Banking activities.

Provides individual customers’ deposits and consumer loans,
overdrafts, credit cards, and funds transfer facilities, as well as all
regular Retail and Private Banking activities.

Provides Treasury services including transactions in moeney and
capital markets for the Group’s customers, manages investment
and trading transactions (locally and internationally), and manages
liquidity, foreign currency and market risks. This segment also
offers Investment Banking and brokerage services, and manages
the Group’s own portfolio of stocks, bonds, and other financial
instruments.

Consists of capital and strategic investments, exceptional profits
and losses, as well as operating results of subsidiaries which offer
nou-banking services.

The following tables present net operating income information and financial position information.

i) Net operating income information

Net interest income
Non-interest income

Net fze and commussion expense
Financial operations

Other operating income

Total non-interest expense

Total operating income

Net unpairment loss on financial assets

Net operating income

2624

Carporate and Retait Treasury

conurerciad and personal and cagital
banking banking muarkers Head office Total
LBPGOD LBPOGO LBPOGO LBPOOG LBPOGY
130,202,528 1,433,710 (171,502,941) (6,468,447) (46,335,150)
740,099,225 1,659,526 - (455,939 741,302,812
- - 1,305,902,553 35,510,029 1,341,412,582
- - - 172,734,246 172,734,246
740,099,225 1,659,526 1,305,902,553 207,788,336 2,255,449,640
870,301,753 3,093,236 1,134,399,612 201,319,889 2,209,114,490
(187,363,172) - (1,372,970,721) - (1,560,333,8%3)
682,938,551 3,093,236 (238,571,109) 201,319,889 648,780,597
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A)  Business Segmenis (continued)

i} Net operating income information (continued)

2023
Corporate and Retail Treasury
commercial and personal and capital
banking banking markets Head gffice Total
LEEOM LBPOGG LBPOOR LBPOON Larom
Netl interest income 111,324,157 (5,239,129 24,877,886 (35,779,778) 95,183,136
Non-interest income
MNet fee and commission expense 233,754 473 269,396 - (170577} 253,853,292
Financial operations - - 406,102,238 (7,087) 406,095,151
Other operating incone - - - 41,790,672 41,790,672
Total non-interest expense 253,754,473 269,396 406,102,238 41,613,008 701,739,115
Total opurating income 363,078,630 (4.969,733) 430,980,124 5,833,230 796,922,251
Netimpairment loss on financial assets (45.181,084) - (388,221,965) (433.403,049)
Net operating ncomme 319,897,546 (4.969.733) 42,758,159 5833230 363,519,202
i} Financial Position Information
2024
Corporate and Retail Treasury Group
Commercial  and Personal and Capital Functions and
Banking Banking Markets Heod Office Tatal
LBP (00 LBF 000 LBP 000 LBP 800G LBP 000

Total assets 2,320,463,349

705,201,189 149,257,125,649 4,328,276,428 156,611,060,615

Total liabilities

21,328,074,526 93,968,882,559

12,923,823,627 24,835,080,323 153,055,861,075

2023
Corporate and Retail Treasury Group
Commercial  and Personal and Capital  Functions and
Banking Banking Markets Head Gffice Total
LEP 000 LBP 000 LBP 000 LBF 000 LBP 000
Total assets 436,213,899 29.935.076 26,529,373,049 1.715.902.294 28,681,424 318

Total liabitities

4.034.691.648 16316841581 2.732.982.895

3.536.931,266 26,621.447,390

Interest and similar mcome from exposure to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign amounted to
LBP. 427,684 millien for the year 2024 (2023: LBP.167,635 million) arising from time deposits with the
Central Bank of Lebanon and financial instruments held by the Group. The breakdown of interest and similar
income from exposure to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Eebanese sovereign is as follows:

Interest and similar income
Central Bank of Lebanon (Net)
Lebanese sovereign
Related tax on interest

2024 2023

LBP 000 LBP 000
460,752,750 171,181,378
3,813,409 6,288,833
(36,881,702) (9,835,046)
427,684,457 167,635,165
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4 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANKS
2024

LBP 0G0

Cash on hand 739,920,487

Current accounts with Central Bank of Lebanen
(Of which compulsory reserves LBP. 60.94 billion in 2024
and LBP.39,44billion in 2023)

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon

93,755,609,569
40,712,192,000

2023
LBP 000
178,385,024

14,596,919,589
7.737,752,000
40,819,261

Accrued interest receivable 64,558,570
135,272,280,626
Provision for expected credit losses (Note 33) (2,158,555,387)

22,553,875,874
(340,725,027)

133,113,725,239

22,213,150,847

Compulsory deposits with central banks are not available for use in the Bank's day-to-day operations.

Cash compulsory reserves with Central Bank of Lebanon represent non-interest earning deposits in
Lebanese Pounds computed on the basis of 25% and 15% of the average weekly sight and term
customers' deposits in Lebanese Pounds sulbject to certain exemptions in accordance with the local

banking regulations.

Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon include an amount of LBP.19,039 billion as at 31
December 2024 (LBP.3,330 billion as at 31 December 2023) representing the equivalent in foreign
currencies of amounts deposited in accordance with local banking regulations which require banks to
maintain interest earning placements in foreign currency to the extent of 14% as per BDL amendment on
circular No.86 dated 8 June 2022 (same as at 31 December 2023) of customers' deposits in foreign
currencies, certificates of deposit and borrowings obtained from non-resident financial institutions.

5 DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
2024 2023
LBP 000 LBP 000
Checks in course of callection 35,033,329 104,283,081
Current accounts 176,464,688 74,898,906
Current accounts - related parties 82,687,824 29,662,307
Term account 2,329,647,599 307,733,880
Term account - related parties 331,150,000 -
Margin accounts 1,066,061,811 192,067,058
Accrued interest receivable 1,774,600 340,370
4,022,759,851 708,985,602
Provision for expected credit losses (Note 33) (8,905,924 (2,841,140)
4,013,853,927 706,144,462

Deposits with banks and financial institutions include depesits in the amount of LBP.17.5 billion subject to
right of set-off by the related correspendents against trade finance and other facilities at 31 December
2024 (LLBP.4.5 billion against trade finance and other facilities as at 31 December 2023).
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5 DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (continued)

Margin accounts and pledged deposits are blocked against trade finance and treasury transactions and
banking facilities (refer to Note 41).

Deposits with banks and financial institutions (excluding accrued interest receivable) are distributed
-between resident and non-resident as follows:

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOO
Resident 160,520,562 123,896,273
Non-resident 3,860,404,689 584,748,959
4,020,985,251 708,645,232
6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Foreign Foreign

LBP  currencies LBP currencies

Base Base Base Base
accounts acconts Total accounty accouhls Total
LBPOOO LBPGOG LBPOOG LBPG) LBPGON LEPOOD
Quoted equity securities 25,699,925 413,342,361 439,042,286 2324230 78,075.006 80.399.256
Lebanese treasury bills 214,453 - 214,453 233,218 - 235218
Lebanese Government bonds - 1,221,004 1,221,004 - 96,300 956.300
Corporate bonds - - - - 1,064,300 1.064.300
Accrued interest receivable 0,224 - 6,224 6.361 - 6.361

25,920,602 414,563,365 440,483,967 2.565.829  79.233.606 81.801.435

The positive change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the amount of
LBP.20 billion (LBP.22 billion in 2023) is recorded under "Net interest and other gains on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss" {Note 30) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

Income.

7 RIGHT-OF-USE OF ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITY
Right of use Lease liability
LBPOOG LBPOGO
621,936 633,256

Balance as at | January 2023

Depreciation expense (1,917,891) -
395,664

[nterest expense -
Foreign exchange 6,437,326 5,246,063
Settlements (3,772,350) (2,035,953}
Balance as at 51 December 2023 1,369,021 4,239,030
Depreciation expense (8,416,379) -
Interest expense - 1,311,550
Foreign exchange 7,932,720 18,688,543
Settlements - (12,631,732)
Balance as at 3 { December 2024 885,362 11,607.391
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8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AND RELATED PARTIES

Performing retail customers — Stages 1 & 2

Housing loans
Personal loans
Overdrafis
Other

Performing corporate customers — Stages 1 & 2
Large enterprises
Smail and medium enterprises

Neon-performing loans Stage 3

Substandard

Bad and doubtful

Unearned interest
Accrued interest receivable

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Provision Net Provision Net
Carrying JSor expected carrying Carryving for expected carrying
amouni credit losses amount Amount credit losses Amount
LBPOOO LBPOOO LBPOOO LBPOGC LBPGGO LBPOOG
1,758,764 (51,089 1,707,675 3,547,500 (32,291 3,515,209
303,128,466 (14,963,663) 288,164,803 108,946,892 (774,458) 108,172,434
348,348,410 (17,505,618) 330,842,792 61,313,385 (2,051,018 59,262,367
11,860,221 (453,118) 11,407,103 6,067,123 (1,725,980} 7,341,143
455,781,656 (26,890,207) 428,891,449 119,196,012 (2,966,153) 116,229,857
252,214,043 (18,002,538) 234,211,505 81,652,422 (2,077,361) 79,575,081
1,180,236,502 (879,615,504) 300,620,998 212,453,718 (56,532,990) 155,920,728
4,869,972.,610 (3,447,803,940) 1,422,168,670 880,005,846 (536,367,982) 343,637,864

7,617,523

7,430,918,195

(4,405,285,677)

7,617,523

3,025,632,518

(3,879,522)
870,550

(3,879,522)
870,550

1,473,173,926

(602,528,235)

870,645,691
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3 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AND RELATED PARTIES (continued)

The allocation of provision for expected credit fosses by grade to their respective stage is presented as follows:

2024 2023
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime 12 month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total ECL ECL ECL Total
LBPGOO LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPGOG LBPOGO LBPOOC LBPODG LBPOM
Excellent and strong (A+) 3,739,952 - - 3,739,952 62,358 - - 62,338
Good and satisfactory (A) 60,323,117 - - 60,323,117 5,874,196 - - 5,874,196
Adequate (A-) 13,803,154 - - 13,803,154  2,i67.039 - - 2,167,039
Marginal and vulnerable - 1,523,670 - 1,523,670
(B&B-) - - - -
Substandard and doubtful
(C. D&E} - - 4327419454 4327419454 - - 592900972 392.800,972
Total gross carrying
amount 77,866,223 - 4327419454 4,405,285,677  8.103.593 1,523,670 592,900,972 602,528,235

The movement of the provision for expected credit loss for the credit impaired loans and advances during
20724 and 2023, is as follows:

2024 2023
Stage ] Stage 2 Stuge 3 Stage ! Stage 2 Stage 3
i2 month Lifetime Lifetime 12 month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Torai ECL ECL ECL Total
LEBPOOO LBPOOO LBPOOO LEPOOO LEPOGIN LaPong LBpPann LBPOGR
Balance at | January 8,103,593 1,523.670 592,900,972 602,528,235 4,288,965 7,442,859 48,061,037 60,392,861

Transfer frem/t Stage 2 - - - - i7,114,693 (17,114,693

Mo ement due ¢ changes
in balance and credit risk
within the same stage

New financial assels
criginated of purchased - - - 193,977,397 195,977,397

Difference of exchange 37,799,751 7,494,178 2,879,894,762 2,925,188,691 23,658,766 52985195 438,694 420 515338,387

31,962,879 (9,017,848) 854,623,720 877,568,751  (36,958,831) (41,789.691) (90,431,888) (169,180,410)

Balance at
3| December 77,866,223 - 4327419454 4,405 285,677 8,103,593 1,323,670 592900972 602,528,235

The changes in the carrying amounts of loans and advances to customers and related parties that contributed
to changes in foss allowances are detailed as follows (excluding accrued interest):

2024 2623
Stage | Stage 2 Srage 3 Srege | Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime 12 month Lifetime Lipatione
ECL ECL ECL Total ECL ECL Lt Tertod
LBPGOD LBPOGO LAPGOG LEBPOOG LBEU LB LB LArMY
Balance at | Tanuary 343,995,602 36,718,740 1,092,459,564  1,473,173,926 361,333,720 46,116,229 89,091,879 496,541,834
Changes in yross
carrying amount:
Transfer from/to Stage 2 (106,830,415)  (202,388,146) 309,218,561 - 176,276,581 (357,690.462) 181.413 481 -
Financial assets that
lave been derecogmised - - - - {1,233,888,215) - - (L.233888.213)

New financial assets

originnted or purchased  (427,609,690)  (16,086,186)  {640,313,314} (1,084,009,(90) - 27,188,293 35426516 62614809
Difference of exchange 1,571,153,704 181,755,572 5288844183  7,041,753,459 1040273110 321,104500 786,527,688 2,147,905 498
Balance al 3| December 1,380,709,201 © 6,050,208,99%  7430,918,195 343,995,602 36,718.760 1092459564 1473173926

Loans to related parties include an amount of LBP.[,525 million representing sale of 12,990 BSEC shares
(2023: same).
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Financial assets at amortised cost (A)

Accrued interest receivable

Provision for expected credit losses

Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese Government
Bonds recorded in LBP

Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates of deposit
denominated in foreign currency recorded in LBP

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income {B)

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

v of e/v of
LBP  foreign currency Total LBP  foreign currency Total
LBPOGO LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPOOO LEPOOO LBPOOO
95,948,364 17,443,601,579 17,539,549,943 132,082,515 3,454,720,266 3,586,802,781
2,812,472 15,080,750 21,893,222 3,383,683 10,457,076 13,840,759
- (1,522,395) (1,522,395) - (255,150) (255,150)
- (5,296,065,257) (5,296,065,257) - (790,737,176) (790,737,176)
- (194,717,754) (194,717,754) - (35,678,293) {35,678,293)
98,760,836 11,970,376,923 12,069,137,759 135,466,198 2,638,506,723 2,773,972,921
615,120 560,319,308 560,934,428 615,120 212,902,225 213,517,345
615,120 560,319,308 560,934,428 615,120 212,902,225 213,517,345
99,375,956 12,530,696,231 12,630,072,187 136,081,318 2.851,408,948 2,987,490,266
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost:

Lebanese treasury bills

Lebanese Governmeat bonds

Pravision for expected credit losses on Lebanese Government Bonds
recorded in LBP

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon

Provision for expected credit losses on certificaies of deposit
denominated in foreign currency recorded in LBP

Corperate bonds

Lebanese treasury bills

Lebanese Government bonds

Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese Government Bonds
recorded in LBP

Certificates of deposit issued by the Cenual Bank of Lebanon

Provisior for expected credit fosses on certificates of deposit
dengmnated in foreign currency recorded in LBP

Corporate bonds

31 December 2024

LBF Buase Accounts C/V of foreign currency Base Accounts
Provision Net Accrued Provision Net Acerued
Amortized Jor expected carrping interest Amartized Jfor expected carrying Interest
cost credit losses amont recefvable cost credit {osses umaount Receivable
LBPOOG LBPOGG LBPOOG LBPOOO LBPOGY LBPOOC LBPOGO LBPOOO
41,888,387 - 41,888,387 977,767 - - - -
- - - - 7,060,524,940 (5.296,065,257) 1,764,459,683 -
54,059,977 - 54,059,977 1,834,705 10,392,526,632 (194,717,754} 16,107,808,885 19,080,750
- - - - 80,550,000 (1,522,398) 79,027,605 -
95,948,364 - 95,948,364 2,812,472 17.443,601,579 (5,492,305,406) 11,951,296,173 19,080,750

3! December 2023

LBFP Base Accounts CV of forewgin currency Base Accounts
Provision Net Acerued Provision Net Accrued
Amortized Jor expected carrying interest Amartized Jor expected carrying {iiterest
cos! credit losses amount recervable cost credit losses amount Receivable
LBPOOG LBPONN LEPOON LEPNOG LBPOOD LBPIOO LBPOO0 LBPOOG
77,265,886 - 77,266,886 1.575.076 - - - -
- - - - 1.183,328,203 (790,737.176) 392,391,027 -
34,815,629 - 54,815,629 1,808,607 2,257,892,063 {33,678,293) 2,222.213,770 10457076
- - - 13,500,000 (255,150) 13,244,850 -
132,082,515 132,082,515 3,383,683 3.434.720.266 (826.670.619) 2,628,049 647 10437 .076

65



BANQUE BEMO S.A L.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The remaining periods to maturity of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in Lebanese Pounds

exciuding accrued interest, are as follows:

Lebanese treasury bills:
Up to one vear

1to 3 years

3 to 5years

Certificates of deposit issued

by the Central Bank of Lebanon:

Up to one year
I 1o 3 years
3tc 5> vears

Lebanese treasury bills:
Up to one vear

1to3 vears

30 5 vears

Certificates of deposit issued

by the Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one vear

110 3 vears

3 to 5 vears

31 December 2024

LBP Buase Accounts
Provision Net
Nominal Amaortized Sfor expected Carrying
value cost credit losses amountt
LBPOOO LBPOOO LBPOOG LBPOOO
15,398,500 15,473,167 - 15,473,167
25,128,000 25,494,770 - 25,494,770
920,450 920,450 - 920,450
41,446,950 41,888,387 - 41,888,387
4,000,000 4,032,058 - 4,032,050
49,000,000 50,027,927 - 50,027,927
53,000,000 54,059,977 - 54,059,977
94,446,950 95,948,364 - 95,948,364

37 December 2023

LBF Base Accounts
Pravision Net
Nominal Amortized Jor expecited Carrying
valfue cost credit losses ot
LBPOOO LBPGOON LBPOGD LBPGHO
34,910.200 35,047.512 - 35.047.512
34,283.500 34,934 773 - 34,934,773
7,163,456 7.284,601 - 7.284.601
76,357.150 77,266,886 - 77.266.880
53.000,000 54 813,629 - 54.815.629
53,000,000 54.815.629 54.815.629
§29.357,150 132.082.515 - 132.082.515
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The remaining perieds to maturity of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in foreign currencies

exclading accrued interest, are as follows:

Contractual maturity

Lebapese Government bonds:
Upto ! vear

lto 3 years

3 to 5 vears

510 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued

by the Central Bank of Lebanon:

Upto | year

1to 3 vears

3 to 10 vears

More than 10 vears

Corporate bonds:
Upto [ vear
3 to 5 vears

31 December 2024

Foreign currencies Base Accounts

Nominal
value

LBPO0O
4,333,769,000

3,198,730,000
125,300,000

Amartized
cost
LBPOOO

4,147,450,606

2,798,460,612
114,613,722

7,657,799,000

6,945,200,000
2,004,800,000
447,500,000
895,000,000

7,060,524,940

6,048,979,002
2,007,705,422
450,842,215
895,000,000

10,292,500,000

80,550,000

80,550,000

18,030,849,000

10,302,526,639

§0,550,000

80,550,000

17,443,601,579

Provision
Sor expected
credit losses
LBPOOD

(3,167,161,532)

(2,045,142,876)
(83,760,849)

(5,296,065,257)

(131,335,703)
(37,945,633)
(8,520,918)
(16.915,500}

(194,717,754)

Net

carrying
amount

LBPOOO
980,289,074

753,317,736
30,852,873

1,764,459,683

6,817,643,299
1,969,759,789
442,321,297
878,084,500

10,107,808,885

(1,522,395) 79,027,605
(1,522,395) 79,027,605
(5,492,305,406)  11,951,296,173
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITILES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost {continued)

Contractual maturity

Lebanese Government bonds:
. Upto | year

1 to 3 years

310 5 years

5to 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued

by the Central Bank of Lebanon:

Upto 1 year
{10 3 years
3to 5 years
Sto 10 years

Corporate bonds:
Upto 1 year
310 5 years

Nominal
value

LBPOOG

490,830,000
235,500,000

557,100,000

1,283,430,600

528,000,000
1,164,000,000
336,000,000
225,000,000

Amortized
cost
LBPOOO

460,814,727
234,288,726

488,224,750

1.183,328.203

31 December 2023
Foreign currencies Base Accounts

Provision
for expected
credif [osses

LBPNX

(307,930,915)
(156,559,106)

(326,247,155)

(790,737,176}

529,369,985
1.166,199,618
336,657,980
225,604,480

(8.364,886)
(18,427,815)
(5,319,733)
(3.565,859)

2,253,000,000

13,500,000

13,500,000

3,549,930,000

2,257,892,063

13,500,000

13,500,000

(35,678.293)

(255,150

(255,150)

3,454,720,266

(826,670,619)

Net
carrying
amoul
LBPOGO

152,883,812
77,729,620

161,977,595

392,591,027

521,005,099
1,147.771,803
331,338,247
222,098,621

2,222,213,770

13,244 850
13,244 850

2,628,049,647
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost {continued}

The movement of financia assets at amortized cost, denominated in Lebanese Pounds excluding
accrued interest, is summarized as follows:

2024
Certificates of
deposit issued
Lebanese by the Lebanese
Treasury Central Bank  Corporate Government
bills of Lebanon bonds Bonds Total
LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPOOO LBPOGO LBPOOO
Balance at 1 January 77,266,886 54,815,629 - - 132,082,515
Redemption (34,910,200) - - - (34,910,200
Net variation in premium (468,299) (755,652) - - (1,223,951)
Balance at 31 December 41,888,387 54,059,977 - - 95,948,364
2023
Cerrificates of
deposit issued
Lebanese by the Lebanese
Treasury Central Bank  Corporate  Government
billy of Lebanon bonds Bonds Total
LBPOOO LBPOGO LBPGOO LBPDOD LBPOOO
Balance at | January 81,714,432 65,595,880 - - 147310312
Redemption {3,841,350) {10,000,000% - - {13.841,350)
Met variation in premium (606,196) (780.251) - - (1,386,447)
Balance at 31 December 77.266.886 54,815,629 - - 132,082,515
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

A- Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The movement of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in foreign currencies excluding
accrued interest, i1s summarized as follows:

Balance at 1 January

Addition

Redemption

Net variation in premium
Difference of exchange

Provision for expected credit losses

Balance at 31 December

Balance at | January

Addition

Redemption

Net variation in premium
Difference of exchange

Provision for expected credit losses

Balance at 31 December

2024

Certificates of
deposit issned

Lebanese by the
Government Ceniral Bank Corporate
bonds of Lebanon Bonds Total
LEPOGH LBPOGO LBPOOG LEBPOOO
392,591,026 2,222,213,771 13,244,850 2,628,049,647
- (3,150,400,000) - (3,150,400,000)
- (19,162,671) - (19,162,671)
1,949,868,763 11,036,995,060 65,782,755 13,052,646,578
(578,000,106 18,162,725 - {559,837,381)
1,764,459,683 10,107,808,885 79,027,605 11,951,296,173
2023

Certificates of

deposit issued

Lebanese by the

Government Central Bank Corporate

bonds of Lebanon Bonds Total
LBPOOO LEPOOO LBPOC LBPGOO
57,545,398 133,030,825 1,329,057 191,905,280
- 1,500,000,000 - 1,500,000,000
- (600,000,G00) - (600,000,000)
- (1,476,028) - (1,476,028)
515,045,629 1,190,658,973 11,895,396 1. 717,599,998
(180,000,000 - 20,397 (179,979,603)
392,591,027 2,222,213.770 13,244,850 2,628,049,647
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)

B- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are broken down as follows:

31 December 2024

LBP Base Accounts

C/V of F/Cv Base Accounts

Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

LBPGOG LBPOOO LBPOOO LBPOOG

Unquoted equity securities 615,120 615,120 1,050,466,417 536,825,558
Quoted equity securities - - 469,875,000 23,493,750
615,120 615,120 1,520,341,417 560,319,308

31 December 2023
LEBF Base Accounts C/V of F/Cv Base Accounts

Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

LBPOGO LBPOOO LBPOOC LBPOOO

Unguoted equity securities 615,120 615,120 176,070,895 208,964,725
Quoted equity securities - - 78,750,000 3,937,500
615,120 615,120 254,820,895 212,902,225

During 2023, the Group disposed of its investment in “La Banque Qutarde LBO S.A.” amounting to
Eur 534,000 for an amount of Eur 533,447 resulting in a loss net of swift expense to LBP.7 million.

The movement of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, denominated in

foreign cuirencies, is summarized as follows:

Balance at | January

Redemption

Effect of exchange rates changes

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December

Balance at | January

Redemption

Effect of exchange rates changes

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income

Baiance at 31 December

2024
Unguoted Quoted
equity equity
securities securities Total
LBPOGO LBPOGO LBPOGH
208,964,725 3,937,500 212,902,225
1,037,768,211 19,556,250  1,057,324,461
(709,907,378) - (709,907,378)
536,825,558 23,493,750 560,319,308
2023
Unguoted Quoted
equity equity
securities securities Total
LBPOOO LBPOOO LBPGOC
18,550,487 395,719 18,946,206
(8,521,843) - (8,521,843)
166,042,251 3,541,781 169,584,032
32,893,830 - 32,893,830
208,564,725 3,937,500 212,902,225
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10 ASSETS UNDER LEVERAGE ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE CENTRAL BANK OF LEBANON

2024 2023
LBPOOG LBPOOO

Assets under leverage arrangements:
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon - 335,608,000
- (335,608,000

Less/- Leverage arrangements

Assets under leverage arrangement consisting of term placements in LBP with the Central Bank of
Lebanon (earning 10% interest) originated from and are pledged against the corresponding leverage
arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon for the same amounts in LBP (bearing 2% interest),
purpose of which is to provide yield adjustment on certain transactions related to either fresh deposits in
foreign currency or sale of foreign currency against LBP placed in term deposits at the Central Bank of
Lebanon and/or Government securities in foreign currency. The leverage and related pledged assets
mechanism resulted in a yield enhancement on the following financial assets:

2024 2023

LBPGOO LBPOGO

Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon - 261,082,630
Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost 33,904 450 60,781,040
33,904,450 321,863,670

During 2419, the Bank signed with the Central Bank of Lebanon a netting agreement allowing to offset
the "assets under leverage arrangement” versus the borrowing from the Central Bank. The agreement
covered financial assets and liabilities resulting from transactions that took place before the netting
agreement date that have not yet matured. As such the Bank has presented "term deposits with the
Central Bank of Lebanon” and term borrowing from Central Bank of Lebanon” on a net basis for the

vears ended 31 December 2023.

During 2024, the Central Bank of Lebanon requested banis in Lebanon to offset these accounts.
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11 ASSETS ACQUIRED IN SATISFACTION OF LOANS

Assets acquired mn satisfaction of loans have been acquired through foreclosure of security over loans and
advances.

The acquisition of assets in settlement of loans in Lebanon is regulated by the banking regulatory authorities
and these assets are to be liquidated within 2 years from acquisition. In case of default of liquidation, a
regulatory reserve is to be appropriated from the yearly net profits. This regulatory reserve is reflected under
equity. In 2024, the bank released an amount of LBP.1,610 million 1o free reserves. An amount of LBP.130
million was appropriated from 2023 result according to the resolution of general assembly held on 10

September 2024.

The movement of assets acquired n satisfaction of loans during 2024 and 2023 is detailed as follows:

LEBPOGO
Balance at 31 December 2023, same as | January 2,585,121
Revaluation as per Law 330 and decision 715/1 401,426,829
Disposals (373,662,500}
Balance at 31 December 2024 30,349,450

In 2024, the Group disposed of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans at cost for an amount of LBP 374
billion, thus realizing a positive difference between expert revalued value and cost, subject to income tax on
sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans according to Ministry of Finance Decision 715/1 dated 1* of
August 2025 for an amount of L.BP.252 billion {net} recorded under “Other income {Net)” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income) (Note 36).
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Gross amount

Balance at 1 January 2023
Additions

Disposals

Difference of exchange
Revaluation as per Law 330

Balance at 31 December 2023 (Restated)
Revatuation

Additions

Disposals

Transier

Ditference of exchange

Balance at 31 December 2024

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 Janvary 2023
Additions

Disposals

Difterence of exchange
Revaluation as per Law 330

Balance at 31 December 2023 (Restated)
Additions

Disposals

Difference of exchange

Balance at 31 December 2024

Carrying amounts
31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Computer
Land Buildings Furniture Equipment Vehicles
LBPOOD LBPOOO LBPOGD LBPOOD LBPOOO
15.141.331 17.582.803 3.363.987 8,767,785 535.24%
- - 1.375 982,853 -
- - (11,530) {7.022) -
- - 512323 1.029.483 -
830.502.669 1.217.613,766 - - -
8063.644.000 1.235.196.57] 3.868.335 10.773.104 533.249
~ 1,191,446,335 - - - -
- - 2,250,000 7,313,820 -
- (36,383,997} - - -
- 165,791,362 - - -
- - 4,057,568 5,526,485 -
865,644,000 2,556,050,271 10,175,903 23,613,409 535,249
- 4,484.550 2,416,633 6,734,892 464,501
- 686,797 160.177 375,044 51,638
- - (11.548) (7.019) -
- - 540.084 995,571 -
- 440.180.356 - - -
- 445.351.703 3,103,346 8208588 316,839
- 57,022,933 199,376 1,547,150 15,099
- (19,496,797) - - .
- 4,037,569 5,511,666 -
- 482,877,839 7,362,291 15,357,404 531,938
865,644,000 2,073,172,432 2,813,612 8,256,005 3,311
865.644.000 789.844 868 762985 2474516 18,410

Installations

and Advances

leasehold on capital
improvement expenditure Total
LBPOOG LBPOOO LBPOOO
12,143,088 48.291.057 105,827.302
507.060 3,509,803 5.401.291
- - (18.572)
2,026,626 - 3,568.437
- - 2,068.116,435
14,676,774 52,200.860 2.182,894.893
- - 1,191,446,335
- 133,035,978 142,599,798
- - (36,383,997)
19,445,476 (185,236,838) -
12,597,727 - 22,181,780
46,719,977 - 3,502,738,809
9432326 - 23,333.402
792,133 - 2,266.089
- - (18.567)
2,026,628 - 3.362,283
- - 440,180.336
12,251,087 - 469,523,543
817,686 - 59,602,244
- - (19,496,791
12,597,728 - 22,166,963
25,666,501 - 531,795,973
21,053,476 - 2,970,942 ,836
2,425,687 52,200,860 1.713.371.330
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iz PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group revalued land and buildings during 2019 for an amount of LBP000.7,4%4 444 and LBP000.9,419,620
respectively, net of tax for a total of LBP000.16,914,064.

Additions to advances on capital expenditures during 2024 on plot 660 located in Medawar for an amount of
LBP000.133,035,978, out of which registration, notary and other fees for an amount of LBP000.84,978,17C.
The purchase value of the said plot is USD.25,701,000 ¢/v LBP000.2,300,239,500. This property is subject to a
mottgage of USD.14,000,000, cancelled on 29" of September 2025,

Additions to computer equipment in the amount of LBP000.7,213,820 represents the Group’s purchases during
2024 of desktops and hardware.

During 2024, the Group disposed of premises for an amount of LBP000.17,900,000 with a net book vaiue of
LBP000.16,887,200, thus a profit of LBPG00.1,012,800 included under “Other income, (net)” in the staternent

of comprehensive income (Note 36).

All Bank’s premises are subject to seizure except plot 660 located in Medawar.

As at 31 December 2023, fair value of the Land and Building was determined using the market comparable
method. The valuations have been performed by BDL expert. As at the date of revaluation, the properties’ fair
value is based on valuation carried out by BDL expert accredited by the local regulator (BDL), approved by
BDL on February 13, 2025, The revaluation amounted to LBP000.2,949,646,888. The bank used revaluation

amounted to LBP00(.2,819,382.413.

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased

Software

LBPOHOG
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2023 6,700,530
Additions 454,925
Disposals -
Balance at 31 December 2023 7,155,455
Additions 16,257,577
Disposals -
Balance at 31 December 2024 23,413,032
Amortization
Balance at 1 January 2023 6,273,271
Amortization of the year 179,480
Disposals -
Balance at 31 December 2023 6,452,751
Amortization of the year 1,900,850
Disposals -
Balance at 31 December 2024 8,353,601
Carrying amounts
31 December 2024 15,059,431
31 December 2023 702,704

During 2024, the Bank implemented a new software and upgraded the old one for an amount of
LBP000.16,257,577.
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14 OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023

LBPOGO LBPGDO

Exchange difference on fixed exchange position - 231,654
Fair value of forward exchange contracts - 3,442,673
Interbranch accounts 37,567,891 19,948 854
Stamps 241,642 244,759
Receivables from subsidiaries (a) 184,938 -
Prepayments 59,552,228 8,830,301
Receivables from the Central Bank of Lebanon (b) 4,350,472 1,515,075
Receivables from a financial institution — credit and operations 83,414,300 21,011,425
Receivables from the National Security Social Fund 11,598,459 6,781,624
Advances to employees 4,990,290 759,813
Receivables from doubtful client in Cyprus 106,672,709 19,010,708
Sundry accounts receivable 68,285,865 25,267,105

376,798,794 107,043,991
Provision for expected credit losses {Note 33 (6,737,096} (2,880,550)

" 370,061,698 104,163 441

Provision of LBP.3,857 million was set up during 2024 against receivables from the National Social Security
Fund (LBP.1,619 million for the year 2023). Total provision as at 31 December 2024 amounts to LBP.6,737
million {LBP.2,881 million as at 31 December 2023).

(a) Receivables from two subsidiaries representing an cutstanding amount and an amount paid on their behalf
(2023: Receivable from one subsidiary representing an outstanding amount). The amount paid on behalf of one
subsidiary is subject to annual interest rate of 6.50% amounting to LBP.185 million booked and recorded under
interest income in the statement of comprehensive income (2023: Nil).

(b) Receivables from the Central Bank of Lebanon represents the aggregate amount due to the Bank as a result
of the conversion by customers of restricted foreign currency deposits in accordance with BDL Circular 161
dated 16 December 2021 (2023: BDL Civcular # 151 dated 21 April 2020 the platform rate of LBP.15,000
starting ¥ February 2023 and LBP.§,000 during January 2023, and circular 161 dated 16 December 2021).

15 DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024 2023

LBPGGO LBPOOO

Current deposits of banks and financial institutions 4,023,779,484 085,897,051
Current deposits - Related parties 23,354,177,790 3,125,369,775
Acceptance related to doubtful client - 85,411,620
Money market deposits 1,271,500,000 535,000,000
Short term loans 478,166,940 -
Money market deposits - Related parties 1,689,664,375 368,696,267
Accrued interest payable 22,318,200 14,518,860
Accrued interest payable - Related parties 71,206,367 -

30,910,813,156  S,114,893,573
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16 CUSTOMERS AND RELATED PARTIES ACCOUNTS AT AMORTIZED COST

Deposits from customers

Current and demand deposits

Current and demand deposits — related parties
Term deposits — related parties

Term deposits

Cash collateral

Margins and other accounts

Margins for irrevocable import letters of credit
Margins on letters of guarantee

Other margins

Margins on trading transactions

Accrued interest payable

Deposits from customers are aliocated by brackets of deposits as follows:

2024
LBPOOY

107,522,612,872
650,574,883
5,719,567,286
186,422,000

2,194,988
186,148,744
803,586,180

4,475,000

4,927,188

2023
LEPCOO

18,761,088,959
108,509,781
722214
1.279,067,324
31,548,964

236,205
35,394,273
135,957,034
750,000

2,625,125

115,080,509,141

20,355,899,87%

2024 2023

% to % to total % to % tototal

Total total No. of Total toral No.of

deposits deposits  customers deposits  deposits  Customers

LBPOGD % % LBPOGH % %

Less than LBP.200 63,937,813 0.06 19.11 139,049,300 0.68 34.81

million

From LBP.200 million to

LBP.L.5 billion 1,018,777,172 0.89 20.86 1,878,394,584 9,23 31.64

QOver LBP.1.5 billion 113,997,794,156 99.05 60.03 18,338,455,995 20.09 3353

115,080,509,141 100.00 100.00  20,355,859,879 100.00 100.00

Term deposits as at 31 December 2024 include fiduciary deposits received from a non-resident related party
bank in the amount of LBP.62.7 billion (2023: LBP.10,5 billion).

The average balances of customers’ deposits at amortized cost, including related party deposits, and related cost

of funds over the last 3 vears were as follows;

Foreign currency Base Accounts

LBP Buse Accounts

Average Average

balance interest

of deposits rafe

LBPOOO %

2024 263,661,107 5.88
2023 221,269,076 316
2022 255,337,623 220
2021 168,333,874 1.42

Average
balance

of deposits
LBPOOO
116,984,548,420
20,396,701,417
2,254,502,410
2,391,494,096

Average
interest
rate

%

0.068
0.13
0.26
0.57

Cost
of funds
LBPOOY

94,581,468
33,204,256
11,515,572
15,524 513
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17 OTHER TERM BORROWINGS

2024 2023
LBPOOG LBPOGO
Other term borrowings

237,951,641 120,105,912

Other term borrowings, represent borrowing from Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP being facilities in
accordance with Central Bank of Lebancn Basic Decision No. 6116 of 7 March 1996 and its amendments by
which the Bank benefited from credit facilities granted against loans the Group has granted, at its own risk, to its
customers, pursuant to certain conditions, rules and mechanism.

The movement of other term borrowings during 2024 and 2023 is summarized as follows:

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOG
Balance at 1 January 120,105,912 72,927,976
Settlements (158,192,555) (17,643,069)
Difference of exchange 276,038,284 64,821,005
Balance at 31 December 237,951,641 120,105,912
18 OTHER LIABILITIES
2024 2023
LBPOOY LBPOOO
Current tax liability (a) 1,246,759 31,607,897
Withheld tax on salaries 2,654,052 5,624,280
Withheld tax on interest 822,315 352,480
Withheld tax on non-resident 3,071,921 427402
Withheld tax on dividend - 5,036
Lumpsum tax on turm over 928,678 028,678
Due to the National Social Security Fund 3,411,919 1,569,626
Checks and incoming payment orders in course of settlement 94,672,899 24,611,157
Checks on BDL (b} 1,167,803,704 -
Fair value forward exchange contracts 14,989,819 -
[nterbranch accounts in foreign currencies 134,513,711 -
Advances from customer 17,900,690 -
Ctients prefunded accounts (c) 45,964,735 20,282,646
Sundry accounts payable (d) 396,672,955 57,874,599
Accried expenses 161,938,436 37,108,823
Amount payable to related party 29,345,896 251,579
Deferred revenue 6,287,786 1,918,794
Other taxes payable (e) 217,189,372 39,164,918
Positien (circulars 151 - 158 - 161) 4,371,610 713,426

2,303,786,657

222,441,341
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18 OTHER LTIABILITIES (continued)

{a} The determination of income tax of the Group is presented as follows:

2024 2023

LBPOOG LBPOGO

(Loss) profit before income tax (52,207,999} 65,124,132

Add: Non-deductible expenses/losses 1,079,662,197 118,727,717
Less:

- Non-taxable revenues/gains (972,197,492) -

- Non-taxable Difference of exchange (Net) as per Law 330 {4.311,439,047) -

Taxable (Joss) income for the year (4,256,182,341) 183,851,849

Enacted tax rate in Lebanon 17% 17%

- 31,255,000

Add: Income tax provision ~ Subsidiaries 1,246,759 352,897

Current tax hability 1,246,759 31,607,897

(b) Checks on BDL which represent checks issued on Central Bank of Lebanon according to BCCL memo
no.1/2024 dated 04/06/2024.

(c) Clients prefunded accounts include amounts deposited by clients related to their debit cards, kept within the
banks accounts.

(d) Sundry accounts payable include dormant customers’ accounts in Banque Bemo Cyprus with aggregate
balances of LBP.138,92 billion (USD.1,361,155 and EUR.182,950) transfeired to Beirut during 2020 to be
settled in transferrable funds when claimed by the related customers (2023: Limassol Branch LBP.23,68
billion (USD. 1,375,076 and EUR.182,950)).

{e) Other taxes payable include the 7% taxes payable by the Group on credit interest accounts.

The Group’s tax returns for fiscal years 2018 to 2024 remain subject to review and assessment by the tax
authorities. Any additional liability depends on the outcome of these reviews.
The Social Security department reviewed the Group accounts till September 2021 incfusive.

19 PROVISIONS

Provisions consist of the following:

2024 2023
LBPOOG LBPGOD

Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnities 277,467,168 75,339,919

Provision for contingencies 447,500 75,000

Provision for loss on foreign currency position 54,000 285,654

Provision for expected credit losses (Note 33) 1,100,724,421 184,640,704

1,378,693,089

260,341277

79



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3] December 2024

19 PROVISTONS {(continued)

The movement of provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnity was as foliows:

2024 2023

LBPOOY LBPOOD

Balance at [ January 75,339,919 13,287,627

Additions (Note 34) 37,868,045 32,968,231

Settlements (4,085,738) (1,055,365)

Exchange difference 168,344,962 30,139,426

Balance at 3] December 277,467,168 73,339919
20 SUBORDINATED BONDS

This caption consists of the following:

2024 2023

LBPOOD LBPO0Y

Subordinated bonds 3,132,500,000 325,000,000

- 18,526,178

Accrued interest

3,132,500,000 543,526,178

The Exceptional General Assembly of shareholders approved in its meeting held on 5 September 2017 the
issuance of subordinated bonds in the amount of USD.35 million divided into 3,500 bonds of USD. 14,060
nominal value each. These bonds were issued on 7 December 2017, mature on 4 January 2024, and are subject
to an annual interest rate of 7% payable on 30 June and 31 December of each year.

Interest expense on subordinated bonds for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounting to LBP.403 million is
recorded under “Interest expense” in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income (LBP.33,94 billion
for the year ended 31 December 2023) (Note 27).

In accordance with banking laws and regulations, subordinated bonds are considered as Tier I1 capital for the
purposes of computaticn of Risk Based Capital Ratio, to be amortized over a period of 5 years till maturity.

21 SHARE CAPITAL

In its meeting held on June 25, 2019 the Board of Directors ratified the increase of the Bank’s capital as
resolved by the Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders in their meeting held on 6 May 2019 whereby
the Bank’s capital increased by LBP.15,562,000,000 from LBP.62,248,000,000 to LBP.77,810,000,000 and thus
by transferring the equivalent amount of the increase from the retained earnings account to the capital and by
issuing 15,500,000 nominal shares of LBP.1,004 each, distributed to the shareholders each according to their
percentage of ownership in the Bank’s capital.

Pursuant to the issuing of Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate Circular No. 532 on November 4©, 2019, the
General Assembly held on 2 Mairch 2020 approved the increase of the Banl’’s capital by 10% of Common
Equity Tier One calculated as of 31 December 2018 through cash contributions in US Dollars in the amount of
USD.14,370,000. During 2021, a second increase of USD.12,935,000 was booked, representing cash

contribution, for a total of 20%.

The Bank’s capital as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is composed of 77,500,000 listed issued shares of
LBP.1,004 each authorized and fully paid.
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21 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The movement of treasury shares during 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

2024 2023
Number Number

of shares Amount of shares Amount

LBPOOY LBPOOO

Balance at 1 January 1,113,237 2,857,660 1,145,158 3,570,832
Additions - - 12,500 119,722
Sales — Distribution - - (44.421) (832,894)
Balance at 3[ December 1,113,237 2,857,660 1,113,237 2,857,660

22 PREFERRED SHARES

On 19 December 2013, the Bank issued Non-cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares in the amount of USD.35
million (LBP.52 billion} on the basis of 350,000 shares at USD. 100, The Bank offered discounts to preferred
shares subscribers for the aggregate amount of USD 80,960 (LBP.122 million). These preferred shares generate

dividends at an annual rate of 7%.

23 SHAREHOLDERS’ CASH CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL

The sharehelders’ cash contribution to capital for the amount of LBP.29 billion (USD.19,306,788) as at 31
December 2019 represents cash injections made by the shareholders in the formn of sharehelders® cash
contribution to capital, each to the extent of his/her shareholding in the Bank’s share capital. Effective 2011, the
General Assembly of shareholders approved to call-off interest on the above cash contribution to capital.

During 2020, the Bank followed the requirements of the Central Bank of Lebanon regarding the increase in
common equity Tier I as at 31 December 2018 by 20% in foreign currencies by 31 December 2020 which was
later extended to 28 February 2021. The Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders held on 2
March 2020 called the first payment of cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD. 14,370,000
{C/V LBP.21.67 billion) subject to a yearly interest rate 7% payable from unrestricted profits after securing the

approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon.

On 30 November 2020, the Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders called the second payment
of cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD.12,935,000 (C/V LBP.19 billion) subject to a
yearly interest rate of 3% payable from uvnrestricted profits after securing the approval of the Central Bank of

Lebanon.
Cash contribution to capital amounted of LBP.70 billion as at 31 December 2024 (2023 same).

This sort of financial instrument is accounted for in forzign currency and therefore allows hedging against
national currency exchange fluctuation. According to local banking regulations, cash contribution to share
capital is considered as Tier [ capital.

24 RESERVES

2024 2023

LBPOOG LBPOGO

Legal reserve (a) 14,856,799 14,470,249
Non-distributable reserve 61,086,283 61,086,283
Reserve for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans (Note 11) 80,727 1,690,360
Free reserves 12,330,578 10,590,676
88,354,387 87,837,568

Revaluation Reserve (b) 2,985,587,486 1,644,850,(43
3,073,941,873 1,732,687,711
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24 RESERVES (continued)

{2) In accordance with the requirements of the Lebanese Money and Credit Law, the Bank transfers since its
inception 10% of its net income to the legal reserve account. This reserve is not available for distribution.

(&) In accordance with the requirements of the Ministry of Finance Law 330 dated 04 December 2024 and

decision 715/1 dated 01 August 2025.

Balance at 1 January
Add:-/
Revaluation

Less:-/
Release related to assets in satisfaction of loans sold

Balance at 31 December

2024
LBPOOO
1,644,850,143

1,592,873,163

(252,135,820)

2023
LBFPOOG
16,914,064

[,627,936,079

2,985,587,486

1,644,850,143

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation reserve in
equity. However, to the exient that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized i
profit or loss, the increase is recognized in profit and loss. As per decision 715/1, the positive difference in value
between the expert and cost is booked in a separate account, when the asset is sold this difference is subject to

Income tax.

25 CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement of the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

during 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Net changes in fair values during the year
Difference of exchange

Balance at 31 December

26 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income from:
Term deposits with central banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Deposits with related party banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at amortized cost
Loans and advances to customers
L.oans and advances to related parties
Interest realized on impaired loans and advances to customers

Less: Withheld taxes

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOD
186,847,161 (286,317)
(888,273,639) (41,918,670)
1,233,320,426 229,052,148
531,893,948 186,847,161
2024 2023
LEPOOO LBPOOO
282,532,168 130,977,947
55,580,927 8,407,745
7,035,198 4,903,417
189,088,002 46,492,264
123,242,048 86,801,632
1,202,570 253,342
87,833,888 48,128,039
746,514,801 323,964,386
(36,881,702) (9,835,046)
709,633,099 316,129,340
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27 INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense on:
Borrowing from Central Bank of Lebanon
Deposits and borrowings from banks and financial institutions
Deposits and borrowings from related party banks and financial instituticns
Customers’ accounts at amortized cost
Related parties” accounts at amortized cost
Subordinated bonds (Note 20)
Interest expense-lease liability

28 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Commission on documentary credits
Commission on letters of guarantee
Service fees on customers’ transactions *
Other

2024 2023
LBPOO) LBPOOO
3,487,498 1,690,278
598,795,188 147,964,476
71,567,674 7,985,703
80,637,873 29,085,888
4,394 11,094
402,589 33,942,601
1,073,033 265,164
755,968,249 220,946,204
2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPGOO
26,850 {1,880
22,627,563 5,262,451
537,256,431 208,189,586
207,629,483 50,977,246
767,540,327 264,441,163

(*} Service fees on customers’ transactions for the year 2024 in the amount of LBP.537 billion (2023: 208
billion), represent fees eamed on clients’ transactions related to cash withdrawal (2023: BDL circular 16( and
cash withdrawal), out of which an amount of LBP.169 billion for the year 2024 related to Bemo Saudi Fransi

BBSF (related party) (2023: LBP.24,5 billion).
29 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE
Commission on transactions with banks

Commission on transactions with related party banks
Other

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOO
(105,000 3,526,401
17,467,809 3,028273
8,874,706 4,033,197
26,237,515 10,587,871

30 NET INTEREST AND OTHER GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Interest received on debt securities
Unrealized gain, net (Note &)
Realized gain (loss)

2024
LBPOOO
18,933
20,333,587
1,324,418

21,676,938

2023
LBPGOY
19,123
21,660,723
(46.480)

21,633,366
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31 PROFIT ON EXCHANGE, NET
2024 2023
LBPOOY LBPOOO
Change of official rate * 4,099,640,917 350,868,747
Partial settlement of shortage i Position **# (3,139,565,218) (12,966,639)
Other customers operations, net 240,180,209 46,559,677
1,200,255,908 384,461,785

(*) In 2024, the change of official rate from LBP.15,000 to LBP.89,500 from | February 2024 resulted in net
gain on exchange amounted to LBP.4,100 billion (2023: the change of official rate from LBP.1,507.50 to
LBP.15,000 from 1% February 2023 resulted in a gain on exchange amounted to LBP.351 billion).

(**} In order to partially settle the shortage in open position due to increase of provisions, the Bank purchased
dollars with book losses amounted to LBP.3,140 billion during 2024 (2023: LBP.13 billion) and were recorded

under profit on exchange, net.

32 OTHER OPERATING INCOME, (NET)

2024 2023

LBPOGO LBPOOO

Revenues and commissions from securitization operations 32,423,323 11,175,478
Others 140,310,923 30,615,194

172,734,246 41,790,672
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33 PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES, NET
Deposits
with
Depuosits banks and
with Sinancial
central banks institutions
LEBPOOO LBPOGO
Balance at 1 January 2023 23,690,365 283,618
Additions 105,000,000 1,500,668
Write-back - -
Write-offs - -
Transfers - -
Difference of exchange 212,034,662 1,056,854
Balance at 31 December 2023 340,725,027 2,841,140
Balance at | January 2024 340,725,027 2,841,140
Additions 125,562,725 1,304
Write-back - (7,986,796)
Write-offs - -
Transfers - -
Difference of exchange 1,692,267,635 14,050,276
Balance at 31 December 2024 2,158,555,387 8,905,924

Financial

Loans and assets
advances classified at

tor amortized

customers cast
LEBPOGO LBPOGO
60,392 861 64,592 447
229,756,542 180,000,000
{189,325,290) (20,401
(13,634,265) -
515,338,387 581,698,573
602,528,235 826,670,619
602,528,235 826,670,619
973,401,551 559,837,380
(94,134,307) -
(463,727) -
2,923,953,925 4,105,797,407

4,405,285,677

5,492,305,406

Indirect

and

Qther unulilized
ssets Sfacilities
LBPOOO LBPOOO
1,177,642 159,000
1,702,508 107,842,423
- (3,053,801)

- 71,963,570

- 7,729,512
2,880,550 184,640,704
2,880,550 184,640,704
3,856,546 8,770,716
- (8,975,226}

- 916,288,227
6,737,096 1,100,724,421

Total
LBPOGG
150,695,933
625,802,541
(192,399.452)
(13,634,265)
71,963,570
1,317,857,988

1,960,286,275
1,960,286,275
1,671,430,222
(111,096,329)

(463,727)

9,652,357,470

13,172,513,911
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34 STAFF COSTS

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOG
Salaries and related charges 338,551,753 157,257,959
Social Security contributions 27,125,338 11,771,661
Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnities (net) (Note 19) 37,868,045 32,968.231
403,545,136 201,997,851
35 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOG
Travel and entertainment 2,779,018 487,895
Advertisement and publicity 10,388,543 2,123,070
Professional fees 148,812,189 24,098,863
Maintenance and repairs 66,117,622 11272678
Electricity and fuel 23,513,122 7,382,455
Telephone expenses 6,935,654 3,617,899
Printing and stationary 3,045,556 1,016,353
Rent and building services 17,135,014 2,215,438
Fees and taxes 11,725,555 5,751,250
Insurance 18,255,551 2,710,447
Subscriptions 75,606,079 15,739,523
Gifts and donations 437,450 (7,063)
Aftendance fees 23,321,433 3,805,254
Other 36,444,464 10,415,750
444,517,250 90,629,813
36 OTHER INCOME, (NET)
2024 2023
LBPOOG LEFPOOD
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 1,012,800 22,495
Positive difference between expert revalued value and cost subject to \
income tax on sale of assets acquired jn satisfaction of loans (Decision
715/1) 252,135,820 -
Other income 30,902,509 1,180,376
284,051,129 1,202,871

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISKS

The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and commercial letters of credit represent
financial instruments with contractual amounts representing credit risk. The guarantees and standby letters of
credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer carnot
meet its obligations to third parties and are not different from loans and advances on the financial position.
However, documentary and commercial letters of credit, which represent written undertakings by the Group on
behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments documents of goods to which they
relate and, therefore, have significantly less risks.

Forward exchange contracts outstanding as of 3! December 2024 and 2023 represent positions held for
customers' accounts and at their risk. The Group entered into such instruments to serve the needs of customers.
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38 FIDUCIARY DEPQOSITS

2024 2023
LBPOOG LBPOGG
Fiduciary deposits for wealth management 4,156,735,040 63,881,298

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other party contrels both. The
definition includes key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities controlled or

jointly controlled by them.

Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those individuals who have the authority and responsibility for planning, and

exercising power to directly or indirectly control the activities of the Bank and its employees. The Bank
considers the members of the Board of Directors (and its sub-committees) and Executive Committee, and
persons and entities connected to them to be Key Management Personnel.

Balances and transactions with key management personnel and their close family members as at and for the year
ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

2024 2023
Interest Interest
Quistanding revenie Quistanding revenue
balance {expense) balance {expensy)
LBPOGO LBPOOO LBPGOG LBPOOY
Key management personnel and their
close family members
Net loans and advances 7,703,150 1,051,616 2,273,933 170,258
Deposits 651,246,164 - 115,544,729 -
Other affiliates
Deposits 217,459,716 - 16,126,316 -

The following is a summary of the nature of other transactions with related parties that are recorded in the
Income statement:

- During 2024, short-term benefits comprise of salaries, bonuses, attendance fees and other benefits
amounted to LBP000.22,927,445 (2023 LBP{00.6,607,339).

40 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flows statement consist of the fellowing:

2024 2023

LEPOOG LBFP0OO

Cash on hand 739,920,487 178,385,024

Current accounts with central banks {excluding compulscry reserve) 93,698,131,267  14,564,176,614

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 25,955,000,000 -
Checks for collection and current accounts with banks

and financial mstitutions 295,900,441 208,309,641

Term placements with banks and financial institutions 375,717,599 307,733,880

121,064,669,794  15,259,105,159
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41 COLLATERAL GIVEN

31 December 2024

Pledged amonunt  Nature of fucility Amount of facifity
LBPGOG LBPODO

Deposits with banks and financial Forward contracts
Institutions 1,066,061,811 Acceptances less than one year 2,068,326,809

31 December 2023

Pledged amount  Nature of facility Amount of facility
LBPOGO LBPOOD

Deposits with banks and financial Forward contracts
[nstitutions 192,067,058 Acceptances less than one vear 436,309,176

42 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will
actually be paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instrument. In many cases, it would not be possible to
realize immediately the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair
values do not represent the value of these instruments to the Group as a going concern. Financial assets and
liabilities are classified according to a hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable market inputs. The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined below.

Quoted market prices — Level 1
Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are

valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted
price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Valuation technique using observable inputs — Level 2

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose most significant inputs are
derived directly or indirectly from observable market data. Such inputs incjude quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive markets and observable inputs other
than quoted prices such as interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads.

Valuation technique vsing significant unobservable inputs — Level 3
Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on

cbservable market data {unobservable inputs).

Effects of Exchange Rates on the Fair Value Measurements:

The fair value disclosures for other assets and liabilities are first determined in their original currency, which is
not the Lebanese Pound in the case of most of the assets and habilities reported below. These are then translated

to Lebanese Pounds at the official published exchange rate as discussed in Note 1.3. However, in light of the
high deviation between the parallel market rate, the Sayafa rates and the official published exchange rates,
Management estimates that the amounts reported in this note in LBP do not reflect a reasonable estimate of
expected cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that would have to be generated from the realisation of such assets or
the payment of such liabilities at the date of the financial statements and Management is unable to estimate the
effects on the fair value measurement. This matter should be taken into consideration when interpreting the fair
value disciosures in this note, especially those under Level | and Level 2.
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42 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

42.1 Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value:

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Lebanese sovereign
Treasury bills
Eurobonds

Private sector and other securities
Banks and financial institutions
Equity instruments

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Private sector and other securities
Equity instruments

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Lebanese sovereign

Treasury bills

Eurobonds
Private sector and other securilies

Banks and financial institutions

Equity instruments

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Private sector and other securities
Equity instruments

There were no transfers between levels during 2024 (2023: No transfers between levels).

2024
Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total
LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPOOG LEBPOOY
220,677 - - 220,677
- - 1,221,004 1,221,004
25,699,925 - - 15,699,925
413,342,361 - - 413,342,361
439,262,963 - 1,221,004 440,483,967
560,934,428 - - 560,934,428
1,000,197.391 - 1,221,004  1,001,418,395
20123
Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
LBPOGO LBPONG LBPOGO LBPOGO
241,579 - - 241,579
- - 96.300 96,300
2.324.250 - - 2,324.250
79.139.306 - - 79.139.306
81.705,133 - 86,300 81,801,435
213317343 - - 213.317.345
205222480 - 96,300 255,318,780

Valuation techniques used for material classes of financial assets and liabilities categorized within level 2

and level 3:

[nterest rate derivatives

Interest rate derivatives include interest rate swaps and interest rate options. The most frequently applied
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations by estimating
future cash flows and discounting them with the appropriate yield curves Incerporating funding costs relevant
for the position. These contracts are generally Level 2 uniess adjustments to yield curves or credit spreads are
based on significant non-observable inputs, in which case. they are Level 3. The Group does not have interest

rate derivatives ctassified as Level 3.

39



BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

42 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
42.1 Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value (continued)

Valuation techniques used for material classes of finanecial assets and liabilities categorized within level 2
and level 3: (continued)

Foreign exchange contracts

Foreign exchange contracts include open spot contracts, foreign exchange forward and swap contracts and over-
the-counter foreign exchange options. These instruments are valued by either cbservable foreign exchange rates,
observable or calculated forward points and option valuation models. With the exception of contracts where a
directly observable rate is available which are disclosed as Level 1, the Group classifies foreign exchange
contracts as Level 2 financial instruments when no uncbservable inputs are used for thewr valuation or the
unobservable inputs used are not significant to the measurement (as a whole). The Group does not have foreign

exchange derivatives classified as Level 3.

Funds and Equity shares of non-listed enfities
Units held in funds are measured based on their net asset value (NAYV), taking into account redemption and/or
other restrictions. Classification between level 2 and level 3 is dependent on whether the NAV is observable or

unabservable (i.e. recent and published by the fund administrater or not).

Equity shares of non-listed entities comprise mainly the Group’s strategic investments are generally classified at
fair value through other comprehensive income and are not traded in active markets. These are investments in
private companies, for which there is no or only limited sufficient recent information to determine fair value.

The Group determined that cost adjusted to reflect the investee’s financial position and results since initial
recognition represents the best estimate of fair value. Classification between level 2 and [evel 3 is based on the
financial statements of the investee are recent and published or not. These instruments are fair valued using
third-party information (NAV or financial statements of non-listed entities), without adjustment. Accordingly,
quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs and sensitivity analysis cannot be developed by
the Group in accordance with IFRS 13.93 (d).

Comparison of carrying and fair values for financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities concentrated in Lebanon

These assets and lizbilities consist of balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese Banks, Lebanese
government securities, loans and advances to customers and related parties, due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
and Lebanese Banks, customers and related parties deposits, and debt issued and other borrowed funds. These
are illiquid in nature and the measurement of their fair value is usually determined through discounted cash flow
valuation models using observable market inputs, comprising of interest rates and yield curves, implied
volatilities, and credit spreads. Due to the situation described in Note | and the unprecedent levels of uncertainty
surrounding the economic crisis that Lebanocn, and particularly the banking sector, is experiencing, management
is unable to produce faithful estimation of the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities.

Finuncial assets and labilities not concentrated in Lebanon
These are not significant to the Group’s conselidated financial statements.
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43 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group enters into various commitments, guarantees and other contingent labilities, which are mainly credit-
related instruments including both financial and non-financial guarantees and commitments to extend credit. Even
though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit risk and
are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group. The table below discloses the nominal principal amounts of credit-
related commitments and contingent liabilities. Nominal principal amounts represent the amount at risk should the
contracts be fully drawn apon and clients default. As a significant portion of guarantees and commitments is expected
to expire without being withdrawn, the total of the nominal principal amount is not indicative of future liquidity

requirements.

2024
Banks Customers Total
LBPOGO LBPGOO LBPGGO
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
Financial guarantees 34,274,765 621,334,072 655,608,837
Commitments
Documentary credits - - -
Loan commitments - - -
Of which revocable - - R
Of which irrevocable - - -
2023
Barks Customers Total
LBPOOD LBPOOO LBPG0D

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees 6,129,256 149,099,719 155,228,975

Commitments

Documentary credits

Loan commitments
Of which revocable - -
Of which irrevocable - _

Guarantees (including standby letters of credit)
Guarantees are given as security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. The main types of

guarantees provided are:
»  Financial guarantees given to banks and financial institutions on behalf of customers to secure loans,

overdrafts, and other banking facilities; and
Other guarantees are contracts that have similar features to the financial guarantee contracts but fail to meet
the strict definition of a financial guarantee contract under [FRS. These include mainly performance and

tender guarantees.

Daocumentary credits
Documentary credits commit the Greup to make payments to third parties, on production of documents, which are

usually reimbursed immediately by customers.

Loan conunitments
Loan commitments are defined amounts (unutilized credit lines or undrawn portions of credit lines) against which

clients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions.

Revocable loan commitments are those commitments that can be unconditionally cancelled at any time subject to
notice requirements according to their general terms and conditions. Iitevocable loan commitments result from
arrangements where the Group has no right to withdraw the loan commitment once communicated to the beneficiary.
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43 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS (continuned)

Investment commitments
The Group invested in funds pursuant to the provisions of Decision no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 of the Central Bank

of Lebanon. In accordance with this resolution, the Group can benefit from facilities granted by the Central Bank of
Lebanon to be invested in startup companies, incubators and accelerators whose objects are restricted to supporting
the development, success and growth of startup companies in Lebanon or companies whose objects are restricted to
investing venture capital in startup companies in Lebanon. These investments have resulted in future commitments on
the Group of LBP000.54,989,521 as of 31 December 2024 {2023: LBP000.56,774,209}.

Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Group has an

established protocol for dealing with such claims, many of which are beyond its control. At year-end, the Group had
several unresolved legal claims in Lebanon and abroad, mainly those relating to the restrictive measures in place with
respect to the withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad.

The extent of the impact of these matters cannot always be predicted but may materially impact the Group’s
operations, financial resulis, condition and prospects. However, once professional advice has been obtained and the
amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the
claims may have on its financial standing. Based on advice from legal counsel, and despite the novelty of certain
claims and the uncertainties inherent in their unique situation, Management believes that legal claims will not result in
any material financial loss to the Group. However, they may have an impact on the offshore liquidity of the Group, its
foreign assets, and its foreign currency exposure.

Other commitments and contingencies
Certain areas of the Lebanese tax legisiation are subject to different interpretations in respect of the taxability of

certain types of financial transactions and activities.

The Group’s books are still subject to the review by the Department of Income Tax from 1 January 2018 to date. The
National Social Security Fund (NSSF) reviewed the Group’s books till September 2021 (inclusive). Management
believes that adequate provisions were recorded against possible review results to the extent that they can be reliably

estimated.

44 RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to various types of risks, some of which are:

- Credit risk: the risk of default or deterioration in the ability of a borrower to repay a loan.

- Market risk: the risk of loss in balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements in
market prices. Movements in market prices include changes in interest rates {including credit spreads),
exchange rates and equity prices.

- Liquidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations when they come due in a timely
manner and at reascnable cost.

- Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems,
or from external events.

- Other risks faced by the Group include concentration risk, reputation risk, litigation risk, compliance risk,
political risk, business/strategic risk, and cybersecurity risk.

Risks are managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement, monitoring, mitigation and contrel, and
reporting to relevant stakeholders. The Bank ensures that risks and rewards are properly balanced and in line with the
risk appetite framework, which is approved by the Board of Directors.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors (the Board) is ultimately responsible for setting the level of acceptable risks to which the

Group is exposed, and as such, approves the risk appetite and policies of the Group. The Board monitors the risk
profile in comparison to the risk appetite on a regular basis and follow-up on existing and emerging risks. A number
of Management commnittees and departments are also responsible for varicus levels of risk management, as set out

below.
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44 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Board Group Risk Committee

The role of the Board's Group Risk Committee (BGRC) is to oversee the risk management framework and
assess its effectiveness, review and recommend to the Beard the Group risk policies and riskc appetite, monitor
the Group’s risk profile, review stress test scenarios and results, and provide access for the Group Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) to the Board. The BGRC meets at [east every quarter in the presence of the Group CRO.

Executive Committee
The mandate of the Executive Committee is to support the Board in the impiementation of its strategy, to

support the Group CEO in the day-to-day management of the Group, and to develop and implement business
policies and issue guidance for the Group within the strategy approved by the Board. The Executive Committee
is involved in reviewing and submitting to the Board the risk policies and risk appetite.

Asser Liakility Committee

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) is a Management committee respensible in part for managing market
and liquidity risks, as well as reviewing funding needs and contingency exposures. [t is the responsibifity of this
committee to set up strategies for managing market risk and liquidity risk and ensuring that Treasury
implements those strategies in line with the risk policy and lmits approved by the Board.

Internal Audit
Risk management processes are independently audited by the Internal Audit Department at {east annually. This

includes the examination of both the adequacy and effectiveness of risk control procedures. Internal Audit
discusses the results of its assessments with Management and reports its findings and recommendations to the
Audit Committee of the Board.

Risk Marnagement
Risk Management is a function independent from business lines and headed by the CRO. The function has the

responsibility to ensure that risks are properly identified, measured, monitored, controlled, and reported to heads
of business lines, Senior Management, ALCO, the Board Group Risk Committee and the Board. In addition, the
function works closely with Senior Management to ensure that proper controls and mitigants are in place. The
Risk function has the responsibility of drafting risk policies and principles for adoption at the entity level. In
addition, it is in charge of cascading risk appetite and limits to entities and business lines, as well as monitoring
and aggregating the risk profile across the Group.

Risk Appetite
The Risk appetite reflects the level and type of risk that the Group Is willing to accept, taking into account the

Group’s strategy, operating environment and regulatory constraints.

Risk appetite is formalised in a document which is reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Board Group
Risk Committee, and approved by the Board. This document comprises qualitative and quantitative statements
of risk appetite and inciudes key risk indicators covering various risk types.

Information independently compiled from business lines and risk-taking units is examined and aggregated in
order to identify and measure the risk profile. The results are presented on a regular basis to the Management

and the Board.
45 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its obligors or counterparties fail to meet their
contractual obligations, including the full and timely payment of principal and interest. Credit risk arises from
various balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures including Group placements, loans and advances, credit
cominitments, financial guarantees, letters of credit, acceptances, investments in debt securities (including
sovereign) and derivative financial instruments. Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at
any time, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the statement of financial position. In the case
of credit derivatives, the Group is also exposed to the risk of default of the derivative’s counterparty.
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45 CREDIT RISK (coutinued)

45.1 Credit risk management
Credit risk appetite and limits are set at the Group level by the Board and are cascaded to entities. The Group

manages and controls credit risk by sefting concentration limits on counterparties, geographies and sectors. It also
monitors on a regular basis the risk profile i relation to these limits.

Credit risk is monitored by the Credit Review and Credit Risk functions in each entity, which are independent from
business lines. These functions ensure a proper coverage af credit risk though the implementation of various
processes, including but not limited to: i) providing independent opinions on credit files, 1) reviewing and
approving obligors risk ratings assignments, iii) conducting portfolio reviews, iv) ensuring compliance with the
Group’s credit policy and limits, and v) aggregating data and reporting the credit risk profile to relevant
stakeholders.

The Group has established various credit monitoring processes for the early detection of changes in borrowers’
credit quality and accordingly, and the design of effective remedial measures. These processes include regular loan
portfolio reviews, IFRS 9 Impairment Committee meetings, as well as individual credit assessments of borrowers
with their corresponding facilities. The latter process is mainly applicable for non-retail obligors.

The Group has also established an approval limit structure for granting and renewing credit facilities. Credit
officers and credit committees are responsible for the approval of facilities up to their own assigned limits.

Once approved, facilities are disbursed when all the requirements set by the respective approval authority are met
and documents intended as security are obtained and verified by the Credit Administration function.

Since October 2019 events, the challenging economic situation in Lebanon bas been exerting significant pressure
on the asset quality of the domestic loan portfolio. As a result, credit quality of the Lebanese loan portfelio has
declined driven by a weakening in the borrowers’ creditworthiness across various segment types. In order to
address this challenging operating condition, the Group has implemented a series of remedial actions that included:
1) risk deleveraging by reducing the loan portfolio, i1} increasing collection capacity across various business lines,
iil) increasing specific and collective provision coverages, and iv) setting up an independent, centralised and
specialised remedial function to proactively manage problematic borrowers.

45.2 Expected Credit Losses

45.2.1 Governance and oversight of expected credit losses

The [FRS 9 [mpairment Commiitee, which is a committee composed of Executive Committee members, oversees
the implementation of the Excepted Credit Loss (ECL) framework. This is being done by: i) approving the [FRS-9
Impairment Policy; i) reviewing key assumptions and estimations that are part of the ECL framework; ii1)
approving the forward-looking economic scenarios; iv) approving staging classifications on a name-by-name basis
for material exposures; and v) reviewing ECL results.

The Group reviews its [FRS-9 Impairment Policy on, at minimum, apnual basis and amends it accordingly to
reflect any change in the estimation methodology, embedded assumptions or regulatory requirements.

Key judgments inherent in this policy, including the estimated life of revelving credit facilities and the quantitative
criteria for assessing the Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR), are assessed through a combination of expert
judgment and data-driven methodologies.

ECL is estimated using a model that takes into account the borrower’s exposure, internal obligor risk rating, facility
characteristics, and collateral information among other. Models are, by their nature, imperfect and incomplete
representations of reality because they rely on assumptions and inputs, and so they may be subject to errors
affecting the accuracy of their outputs. To manage the model risks, the Group has established a systematic
approach for the development, validation, approval, implementation and on-going use of the models. Models are
validated by a qualified independent party to the model development function, before first use and at regular
intervals thereafter.
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)
45.2 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

45.2.1 Governance and oversight of expected credit losses (continued)

Each model is designated an owner who is responsible for: 1) monitoring the performance of the model, which
includes comparing estimated ECL versus actual realised losses; and ii) propesing post-model develspment
adjustments to enhance model’s accuracy or to account for situations where known or expected risk factors and
information have not been considered in the modelling process. Models used in the estimation of ECL, including
key inputs, are governed by a series of internal controls which include the validation of completeness and accuracy
of data, reconciliation with finance data, and documentation of the calculation steps.

ECL estimation takes into account a range of future economic scenarios which are set by economists within the
Group’s Research Department using independent models and expert judgment. Forward-looking economic
scenarios, with their corresponding probabilities of occurrence, are updated annually or more frequently in the
event of a significant change in the prevailing economic conditions.

45.2.2 Definition of default and cure
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- The borrower is unlikely to pay his credit cbligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group

to actions such as realizing security (if any is held).

- The borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Group.
As part of the qualitative assessment process of default identification, the Group carefully considers other criteria
than the ones listed above in order to determine if an exposure should be classified in Stage 3 for ECL calculation
purpose or if a Stage 2 classification is deemed more appropriate.

It is the Group’s policy to consider a financial instrument as “cured” and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when
nene of the default criteria have been present for a specific period of time. The decision whether to classify an asset
as Stage 2 or Stage | once cured is dependent on the absence of SICR criteria compared to the initial recognition
date and is examined on a case-by-case basis. In case of forbearance under Stage 2, the borrower remains in this
stage until all the following conditions have been met: i) at least a 12-month probation period has passed; ii) three
consecutive paynients under the new repayment schedule have been made; iii) the borrower has no past dues under
any obligation to the Greup; and iv) all the terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restructuring agreement

have been met.

In response to the COVID-19 global pandemic, govemments and regulators around the world have introduced a
number of support measures for both retail and non-retail customers under system-wide programs. In Lebanon, the
Central Bank of Lebanon issued Intermediary Circular 567 dated 26 August 2020 (which was later extended till
end of 202] as per Intermediary Circular 594 dated 2 September 2021), by which it required banks operating in
Lebanon to keep the regulatory classification unchanged for obligors that were negatively impacted by this
pandemic and not to consider their past-dues, when existing, as evidence of SICR. However, under exceptional
circumstances and in case an obligor ceases to be operating under a going concern basis, banks should immediately
downgrade the borrower’s classification to Stage 3.

45.2.3 The Group’s infernal rating and PD estimation process

Ceniral Banks, Sovereigns and Financial [nstitutions

For central banks, sovereigns and financial institutions’ exposures, ratings from recognised external rating agencies
are used and mapped to their corresponding PDs as reported by these agencies. These ratings with their
corresponding PDs are monitored and updated on a regular basis. With respect to exposures to the Central Bank of
Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign, Intermediate Circular 567 modified the regulatory ECLs levels, previously set in
its Infermediate Circular 543 issued on 3 February 2020. Regulatory ECL on exposures to Lebanese sovereign
bonds in foreign currency was increased from 9.45% to 45%, while regulatory ECLs on exposures to Lebanese
sovereign bonds in local currency, exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currency and exposures to
the Central Bank of Lebanon in local currency remained unchanged (0%, 1.89% and 0% respectively). This
circular however changed the requirement for the recogaition of ECL in the banks’ financial statemenis from a
“maximum” level to a “minimum” one. Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the lack of cbservable indicators,
and the lack of visibility on the Lebanese government’s reform plans with respect to, among other, the exposures to
the Central Bank of Lebanon, the Bank was unable to estimate in a reasonable manner ECL on this exposure and
accordingly, as applicable, the loss rate mentioned in Intermediate Circular 567 was adopted. To note that the
Group disposed of the majority of its holding of Lebanese Sovereign bonds in foreign cwrency during 2020 and
allocated fuli provision coverage on the implied loss for the remaining balance based on prevailing market values.
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45 CREDPIT RISK (continued}
45.2 Expected Credit Losses

45.2.3 The Group’s internal rating and PD estimafiorn process (continied)

Non-retail loans

The Risk function is responsible for the development of internal rating models and for the estimation of Probability of
Default (PD) and Loss Given Defaunlt (LGD). The Group uses an internal Obligor Risk Rating (ORR) scale comprised
of 19 performing grades and 3 non-performing grades. These grades, which are generated by internal rating models,
are calibrated to PDs using historical default cbservations that are specific to each geography and business line
segment. [f historical default observations are not sufficient for a reliable PD estimation, then a low-default portfolio
approach is adoptad. The mapping of ratings to PDs, which is done mitially on a through-the-cycle basis, 15 then
adjusted to a point-in-time basis. PDs are also adjusted to incorporate forward-looking component in line with the
IFRS 9 standard.

Internal rating models for the Bank’s key lending portfolios (including Corporate and SME) take into account both
qualitative and quantitative criteria to generate ratings such as:

e Historical and projected financial information related to the customer. These include debt service coverage,
operations, liquidity, capital structure and other relevant financial ratios.

+  Account behavior, repayment history (factoring in any COVID-19 related regulatory forbearance measure
where applicable) and other non-financial information such as management quality, company standing and
industry risk.

*  Any publicly available information from external parties. This includes external credit ratings issued by
recognized rating agencies, independent research analyst reports and other market disclosures.

»  Macro-sconomic information such as GDP growth which correspond to the custemer’s country of
operations.

+  Other supporting information on the obligor’s willingness and capacity to repay its debt.

Internal ratings are initially assigned by the credit origination functions (i.e. business lines) and are approved and
validated by the Credit Review and Credit Risk functions, which are independent from business lines. Credit Review
and Credit Risk functions are responsible for ensuring that ratings assigned to obligors are accurate and updated at all
times.

Retail loans and private banking

Retail lending comprises mainly of personal leans, car loans, credit cards and housing loans. The Group normally
relies on application scorecards to score retail applicants and for either, the automation of decisiens according to a
certain cut-off score or as an additional input to support the approval or reject decision by specialised credit officers.
For the estimation of expected losses for retail products, the Group uses the loss approach by product based on the net
flow of exposures from one days-past-due bucket to another {factoring in any COVID-19 related regulatory
forbearance measure where applicable). This estimation is adjusted by a forward-looking component in ling with the

IFRS-9 standard.

Private Banking credit exposures arc mainly related to margin lending activities where the Group typically holds high
liquid and diversified securities as collaterals with very conservative loan to value thresholds. This lending discipline,
together with very {ight and automated monitoring standards, ensure the portfolio remains of very high quality. The
ECLs for these exposures is dependent on collateral types and coverage level, among others.

45.2.4 Loss given defoult

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss in the event of a default. The Group estimates LGD based on the history of
recovery rates of claims against defauited counterparties that were fully settled, as well as on the potential future
recoveries on defaulted counterparties that stil} have outstanding balances. LGD estimmation is dependent on the
counterparty and collaieral type, as well as recovery costs. For portfolios with limited historical data, external
benchmark information is used to supplement available internal data.
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)
45.2 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

45.2.5 Exposure af default
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure

to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract. The EAD of a firancial
asset is Its gross camrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future
amounts that may be drawn under the contract. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the
guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable.

45.2.6 Significant increase in credif risk

The Group continuously monitors all its credit risk exposures. In order to determine whether an instrument or a
portfolio of instrumenis is subject to [2ZmECL or Lifetime ECL (LTECL), the Group assesses whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, using reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cest or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information based on the
Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-looking information. The Group’s
assessment of significant increase in credit risk is being performed on a monthly basis based on the following:

Now-retail Portfolio

Migration of obligor risk rating by a certain nomber of notches from origination date to reporting date as & key
indicator of the change in the risk of default at origination date with the risk of default at reporting date. The Group also
considers in its assessment of significant increase in credit risk various qualitative factors including significant adverse
changes in business condition, restructuring due to credit quality weakness during the past 12 months, and classification
of an exposure under the “Follow-up and Regularisation” supervisory classification.

Retail Portfolio
The Group considers specific conditions that might be indicative of a significant increase in credit risk such as the
occurrence of a restructuring event. The Group has also identified thresholds using historical defauilt rates and historical

payment behaviour to determine significant increase in credit risk.

Backstop
As a backstop, the financial instrument is considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk if the

obligor is more than 30 days past-due on his contractual payment.

As noted in section “452.2. Definition of Default and Cure” and in response to the COVID-19 global pandemic,
governments and regulators around the world have introduced a number of support measures for both retail and non-
retail borrowers under market-wide programs.

Downgrade from Stage 2 to Stage 3 15 based on whether financial assets are credit-impaired at the reporting date.

45.2.7 Expected life
With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, the maximum period for which the credit losses are

determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Group has the legal right to call it earlier. With
respect to credit cards and other revolving facilities, the Group does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the
contractual notice period, but instead, caloulates ECL over a period that reflects the Group’s expectations with regards
to the customer’s behaviour, its likelihood of default and future risk mitigation actions, which could include reducing or

cancelling the facilities.

45.2.8 Forward looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking mformation into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an

mstrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition, and the measurement of ECL.

The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario and two less likely
scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a specific probability of occurrence. The base case scenario is
aligned with information used by the Group for other purposes such as strategic and budgeting planning processes.
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45 CREDIT RI1SK (continued)
45.2 Expected Credit Losses (continuned)
45.2.8 Forward looking information (cortinued)

These scenarios, including the weights attributable to them, are prepared by economists in the Research Department.
They are determined using a combination of expert judgment and model output. The Group reviews the methodologies
and assumptions including any forecasts of future economic conditions on a regular basis.

The Group has identified real GDP growth, among others, as the key driver of ECL for several countries where it
operates. Using an analysis of historical data, the Group has estimated relationships between this macro-economic
variable and credit losses. The ECL estimates have been assessed for sensitivity to changes in forecasts of the macro-
variable and also together with changes to the weights assigned to the scenarios. However, given the prevailing high
uncertainties and challenges, which were further exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic as disclosed in Note 1, ECLs
estimation remains subject to high volatility (including from changes to macroeconomic variable forecasts) especially
in the event of a prolonged crisis and continued deterioration in the economic conditions. [t is not practical at this stage
to determine and provide sensitivity analysis that is reasonably possible before the full resolution of these prevailing

high uncertainties.

45.2.9 Modified and forborne loans

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or petential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whase terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan
at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies above,

When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 (assurning it is not credit-
impaired at that time).

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as “forbearance activities™) to maximise
collection opportunities and minimise the nsk of defauft. Under the Group’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is
granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on his debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is
expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the
timing of interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the

forbearance pelicy.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk.
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)
45.2 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

45.2.10 Financial assets and ECLs by stage

The tables below present an analysis of financial assets by gross exposure and impairment aliowance by stage aliocation as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group does
not hold any material purchased or originated credit-impaired assets as at year-end.

31 December 2024

Balances with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial institutions

Fuancial assets at FVTPL

Loans and advances to customers and related parties
at amortized cost

[nvestments securities

Total

31 December 2023

Balances with central banks

Deposiis with banks and financial institutions

Financial assels at FYTPL

Loans and advances o customers and retated parties
at amortized cost

[nvestments securities

Total

2024

Gross exposure Tmpairment allowance
Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Strage 2 Stage 3 Total Net exposiire
LBPIOY LBPGOG LBPGOD LBPOGO LBPYOG LBPGOO LBPOGO LBPOOO LBPOOG
134,532,360,139 - - 134,532,360,139 2,158,555,387 - - 2,158,555,387 132,373,804,752
4,022,759,851 - - 4,022,759,851 8,905,924 - - 8,905,924 4,013,853,927
439,262,963 - 1,221,004 440,483,967 - - - - 440,483,967
1,380,709,083 - 6,050,209,112 7,430,918,1%5 77,866,233 4,327,419,444 4,405,285,677 3,025,032,518
11,061,852,654 - 7,060,524,93% 18,122,377,593 196,240,149 - 5,296,065,257 5,492,305,406 12,630,072,187

151,436,944,690

13,111,955,055

§64,548,899,745

T2.441,567,693

9,623,484,701

12,005,052,394

152,483,847,351

2023

(ross exposure Impairment allowance
Stage I Stage 2 Stuge 3 Total Stage [ Stage 2 Stage 3 Tosal Hlet exposure
LBPOOG LBPGON LBPOOO LBPOM) LBPOIN LBPOIO LBPOOO LBPOGO LBPAON)
22,375.490,350 - - 22373490850 340.725.027 - - 340,725,027 22.034.765.823
708.985.602 - - 708,983,602 2.841.140 - - 2.841.140 706.144.262
§1.801.435 81.801.435 - - - - 81.801.433
343,993,602 36718760 1.092.459,564 1,473,173.926 8,103,593 1,523,670 592,900,972 602,528,235 870,045,691
2,630.832.688 - 1.183,328,202 3.814.160.890 35933 448 - 790,737,176 826,670,624 2.687.490.266
26,141,106,177 36,718,760 2275.787,766  28.453,612.702 387.603.208 1,523.670 1,383,638.148 1.772.763.026 26,680.847,677
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.2 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

45,210 Financial assets and ECLs by stage (continued)

The aliocation of provision for expected credit losses by grade to their respective stage is presented as follows:

2024 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime 12 mownth Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Toral ECL ECL ECL Total
LEPOOG LEPOOO LEPOOO LBPOAY LBPOOG LBPOOD LEBPORG LBPOON
Excellent and strong (At+) 3,739,952 - - 3,739,952 62,358 - - 62,358
Good and satisfactory (A} 60,323,117 - - 60,323,117 5874.196 - - 5.874.196
Adequate (A-) 13,803,154 - - 13,803,154 2,167,039 - 2,167,039
Marginal and vulnerable
(B&B-) - - - - - 1.523.670 - 1,523,670
Substandard and doubtful
(C.D&E) - - 4327419454 4327419454 - - 392900972 592900972
Total gross carrying
amount 77,866,223 - 4,327,419,454 4405.285,677  8.103,593 1,323,670 392900972 602,328235

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balence of impairment alloswances of loans
and advances at amortized cost:

2024 2023
Srtage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage } Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime 12 month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total ECL ECL ECL Total
LBPOOY LBPODD LBPGGO LBPOOGO LBPODD LBPOGE LBPOGA LBPONG

Balance at | January 8,103,593 1,523,670 592,500,972 602,528,235 4,288,903 7442859 48,661,037 60,392,86]

Transfer from/to
Stage 2 - -
Transfer from/to
Stage 3
Moy ement due 1o changes
in balance and credit

risk within the same
stage 31,962,879 (9,017,848) 834,623,720 877,568,751 (36,938,831}  {41,789,601) (90431 838) {169.180,410)

- 17,114,693 (17.114,693) - -

MNew financial assets
originated or purchased - - - - - - 165,977 397 195,977 397

Difference of

exchange 37,799,751 7,494,178 2,875,894,762 2,925,188,69] 23,638,766 52,985,195 438,694,426 515338387
Balance at 31
December 77,866,223 - 4327419454 4,405285,677 8,103,593 1523670 592,900,972 602,528,235
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45  CREDIT RISK (continued)
45.3 Analysis of Risk Concentrations
45.3.1 Geographical Location Analysis

The Group controls credit risk by maintaining close monitoring credit of its assel’s exposures by geographic location. The distribution of financial assets by geographic

region as of 31 December is as follows:

Cash and deposits with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances to custemers and related parties
Invesiments securities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Property, plant and equipment

Ruight-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

Cash and deposits with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances to customers and related parties
investments securities

Agsets acquired i satisfaction of loans

Propenty. plant and equipment

Raght-otf-use assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

2024

North Rest of Rest of the
Lebanon MENA Europe America Africa world Towl
LBPOGD LBPOOO LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPOOG LBPOGY LBPOOY
133,113,725.239 - - - - 133.113,725,239
77,273,342 25,146,545 3,797,587,871 13,846,169 - 4,013,853,927
422,440,731 - 18,043,236 - - 44,483,967
2.595,767,152 9,505,616 106,672,723 - 313,687,027 3,025,632,518
12,094,745,344 533,959,916 1,366,927 - 12,630,072,187
30,349,450 - - - - 30,349,450
2,970.466.852 - 475,984 - - 2,970,942,836
- - 885,362 - - - 885362
15,059,431 - - - - 15,059,431
231,950,870 - 138,110,828 - - 370,661,698
151,651,778,411 568,612,077 4,063,142,931 13,346,169 313,687,027 - 156,611,066,615

2023

North Rest of Rest of the
Lebaron MENA Europe America Africa world Total
LBPOOG LBPOOO LBPOON LBPGOO LBPGOG LBPOOG LBPOOG
22.213.150.847 - - . - 22213150847
126.913,766 5.828.958 552,657,129 20,744,609 - 706.144,462
09,997,129 - 11.804.306 - - 81.801.435
811,268.221 1,670,235 1,785,780 - 55.921,453 - 870,645,691
2778776723 208.469,379 244,164 - - 2,987.490,266
2585121 - - - - - 2585121
1,713.368.074 3256 - - - - 1,713.371,330
- - 1.369.021 1,369.021
702,704 - - - - 702,704
83,528,054 20,635 387 - 104,163,441
27.800.290,639 215971828 588,495,787 20,744 609 55,921.455 - 28,681,424 318
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45

CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.4 Credit Quality
The Group assesses the quality of its credit portfolio using the following credit rating methodologies:

M

iD)

(iiD)

(iv)

External ratings from approved credit rating agencies for fixed income instruments and financial
institutions exposures.

Internal rating models that take into account both financial and non-financial information such as
management quality, operating environment and company standing. The Group has designed
specific internal rating models for Corporate, SME models, Project Finance and Individual
borrowers.

Empirical and expert-based scorecards that assess the creditworthiness of retail borrowers in an
objective manner.

Supervisory classifications, comprising six main categories: (a) Regular includes borrowers
demonstrating good to excellent financial condition, risk factors, and capacity to repay. These
borrowers display regular and timely payment of their dues, adequacy of cash flows, timely
presentation of financial statements, and sufficient collateral/guarantee when required. (b} Follow-
up represents a lack of updated documentation related to the borrower’s activity, an inconsistency
between facilities’ type and related conditions. {c} Foliow-up and regularisation includes
creditworthy borrowers requiring close monitoring without being impaired. These borrowers
usually demonstrate signs of weaknesses {such as mmsufficient or inadequate cash flows, high
feverage ratio, excess utilization, multiple loan rescheduling since initiation), or operating under
deteriorating economic or geographic conditions. (d) Substandard loans include borrowers
showing clear signs of inability to repay their facilities on due time, as well as financial difficulties
{e.g., hard core accounts, weakened cash generation capacity). {¢) Doubtful loans where full
repayment is questioned even after liquidation of collateral, when applicable. It also includes {oans
with past-dues for over 6 months and debtors who are unable to repay their restructured facilities.
Finally, (f) bad loans which relate to obligors with no or little expected repayment from business
activities or assets liquidation. This category also inciudes borrowers with significant delays and
deemed insolvent.

Sovereign and Banks and Financial Institufions

External Rating Grade Credit Quality Description
AA+, AALAA- High

A+ A, A- High

BEB+, BRB, BBB- Standard

BB+, BB. BB- Standard

B+. B. B- Weak

CCC+, CCC, CCC- Weak

CC.C.D Credit-impaired

Non-retail Loans

Internal Rating Grade Credit Quality Description

Performing

@WZH@U-&-WE\J»—

10

High
High
High
Standard
Standard
Standard
Weak

on-performing

Credit-impaired
Credit-impaired
Credit-impaired

The internal rating grade is based on the obligor risk rating {which is mapped to PDj and therefore does not incorporate
Jacility risk characteristies and structure such as the existence of credit risk mitigants (impacting LGD). For this reason, an
obligor risk rating can be mapped to different supervisory ratings depending on the expected loss level,
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45  CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.4 Credit Quality (continued)

Retail
Internal Rating Grade Credit Quality Description
Performing
B0 (G days past due) High
B1 ([ to 30 days past due) Standard
B2 {31 to 60 days past due) Standard
B3 (61 to 90 days past due} Weak
Non-performing
B4 -B6 (91 to 180 days past due) Credit-impaired
B7-BI12 (181 days to 360 days past due) Credit-impaired
B13 (more than 360 days past due) Credit-impaired

The credit quality descriptions can be summarized as foltows:

e High: there is a very high likelihood that the asset will be recovered in full. The counterparty exhibits
high ability and willingness to meets its full obligation on due time.

»  Standard. there is a high likelihood that the asset will be recovered in full. At the lower end of this
category however, there are obligors showing some signs of reduced repayment capacity, as well as retail
borrowers in their early delinquency status.

e Weak: there is a concern on the obligor’s ability to make payments when due. However, this has not
materjalized yet in an event of default. Under this category, the borrower, who is now under a close
monitoring and follow-up process, continues to repay his dues, albeit with seme and/or recurring delays.
Under this category, the exposure is exhibiting an increased risk of loss.




BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

45  CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.4 Credit Quality (continued)

The classification of the Group’s financial instruments and balances due from banks and financial institutions as per external ratings are as follows:

Balances with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial msnmutions
Loans to banks and financial imstitutions
Funancial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at amoriized cost

Balanees with central banks

Deposits »with banks and tinaneial instinnions
Loans (o banks and financial institinons
Financial assets at tair value theough potit orleas
Financtal a3 cts al amortized cost

2024
Sovereign and Central Bauks Non-sgvereign
AAA AAA to BBB-
to BBB- BB+ to B- Below B- Unrated Total BB+1to B- Below B- Unrated Total Grand total
LEBPOOG LEBPOGD LBPOO0 LBFroeg Lapooo LEPGDO LBPOGO LBPOGO LBPGOY LBPOOG LBPOOO
- “ 132,373,804,752 - 132,373,804,752 - - - - 132,373,804,752
- ~ - - 2,918,209,853 12,388,179 1,073,255,85% 4,013,853,927 4,013,853,927
1,441,681 - 1,441,681 18,043,235 - - 420,999,050 439,042,286 440,483,967
11,429,175,723 - 1£,429,175,723 - - - 639,962,038 639,962,036 12,069,137,759
- 143,804,422,156 - 143,804,422,156 1,946,253,089 12,388,179 2,134,216,981 5,092,858,249 148,897,280,405
2027
Sovere i and Central Banks Non-sovereion
AdA AA4 1o BEE-
1+ BBA- BH+ fo B- Below B- {rened Total BB -0 B- Bxlow B- Unrated Total Ciresrd foh..”
LBPUN LEro Ll LB 0o LEPHY LB LBPINT LBPON: LB LBPODG LBroi
- - 22,034.765,823 - 22.034,703,823 - - - - - 22,034 763 823
R _ - - - 460,630,707 5,485,906 240,027,849 706,144,462 706,144 462
- 787 - 337,879 11,804,306 - - 69,659,250 81,463,550 81,801,435
- 2,760,728.071 - 2.760,723.071 - - - 13,244 850 13,244 850 2773972924
- - 24795 831,773 24,795 831,772 472,435,013 5,485.904 - 322,631,949 800,832,868 25,596,684 641
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45  CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.4 Credit Quality (continued)

The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s loans and advances to customers and related parties based on

internal credit ratings and stage classification. The amounts presented are net of impainment allowances.

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Corporate and SMES
Performing

High

Standard

Weak
Non-performing

Credit impaired
Retail and private banking
Performing

High

Standard

Weak
Non-performing

Credit impaired
Public sector
Performing

Standard
Non-performing
Credit impaired

Loans and advances to related parties at amortised cost
FPerforming

Weak

Credit impaired

Off balance sheet loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts
Performing
High
Standard
Weak
Non-performing
Credit impaired

Total

2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LBP OGO LBPOOG LBP 000 LBP 000
1,295,139,819 - 1,722,789,550 3,017,929,369
669,236,823 - 1,649,673,049 2,318,909,872
714,063,304 - - 714,063,304
97.200.645 - - 97.200.643
25,405,571 - - 25.403,57¢
391.457,088 - - 591.457,088
- - 5.761.442.403 5,761.442 405
(44.826.481) - {4.111,769.356) (4,136,595.837)
625,902,990 - 73,116,501 699,019,497
658,663,468 - 288,766,589 947,430,057
2.444.246 - - 2444246
272,438,582 - - 272,438,582
383.780.640 - - 383.780.640
- - 288.766.589 288.766,589
(32.760.472) - (215.650.088) (248,410,560)

7,703,149
7,982,429
7.982.429
(279,280)

655,608,837
682,550,624
43,063,370
35.577.680
603,909,574

(26.941.787)

7,703,149
7,982,429
7.982,429
(279,280}

655,608,837
682,550,624
43,063,370
35.577.680
603,909,574

(26,941.787)

1,958,451,805

1,722,789,550

3,681,241,355
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45 CREDIT RISK (econtinued)

45.4 Credit Quality (continued)

Loeans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Corporaie and SMEs
Performing

High

Standard

Weak
Non-performing

Credit impaired
Retail and private banking
Performing

High

Standard

Weak
Non-performing
- Credit impaired
FPublic sector
Performing

Standard
Non-performing
Credit impaired

Loans and advances to related parties at amortised cost
Performing

Weak

Credit impaired

Off balance sheet loan commitroents and financial guarantee
contracts
FPerforming
High
Standard
Weak
Non-performing
Credit impaired

Total

2023 ]
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LBP 000 LBP 000 LBP 060 LBP 000
332125556 35.195.090 499,558,592 8660,579.238
164,425,627 31,953,295 476,389,303 672,768.225
168,751,678 32,665,604 [,064,441.060  [,263838,342
23380.154  24,016,i91 - 49396.345
3,641,046 - - 3.641.046
137,730,478 8,649.413 - 146379.891
- - 064441060 1.064441.060
(4.326.051) {712,309}  (588.051.757)  (593.090,117)
167,699,929 3,241,795 23,169,289 194.111,013
171,442,142 4,033,156 28,018 504 203,513,802
1,729,382 - - 1.729.382
36,006,920 1,357,147 - 57,364,067
113,705 840 2.696.009 - 116,401,849
- - 28.018.504 28.018.504
{3.742,213) (811,361) (4.849.213) (9.402.789)
3,766,453 - - 3,766.453
3,801,782 - - 3801782
3,801,782 - - 3.801.782
(33.329) - - (35329)
134,162,601 - 1.085.834 155.248.493
157,320,275 - 1,085.834 158.406.109
9.047.054 - - $.047.054
6.361,112 - - 6.361.112
141,912,109 - - 141.912.10%9
- - 1.085,834 1.085.834
(3.137.614) - - {3.157.614)
490,054,670 35,195,090 500644426 1,025.894.186
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued}

45,5 Maximum exposure to credit risk and collateral and other credit enhancements
The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset. It further shows the total fair value of collateral, capped fo the maximum exposure to

which it relates and the net exposure to credis risk.

Bafances with central banks

Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and {inancial institutions
Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value through profic or loss

Loans and advances to customers at amortized cost
Corporate and SME
Retail and personal banking

Loans and ad ances to related parties at amortized cost
Debtors by acceptances
Im estiment Securities

Contingent liabilities
Letters of credit

Financial guarantee given to banks and financial institutions

Financial guarantee given to customers

Total

Guarantees received from banks, financial institutions and customers

Utilized collateral

2024

Guarantees

received from

Cash banics and
collateral and Sfinaneial Real Net credit
Muaximum exposure mayging Securities institutions estate exposure
LBPOGO LBPOOG LBPOOO LEPOOO LBFPOOO LBPOOY
134,467,801,569 - - - - 134,467.801,569
4,020,985,251 - - - - 4,020,985,251
440,483,967 - - - - 440,483,967
2,787,534,726 110,705,325 24,055,094 - 2,622,300,006 29,974,301
230,096,044 72,978,121 90,952,675 - 36,728,228 29,437,020
8,001,748 - - - - 8,001,748
12,630,072,187 - - - - 12,630,072,187
648,164,997 - 287,210,333 - 30,789,790 330,164,874
155,233,140,489 183,683,446 402,218,102 - 2,690,318,024 151,956,920,917
2,455,137,598 104,919,597 184,349,863 64,601,458 7,634,350 2,093,632,330
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.5 Maximum Exposure te Credit Risk and Cellateral and Other Credit Enhancements (continued)

Balances with central banks

[Due trom banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions
Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and advances to customers at amaortized cost
Corporate and SME
Retail and personal banking

LLoans and advances to related parties at amortized cost
Debtors by acceptances
lovestment Securities

Contingent Habilitics

Letters of credit

Financial guarantee given to banks and financial institutions
Financial guarantee given te customers

Total

Guarantees received from banks. financial institutions and customers
Utilized collaterat

2023

Guaranlees

received from

Cash banks and
collateral and [financial Real Net credit
Muaximum exposure marging Securities instifutions estate exposure
LBEOOG LBPONO LBPOON LBPOOG LBPOON LBFPOOM
22.334,671,589 - - - - 22.334,671.389
708.645.232 - - - - 708,645.232
81.801.435 - - - 81.801,435
670.380.688 19,382,130 3397813 - 518.265.000 129,535,743
196.343.457 11,737,845 11.869.603 - 82.665,756 90.070.257
31,721,546 - - - - 3,721,546
2,987,490.2066 - - - - 2,987,490,266
6,148,810 - - - - 5.148,810
146,083.165 35,394,273 - 4,836,918 - 108,848.974
27,138 483,188 66,514,248 15,267,420 4,836.918 600.930,750  26,450,933.852
1.239.216,763 8,345,311 9,418,935 2.415,195 388.789.213 830,048,109
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45 CREDIT RISK (continued)

45.5 Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk and Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements (continued)

Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements

The Group obtains collaterals during its lending activities as a protection against potential losses that may result
when borrowers default on their credit obligations. The amcunt and type of collateral required depend usually
on the obligor’s creditworthiness. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral
and valuation parameters.

Management monitors the market value of a received collateral on a regular basis and requests additional
collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement when deemed necessary.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
o Securities: the balances shown represent the fair value of the securities.

o Letters of credit’guaraniees: the Group holds in some cases guarantees, letters of credit and similar
instruments from banks and financial institutions, which enable it to claim settlement in the event of
default on the part of the counterparty. The balances shown represent the notional amount of these
types of guarantees held by the Group.

o Real estate {commercial and residential): the Bank holds, in some cases, a first-degree mortgage over
residential property (for housing loans) and commercial property (for commercial loans). The value
shown refiects the fair value of the property limited to the related mortgaged amount.

o Netting agreements. the Group makes use of netting agreements and other arrangements not eligible
for netting under JAS 32 Financial [nstruments: Presentation, with its counterparties. Such
arrangements provide for net settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreements in the
event of default. Although these netting arrangements de not normmally result in an offset of balance
sheet assets and liabilities {as the conditions for offsetting under JAS 32 may not apply), they
nevertheless reduce the Group’s exposure to credit risk outstanding amounts of such contracts, as
shown in the above table.

In addition to the above, the Group also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their
subsidiaries, personal guarantees from borrowing companies’ shareholders, second degree mortgages on real
estate assets, and assignments of insurance or bills proceeds and revenues, which are not reflected in the above

table.
46 MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the potential loss in both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions resulting
from movements in market risk factors such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices.

The responsibilities of the Market Risk function are to identify, measure, monitor control and report all current
and future potential market risks to which the Group is exposed. This includes the effective implementaticn of a
proper risk management framework around the treasury, investment portfolio, and asset and liability activities
through the adoption of consistent and comprehensive risk management tools and methodologies. The Group
monitors the risk profile generated by these activities in order to ensure that it remains within the approved risk

policies and limits.

The Group conducts stress tests on a regular basis using various scenarios and assumptions that are deemed
plausible and relevant to the Group’s business model and operating environment.
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46  MARKET RISK {continued)

A, CURRENCY RISK
Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio wiil fall as a result of changes in

foreign exchange rates. The major sources of this type of market risk are imperfect correlations in the
movements of currency prices, fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rate volatility in general. The Group is
subject to currency risk on financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
Lebanese Pound. Most of these financial assets and liabilities are in US Dollars and Euros.

As disclosed in Note 1, the Group’s assets and liabilities in forgign currencies are valued at the official exchange
rate. Due to the high volatility and the significant variance in exchange rates between the multiple currency
markets, this does not always represent a reasonable estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that
would have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such liabilities at the date
of the transaction or at the date of the financial statements. Management 1s unable io determine what would be a
reasonable possible movement in order to provide useful quantitative sensitivity analysis. The impact of the
valuation of these assets and liabilities at a different rate will be recognized in the financial statements once the
change in the official exchange rate and /or a legal exchange mechanism is implemented by the Lebanese

government.

The following tables present the breakdown of assets and liabilities of the Group by currency. Impairment
allowances are reflected in the tables below in the currency in which they were recorded, which might differ

from the original currency of the impaired asset.

2024

LBP [ZA%) EUR Other Total
LBPOGO LBPORG LBPOOD LBPGOG LBPOOE

Asseis
Cash and deposits with central banks 308,768,429 123,707,907,890 8,224,765,222 772,283,698 133,113,725,239
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 2,176,127 1,760,699,337 2,207,062,403 43,916,038 4,013,853,927
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25,920,602 414,563,365 - - 440,483,967
Loans and advances to customers aad related parties 14,272,741 2,378,558,278 631,698,793 1,102,706 3,025,632,518
Investmaents secunties 99,375,956 12,529,329,303 1,366,928 - 12,630,072,187
Assels acquired in satisfaction of loans - 30,349,450 - - 30,349,450
Property, Plant and equipment 2,970,466,852 475,984 - 1,970,942,836
Right-of-use assets - 885,362 885,362
Intangible assets 15,059,431 - - - 15,059,431
Other assets 164,619,078 {1,773,967,194} 1,707,111,745 332,297,969 370,061,698

Total assets

Liabilities and sharcholders’ equity
Deposits and borrowings from banks

3,640,659,316

139,048,801,775

12,772,005,093

1,149.600,43 ¢

156,611,066,615

and financial institutions 646,291,920 35,845,808,976 (5,191,495,597) (389,792,143} 30,910,813,156
((I;Oussttomers and refated pacties accounts at amortized 310,024,949 123,008 400,330 (7,479,436,650) (758,479,488) 1£5,080,509,141
Cther term borrowings 35,605,151 202,346,499 - - 237,951,641
Lease Lability - 11,647,391 - - 11,607,391
Other Liabifities 432,962,007 1,973,226,286 (101,672,844} (1,328.802) 2,303,786,657
Frovisions 45,633,010 1,333,060,079 - - 1,378,693,08%
Subordinated bends - 3,132,500,000¢ - - 3,132,500,000
Total Liabilities [,470,517,047 163,506,949,552 (12,772,005,091) (1,149,600,433) 153,055,861,075

Shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity

4,243,206,931

(688,001,391

3,555,205,540

5,713,723,978

'164,318,948,161

{(2,772,605,091)

(1,149,600,433)

156,611,066,615
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46  MARKET RISK (continued)

A.  CURRENCY RISK (continued}

2023
LBP Uss EUR QOther Foral
LBPOGO LEPOGH LBPONG LBPIGO LBPONG
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 151,211,555 20,603,598 221 1,454,529 590 3,811 475 22.213.150,847
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 2.305.152 482,706,193 206,959,877 14,173,240 T0a, 144 462
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,565 829 79,235,606 - - §1.801,435
Loans and advances (o customers and related parties 30,263,249 683,026,783 155,054,478 2300181 870,645,691
Investments securities 136.081.319 2.851.164,783 244164 - 2,987,490, 266
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans - 2,385,121 - - 2,585,121
Property, Plant and equipment 1,713,368.074 3,236 - - 1,713,371,330
Right-of-use assets - 1,369,021 - - 1,369,021
Intangible assets 702,704 - - - 702,704
Other assets $2.499 962 - 21,663,479 - 104,163,441
Total assets 2,118,997,844 24,703,688,984 1,838,451,594 20,285 896 28,681 424318
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Deposits and borrowings from banks
and financial institutions 432,835,218 3,796,132, 445 839,008,853 46 917,037 5,114,893,573
EO“S“;“’““”“ and related parties accounts at amontized 5 945 039 193540820300 1358810754 142035986 20355899879
Other term borrowings 64,527,134 55,578,178 - - 120,105,912
Lease hability 4,239,030 - - - 4.239030
Other liabilities 103,551,696 118,889,845 - - 222.441 54}
Proyisions 45,744 453 214,596,824 - - 260,341,277
Subordinated bonds - 543,526,178 - - 343,526,178
Total liabilities 865,130,970 23,369,543,770 2,197,819.607  188,933.043 26,621 447 390
Shareholders™ equity 1.873,882,639 186,094,269 - - 2039076928
Total liabihities and shareholders™ equity 2,739,013,629 23,553.638.039 2197 §19.607 188,953,043 28681,424318

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies presented in the tables above include onshore assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies that are subject to unofficial capital contrels in Lebanon, which is further explained in Note [.
These are held by the Group and will be realised.settled without recourse to foreign currency cash and/or foreign
bank accounts outside Lebanon (“fresh funds”). Hence these cannot be perceived to have an economic value
equivalent to that of offshore foreign currency assets and liabilities, and should be viewed and managed
separately. The tables below detail onshore assets and liabilities in foreign currencies:

B. INTEREST RATE RISK

[nterest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair
value of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest
rate repricing of assets and liabilities. Positions are monitored on a daily basis by Management and, whengver
possible, hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The table below shows the sensitivity of interest income to 1% parallel changes in interest rates, all other
variables being held constant.

The impact of interest rate changes on net interest income is due to assumed changes n interest paid and
received on floating rate financial assets and liabilities and to the remvestment or refunding of fixed rated
financial assets and liabilities at the assumed rates. The result includes the effect of hedging instruments and
assets and liabilities held at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Given the prolonged naiure of the Lebanese crisis and
related high level of uncertainties, the Group expects the low interest rates environment for the local currency
{or equivalent) to continue prevailing in Lebanon during 2025. The Group is also unable to determine what
would be a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The Central Bank of Lebanon has already decreased
interest rates used by the Lebanese banking sector through its varicus Intermediate circulars.
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46 MARKET RISK (continued)
B. INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)

The change in interest income is calculated over a [-year period while the effect of any future associated hedges
made by the Group is not accounted for.

2024 23

Decrease in Busis LBP Million LEP Million

Points Decrease Decrease

LBP - 100 90,773 26,647
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46  MARKET RISK (continued)

B. INTEREST RATE RISK (continuecd)

The Group’s interest sensitivity position based on contractual repricing arrangements is shown in the table below. The
significantly from the contractual dates particularly with regard te the maturity of customer demand deposits.

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks

Deposiis with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at tair value theough profit or loss
Loans and ads ances 1o customers and related parties
I 2stuments securities

Jissets acquired in satisfaction of foans

Property, Plant and equipment

Right-ot-use asseis

Intangible assets

Cither assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Liabitities and shareholders’ equity

Deposits and borrowings frem banks and financial institutions
Customers and related parties accounts at amortized cost
Other term borrowings

Lease lability

Other liabilities

Provisions

Subordinated bonds

Total labilities
Interest rate sensitivity gap

Cumulative gap

expected repricing and maturity dates may differ

2024
Total more
Uptol I3 3 months to Total less than Itos COver 3 than Non-interest
month montls { year I year years Years I year bearing Tofol
LBPOGO LBPOGO LBPOGE LBPOGO LBpPaoo LBPGOO LBPGOD LEPGGO LBPGOG
93,755,609,569 23,955,000,000 537,000,000 120,247,609,569 14,249,302,796 7,914,000 14,257,216,796 (1,391,101,126} 133,113,725,239
2,562,493,194 976,611,304 - 3,93%,1404,498 46,833,894 - 46,833,894 27,915,535 4,013,853,927
94,631 - 126,040 220,677 18,043,236 - 18,043,236 422,220,054 440,483,947
1,228,191,048 1,392,900 31,330,840 1,200,915,388 112,177,378 - 112,177,378 1,652,539,752 3,025,632,518
40,003 4,346,108 7,044,648,109 7,049,034,220 2,084,147,425 1,345,942,216 3,429,989,641 2,151,048,326 12,630,072,187
- Co- - - - - - 34,349,450 30,349,450
- - - - - - - 2,970,942,836 2,970,942,836
- - - - - - - 835,302 883,362
- - - - - - - 15,059,431 15,059,431
- - - - - - - 170,441,698 370,061,698
97.946,429,045 26,937,350,312 7,613,104,595 132,496,884,352 16,510,504,729 1,353,756,216 17,864,260,945 6,249,921,318 156,611,066,615
28,117,567.811 478,160,940 33,903,838 28,629,038,589 2,187,659,000 - 2,187,650,000 93,524,567 30,910,813,156
111,346,545,252 354,234,723 3,371,244,060 115,072,621,035 - - - 8,488,106 115,080,509,141
34,455,990 7,584,160 49,158,113 91,198,269 138,566,550 124,178 138,690,777 8,062,595 237,951,641
- - - - - - - 11,607,391 11,607,291
- - - - - - - 2,303,786,657 2,303,786,657
- - - - - - - 1,378,693,089 1,378,693,089
3,132,500,600 - - 3,132,500,000 - - - - 3,132,500,000
142,631,069,053 §39,985,82% 3,454,303,011 146,915,357,893 2,326,216,599 124,178 2,326,340,777 3,804,162,405 153,055,861.075

(44,684,640,008)

26,097,364,483

4,158,801,984

{44,684,640,008)

(18,587,275,525)

{14,428,473,541)

1J4,184,288,130

1,353,632,037

(244,185,411}

1,109,446,626
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46 MARKET RISK (continued)

B.  INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)

Assets
Cash and patances with contral banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances 10 custowers and related pariies
[nvestments securities

Assers acquired in satisfaction of loans

Property, Plant and equipment

Righi-pf-use assets

Intangible asscts

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Deposits and borrawings from banlks and financial institutions
Customers and related parties accounts at aimortized cost
(Grther term borrowings

Lease lability

Gither liabilities

Provisions

Subordinated bonds

Total Habilities
Interest fate sensutivity gap

Cumulative gap

2023
Total more
Upto ! I3 3 months to Totul less than 13 Over 5 than Nown-interest
Rtk months ! year I year years Years I yeur bearing Total
LBPGOG LBPN0O LBPOOD LBPOON LBFPDIN LBPOON LBPODO LBPOO LBPOOG
19.024,157 474 - 73581000 19859907 474 2,490,987,000 10,955,600  2,501,942,000 -148,758,627  22213,150,847
434,113,383 170,236,543 A 604,349 926 - - 101,794,336 706,144,462
- - 106,539 106,539 225,040 6,300 231,340 81,463,556 83,801,435
261,225,069 1,924,630 80,684,565 343,834 264 10,639,070 29,250,000 39,889,070 486,922,357 870,645 621
1,500,109 389,491,716 173,425 672 564,417 497 1,613,392,601 225,664,480 1,839,057,08 384,015,688 2.987,490.206
- - - - - - - 2,585,12) 2585021
- - - - - - - 1,713,374 330 1713374330
. - . - 1,369,021 1,369,021
- - - - - - - 702,704 702,704
- - - - - - 104,163,441 104,063 44
19,820,996 035 361,052,889 990,026,776 21,372,673,700  4,115,243,711 265,875,780 4 381,119,49] 2,927,629,127 28581 424 31§
4,542,016,827 85,411,620 73,040,642 4,700,469,089 390,905,625 - 369,605,625 14,518,852 5,114,893,573
19,501,165,318 235,529,365 596,972,832 20,333,067,545 - - - 22,232,334 20,355,899,879
1,228,974 10,299,554 30,559,993 42,088,521 47,367,086 29,404,671 76,771,757 1,245 634 120,105,912
- - - B - - - 4,239,030 4239030
- - - - - - ~ 222,441,541 222,441,541
- - - - - - - 260,341,277 260,341,277
525,000,000 - 525,000,600 - - ~ 18,526,178 543,526,178
24,569,411,119 331,240,569 700,573,467 25,601,225,155 447,272,711 29,404,671 476,677,382 543,544 853 26,621.447.390
(4.748,415,084) 230412320 289,433,309 3,667,971,000 236,471,109
{(4,748,415,084)  (4.318,002,764}  (4,228,349,455) (560,578,435) (324,107 3406)
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46  MARKET RISK (continued)

C.  PREPAYMENT RISK
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or

request repayment eatlier than expected. This is applicable for example on fixed rate loans when market interest rates
fall.

In Lebanon and following the severe devaluation of the local currency in the parallel market and prevalence of multiple
exchange rates, prepayment activities on the lending portfolio have accelerated during the course of 2021. However in
view of the quasi-absence of any local interest rate benchmarks due to the crisis and given that the Bank in Lebanon
prioritizing the implementation of a de-risking strategy (with the aim of aileviating pressure on credit asset quality), the
Group considers the impact of prepayment risk resulting from these transactions to be benign.

Outside Lebanon, market risks that lead to prepayments are not material with respect to the markets where the Group
operates. Accordingly, the Group ceonsiders the impact of prepayment risk on net profits to be not material after
considering any penalty fees received on prepayment activities, when existing.

D.  EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a portfolic will fall as a result of a change in stock prices. Risk factors
underlying this type of market risk are a whole range of various equity (and index) prices corresponding to different
markets (and currencies/maturities) in which the Group holds equity-related positions.

Given the very low risk appetite of the Group for such type of risk exposure, the Group sets tight limits on equity
exposures and the types of equity instruments that traders are allowed to take positions in. Nevertheless, depending on
the complexity of financial instruments, equity risk 1s measured in first cash terns, such as the market value of a
stock/index position, and also in price sensitivities, such as sensitivity of the value of a portfolio to changes in the
underlying asset price. These measures are applied to an individual positior and/or to a portfolio of equities.

47  LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Group might be unable to meet its payment obligations when
they fali due under both normal and stress circurnstances.

The Group manages liquidity at the entity level independently while keeping oversight of intra-group dependencies,
when existing. The Group recognizes that its ability to meet its liquidity requirements, including international
commitments, may come under increasing pressure under a deteriorating operating environment. Following Cctober
2019 events, the Group’s international liquidity in Lebanon came under an unprecedented pressure, which led
Management to implement a series of remedial measures to mitigate this risk.

The following outlines the monitoring process that takes place at the entity level including some activities that are more
relevant to the Lebanese operations.

Monitoring Process

Daily

Due to the ongoing economic and financial crisis in Lebanon, Management focused its efforts on the monitoring of
international liquidity coverage relative to international commitments, including external account deposits.

To support this activity, the Treasury function monitors and reports daily and intra-day inflows and outflows for major
currencies and ensures that funding gaps are met.

Weekly
The Market Risk unit prepares a weekly report on the international liquid exposures showing the changes in the
position compared to previous period, in addition to the liquidity position for other major currencies.

Monthly
The Market Risk function submits a monthly ALM report to ALCO showing changes in the liquidity position including

future flows, as well as the coverage level relative to international commitments.
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47  LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

Monitoring Process (continued)
Quarterly
The Board of Directors is informed of compliance with internal and regulatory liquidity ratios for each barking unit on

at least a quarterly basis.

Periodic
The liquidity position is assessed under various scenarios, including simulation of Group-specific crisis and market-
wide crises. The stress scenarios are applied to both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet commitments to provide a

comprehensive picture of potential cash outflows.

Moreover, stress testing Is carried out annually for all material banking units of the Group as part of the I[CAAP
preparation and submission. Scenarios used in these stress tests vary between entities to reflect their local market
operating environments. Scenarios may include, among others, the following assumptions:

»  Significant withdrawals of foreign currency deposits.

+  Significant withdrawals of undrawn and committed credit lines.

«  Significant haircut on liquid assets.

«  Unavailability of wholesale {interbank} funding.

«  Significant reduction in assets that are eligible as coliateral in the refinancing operations.

Furthermore, the Group has put in place policies and measures for monitoring and managing liquidity risk. These include
setting up remedial actions to be taken in response to potential liquidity stress events. Among these policies is the Asset
Liability Management (ALM) Risk Policy which is reviewed by ALCO and submitted to the Board Risk Committee for

review.

Liquidity Ratios

The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors
relating to both the market in general, and specifically to the Group. In Lebanon and since October 2019 events, the
Group monitors on a regular basis the ratio of available international foreign currency liquidity to international

commitments over various time horizons.

The Central Bank of Lebanon, through its Basic Circular 154 dated 27 August 2020, issued various requirements
aiming at restoring the normal banking operations in Lebanon to their pre-October 2019 leveis. Among these
requirements, Lebanese banks were requested te maintain total current account balance with foreign correspondent
banks (international liquidity that is free of any obligation) in excess of 3% of the Group’s total foreign currency
deposits as at 31 July 2020 by 28 February 2021. On 24 December 2020, the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon
issued memo 18/2020 that contains guidance for the calculation of this ratio.

Sources of Funding
Customers’ deposits were the main funding source of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The distribution of

sources and the maturity of deposits are actively monitored in order to avoid high concentration of deposits by maturity
and size. The Group monitors the percentage of core deposits versus total deposits and aims to ensure that this
percentage is maintained at a high level.

The Group stresses the importance of customers’ deposits as seurce of funds to finance its lending activities. This 1s
monitored by using the advances to deposits ratio which compares loans and advances to customers as a percentage of

clients’ deposits.

LBP Foreign currencies

2024 2023 2024 2023

% %% % %

Year-end 4.64 14.23 2.62 4.19
Maximum 8.15 92.01 4.12 7.30
Minimum 4.64 14,23 2.62 4.19
Average 8.77 57.06 3.77 5.50
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LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as of 31 December based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows. The contractual maturities have been determined based on the period
remaining to reach maturity as per the statement of financial position actual commitments. Repayments which are
subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

The table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowing with banks and fimancial
institutions

Customers and related parties at amortized cost

Qther term borrowings

Lease liability

Other liabiliwy

Provisions

Subordinated bonds

Total financial liabilities

Financial labilities

Deposits and borrowing with banks and financial
nstitutions

Customers and related parties at amortized cost

Other term bhorrowings

Lease liability

Gther liability

Provisions

Subcrdinated bonds

Total financial liabilities

2024
Less than 1ol 31012 lw5 Over 5
1 month months months rears rears Toral
LBPOGYO LBPOOG LBPGOG LBPOGO LBPOGE LBPGOO
28,116,481,841 478,166,940 128,514,375 2,187,650,000 - 30910,813,156
111,354,512,077 354,234,723 3,371,762,341 - - 115,086,509,141
42,518,585 7,584,166 49,158,112 138,566,599 124,179 237,951,640
11,607,391 - . - - 11,607,391
2,303,786,657 - - - - 2,303,786,657
1,378,693,089 - - - - 1,378,693,089
3,132,500,008 - - - - 3,132,500,000
144,340,099,640 839,985,829 3,549,434,828  2,326,216,599 124,179 153,055,861,075
2023
Less than jewi 3w i2 fws Ovar §
} month months months years Jeors Toral
LBPOGN LBPaGH LBPOGO LBPOAD LBPOON LBPOAO
4,556,333,686 83,411,620 73,040,642 399905625 5,114,893,573
19,323,397 652 235,529,395 396,972,832 - - 20,335.899.879
2,474,608 10,299,554 30,559.993 47 367,086 29,404,671 120,105912
4,239,030 - - - - 4239030
222,441,541 - - - 222,441,541
260,341,277 - . - 200,341,277
325,000,000 - - 18,526,178 - 543,526,178
25,094 429,794 331,240,569 700,573,447 463,798 88% 25,404,671 26,621,447,390
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Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Assets

Cash and deposits with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances to customers and related parties
Investments securities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders” equity

Deposits and borrowing from banks and financial institutions

Customers and related parties accounts at amortized cost

Other term borrowings
Lease liability

Other liability
Provisions
Subordinated bonds

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Total less

than one year
LBPANO

118,893,533,239
4,013,853,927
440,483,967
2,913,455,140
9,200,082,546
30,349,450
2,970,942,836
885,362
15,059,431
370,061,698

Total more
than one year
LBPOOO

14,220,192,660

112,177,378
3,429,989,641

Toral
LBPOOG

133,113,725,239
4,013,853,927
440,483,967
3,025,632,518
12,630,072,187
30,349,450
2,970,942,836
885,362
15,059,431
370,061,698

138,848,707,596

17,762,359,019

156,611,066,615

28,723,163,156
115,080,509,141

2,187,650,000

138,090,777

30,910,813,156
115,080,509,141

99,260,864 237,951,641
11,607,391 - 11,607,391
2,303,7806,657 - 2,303,786,657
1,378,693,089 - 1,378,693,089
3,132,500,000 - 3,132,500,000
150,729,520,298 2,326,340,777  153,055,861,075
3,555,205,540 - 3,555,205,540
154,284,725,838 2,326,340,777  156,611,066,615
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Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2023 is as foilows:

Assets

Cash and deposits with central banks

Deposits with banks and financial jnstitutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances to customers and related parties
Investments securities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabulities and shareholders’ equity

Deposits and borrowing from banks and financiat
institutions

Customers and related parties accounts at amortized cost
Other term borrowings

Lease liability

Other liability

Provisions

Subordinated bonds

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Total less
than one year
LEPGOO

19,683,970,962
706,144,462
81,566,217
830,756,621
1,148,433,185
2,585,121
1,713,371,330
1,369,021
702,704
104,163,441

Total more
than one vear
LBPOOO

2,529,179,885
235,218
39,889,070
1,839,057,081

Total
LBPOOO

22,213,150,847
706,144,462
81,801,435
870,645,691
2,987,490,266
2,585,121
1,713,371,330
1,369,021
702,704
(04,163,441

24,273,063.,064

4,408.361,254

28,681,424,318

4,714,987,948

20,355,899,879
43,334,155
4,239,030
202,444,541
260,341,277
543,526,178

399,905,625
76,771,757

5,114,893,573

20,355,899,879
120,105,912
4,239,030
227,441,541
260,341,277
543,526,178

26,144, 770,008
2,058,976,928

476,677,382

26,621,447,390
2,059,076,928

28,204,746,936

476,677,382

28,681,424 318
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48 NON-FINANCIAL RISKS

Non-Financial Risks (including Operational, Information and Cyber Security, as well as Business Disruption
risks) are administered by an independent function reporting to the Group Chief Risk Officer.

Non-Financial risks are managed across the Group based on a set of principles and standards detailed in the
Board-approved Group Operational Risk Policy and the Corporate Information Security Policy. These principles
and standards inciude at a mimmum: redundancy of mission-critical systems, segregation of duties, least-
privilege principle, four-eye principle, independency of employees performing controls, reconciliations, and
establishment of second level confrols, mandatary vacations, awareness and training. Controls are also
embedded within systems and formalised in policies and procedures.

[ncidents are captured and analysed to identify their root causes. Based on this analysis, corrective and
preventive measures are recommended to prevent future reoccurrences. Furthermore, Risk and Control
Assessments (RCAs) are conducted to identify cutstanding risk exposures and control vulnerabilities associated
with existing or new products, processes, activities and systems. Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) are also developed
and monitored periodically to detect breaches and alarming trends. Recommendations to improve the control
environment are communicated to concerned parties and issues are escalated to Management as deemed

NECEessary.

Following October 2019 events, the Banic has been subject to an increased compliance risk pressure as a result
of the considerable number of regulatory circulars and memos issued since that date. These regulatory
requirements, in addition to changes in the operating environment, have necessitated rapid system
developments/updates and impiementation of new processes, which also required adequate training to
employees.

Teo ensure the continuity and timely resumption of critical busmess activities due to the potential risk of system
disruptions or other unforeseen events, the Bank has been continucusly maintaining a world-class business
continuity and disaster recovery site. A Business Continuity Plan (BCP) was also developed and is being kept
up-to-date to minimise the risk of imterruption of critical operations in case of an adverse event. Business
Continuity and Disaster Recovery rehearsals are also being conducted periodically to maintain a high
operational resilience.

The Group is also abreast of latest cybersecurity threats, countermeasures, technologies and tools, and is
continuously implementing technical and non-technical measures to strengthen its cyber resilience posture.
External expert support is sought when needed.

Major incidents, RCA findings, KRI levels, business continuity actions and, infermation and cybersecurity
activities are reported to the Executive Committee, Board Group Risk Committee, and Board of Directors

periodically.

Insurances coverage {(including cybercrime insurance) is used as an additional layer of mitigation and is
commensurate with the Group business activities, in terms of volume, nature and operating envirenment.

49 LITIGATION RISK

Since 17 October 2019, no litigations in Lebanon and abroad, as a result of the restrictive measures adopted by
Lebanese banks in relation 1o the withdrawal of funds and transfers abroad, as weil as in relation to the
repayment by customers of local foreign currency loans in Lebanese Pounds. There are still uncertainties related
to the conseguences of these restrictive measures, based on the current available information and the prevailing
faws and local banking practices. The amount cannot be determined presently. In addition, the Group may, from
time to time, become involved in other legal or arbitration proceedings which may affect its operations and
results. Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal claims against the Group (Note 43),

Complaints have also been filed by groups of individuals against “Lebanese banks” and the chairmen of their
board of directors for alleged committed crimes of tort and fraudulent bankruptcy, money laundering, fraud and
breach of trust, which resulted in different legal decisions and actions on several banks. With respect to Banque
BEMO SAL, no major complaints against the Bank, chairman and BOD members,
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50 POLITICAL RISK

External factors which are beyond the control of the Group, such as political developments and government actions in
Lebanon {Note 1) and other countries may adversely affect the operations of the Group, its strategy and prospects.
Other important political risk factors include govemment intervention on the Group’s activities and social
developments in the countries in which the Group operates, political developments in Lebanon, and political or social
unrest or military conflict in neighbouring countries and/or other overseas areas. Given the above, the Group
recognises that unforeseen political events can have negative effects on the fulfilment of contractual relationships and
obligations of its customers and other counterparties which will result in significant irnpact on Group’s activities,

operating results and position.
51 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the
Central Bank of Lebanon, which is the lead supervisor of the Group.

Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate Circular 567, issued on 26 August 2020, Intermediate Circular 649, issued on
24 November 2022, [ntermediate Circular 659, issued on 21 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 683, issued on 28
December 2023, and Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 introduced several key changes to the
calcutation of regulatory capital adequacy ratios. These changes include:

» Raising the regulatory expected credit loss level for Lebanese government securities in foreign currency and
Lebanese government-related exposures in same currency from 9.45% to 45% initially and then again to 75%
{(the latter level to be reached by 31 December 2026). Regulatory ECL for other exposures remau unchanged.
These levels remained applicable in 2023.

Type of finuncial instrument 2024 2023
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currency 1.89% 1.89%
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in Lebanese Pounds 0% 0%
Lebanese government securities in foreign currency 75% 75%
Lebanese government securities in Lebanese Pounds 0% 0%

The Group recorded expected credit losses on Lebanese govermment securiiies mn foreign currency equivalent to a
loss rate of 75% (2023: 67%) retative to a loss rate of 75% by 31 December 2026.

» Requesting banks to increase their own funds (capital} by an amount equivalent to 20% of their Common Equity
Tier 1 capital as of 31 December 20/ 8, through issuing new foreign currency capital instruments, as well as other
approaches that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital. The deadline for raising capital was initially
set at 31 December 2020, but was later extended for the banking sector to 28 February 2021. The Central Bank of
Lebanon’s Central Council may exceptionally approve a bank’s completion of 50% of the 20% required capital
increase through the transfer of real estate assets owned by the shareholders to the concerned bank. Howewer,
these real estate assets must be liquidated during a 5-year period following regulatory approval date on this
transaction.

»  As aresult of the change in regulation and the change in the official published exchange rate from LBP 15,060 to
the US Dollar to LBP 89,500 to the US Dollar, Common Equity Tier | ncreased by LBP 333,765 million as at
31 December 2024 compared to 31 December 2023.

#  Exceptiovally during 2023 and 2024, allowing banks to draw down the 2.5% capital conservation buffer on
condition of rebuilding it based on future instructions by the Central Bank of Lebanon,
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

Exceptionally for 2020 and 2021, allowing banks to include provisions for expected credit losses on Stage | and
2 exposures, excluding those relating to Lebanese sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebanon, under regulatory
Common Equity Tier 1 (previously only stage f allowances were included in Tier 2 capital, subject to a 1.25%
cap relative to credit risk-weighted assets). Such provisions included under CET 1 should be amortised over a
period of 3 years starting 2022 and ending in 2024 by 25% yearly. Amounts included as at 31 December 2024
were LBP6835,400 million {2023: LBP 7,991 miliion). The net increase resulted from appropriation of provision
despite an increase from the published official exchange rate from LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar to LBF 89,500 to

the TUS Dwollar.

Exceptionalty during 2023 and 2024, zllowing banks to draw down the 2.5% capital conservaticn buffer on
condition of rebuilding it based on future instructions by the Central Bank of Lebanon.

Prohibiting banks from distributing dividends if capital adequacy ratios drop below 7% for Common Equity Tier
1, [0% for Tier 1 and 12% for total capital (compared to the regulatory minimum iimits of 7%, 8.5% and 10.5%
respectively, including a 2.5% capital conservation buffer).

Exceptionally for 2022 and 2023, allowing banks to include under CET 1 part of the losses resulting from the
purchase of lecal dollars from the Central Bank of Lebanon against Lebanese Pound for the purpose of reducing
open net FX short positions prior to 17 November 2022. In 2022, 66% of these losses can be included under CET
!, while in 2023, a maximum of 33% level applies. Amounts included as at 31 December 2023 under CET | were

LBP 4,275 million.

The following table shows the applicable regulatory capital ratios:

Common Tier | Tier 1 Total
Capital Ratio  Capital Ratio Capital Ratio
31 December 2024
Minimum required capital ratios {including 0.75%
applicable capital conservation buffer) 4.50% 6.00% 8.00%
With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5%
(applicable in 2024) 6.25% 7.75% 9.75%
31 December 2023
Minimum required capital ratios (including 0.75%
applicable capital conservation bufter) 4.50% 6.00% 5.00%
With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5%
(applicable in 2024) 6.25% 7.75% 9.75%
2024 2023
LBPOOY LBPOGO
Risk-weighted assets:
Credit risk 106,325,234,000  20,13(,414,000
Market risk 6,795,562,030 579,748,000
Operational risk 3,964,112,900 859,301,000

Total risk-weighted assets

117,084,908,930

21,570,463,000

The regulatory capital including net loss for the year as of 31 December is as follows:

Tier | capital
Of which: common Tier |
Tier 2 capital

Total capital

2024 2023
LBPOOO LBPOOO
629,891,000 373,822,000
536,087,000 280,018,000
1,329,065,000 356,633,000
1,958,956,000 730,455,000
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The capital adequacy ratic including net loss for the year as of 31 December is as follows:

2024 2023
Capital adequacy — Commonp Tier 1 0.46% 1.30%
Capital adequacy — Tier 1 0.54% 1.73%
Capital adequacy — Total capital 1.67% 3.39%

The capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2024 were calculated based on the recorded figures and do
not take into consideration the adjustments that may result from the resolution of the uncertainties reflected in Note 1.
Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the lack of observable reliable indicators, the high gap between the currency
parallel market rates, the Sayrafa rate and the official published exchange rate, and the lack of visibility on the
govermnment’s plans with respect to: (a) the high exposures of Lebanese banks with the Central Bank of Lebanon, (b)
the Lebansse sovereign securities, and (c) the currency exchange mechanisms and currency exchange rates that will
be applied, Management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the impact of these matters on the Group’s
capital adequacy. Management has concerns about the effects that the above matters will have on the capital of the
Group and the recapitalisation needs that may arise once the necessary adjustments are determined and recorded, in
particular as a first step, the needs and implications that might result from the accounting for the subsequent change in
the official published exchange rate.

52 CORRECTION OF ERRORS AND OTHER RESTATEMENTS

Management has adjusted its financial statements retrospectively by restating prior year balances as per the
requirements of “IAS § — Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” to record iand and
building at fair value which was determined using the market comparable method. The valuations have been
performed by BDL expert. As at the date of revaluation, the properties’ fair value is based on valuation carried out by
BDL expert accredited by the local regulator (BDL), approved by BDL on 13 February 2025 (matters subject to
modification of the auditors’ report on the financial statements of the previous year). Accordingly, the respective
adjustments have been performed.

The effects of these corrections on the financial statements are presented below.

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023

As previously reported As restated
31122023 Restatement 34122023
LBPGOG LBPOOO LBPOOO
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 85,43525] 1,627,936,079 1,713,371,330
EQUITY
Revaluation reserve 16,914,064 1,627,936,079 [,644,850,143






